
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages.

Children and Young People Select Committee
Agenda

Tuesday, 20 October 2015
7.30 pm,
Committee Room 1 - Civic Suite
Civic Suite
Lewisham Town Hall
London SE6 4RU

For more information contact:  Katie Wood (Tel: 020 8314 9446)

This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio recorded 
and/or filmed.

Part 1

Item Pages

1.  Minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2015 1 - 8

2.  Declarations of interest 9 - 12

3.  Presentation from Steve Besley 14-19 Strategy
PowerPoint presentation to the Committee.

4.  Independent Advice and Guidance (IAG) in schools - scoping paper 
for in-depth review

13 - 26

5.  SEND Reforms/ Preparing for adulthood 27 - 40

6.  Schools Traded Services (Service Level Agreements) 41 - 50

7.  Public Health Annual Report 51 - 144

8.  Select Committee work programme 145 - 164

9.  Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet



Children and Young People Select Committee
Members

Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Tuesday, 20 October 2015.  

Barry Quirk, Chief Executive
Thursday, 8 October 2015

Councillor Hilary Moore (Chair)
Councillor Luke Sorba (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Chris Barnham
Councillor Andre Bourne
Councillor David Britton
Councillor Liz Johnston-Franklin
Councillor Jacq Paschoud
Councillor John Paschoud
Councillor Jonathan Slater
Councillor Alan Till
Sharon Archibald (Parent Governor 
Representative)
Mark Saunders (Parent Governor 
Representative)
Gail Exon Church Governor Representative
Monsignor N Rothon Church Governor Representative
Councillor Alan Hall (ex-Officio)
Councillor Gareth Siddorn (ex-Officio)



MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE SELECT COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 8 September 2015 at 7.30 pm

PRESENT:  Councillors Hilary Moore (Chair), Luke Sorba (Vice-Chair), Chris Barnham, 
Andre Bourne, Liz Johnston-Franklin, Jacq Paschoud, John Paschoud, Jonathan Slater, 
Alan Till, Sharon Archibald (Parent Governor Representative), Mark Saunders (Parent 
Governor Representative), Gail Exon (Church of England Southwark Diocesan Board of 
Education) and Monsignor N Rothon (Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Southwark 
Commission for Schools and Colleges) 

APOLOGIES: Councillors David Britton and Lisa Palin

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Paul Maslin (Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People), Chris Ashton (Interim Head of Service, Standards and Achievement), David 
Austin (Head of Corporate Resources), Katy Brown (Advisor to the Young Mayor), Alan 
Docksey (Head of Resources & Performance, CYP), Tyreese Hines (Young Advisor), 
Liam Islam (Young Mayor of Lewisham), Alastair Pettigrew (Interim Director, Childrens 
Social Care), Sara Williams (Executive Director, Children and Young People) and Katie 
Wood (Scrutiny Manager)

1. Minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2015

1.1 RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on the 23 June be agreed subject to 
the following amendments:

Monsignor Nick Rothon be recorded as being present.

Gail Exon be recorded as having sent apologies for absence.

2. Declarations of interest

2.1 Councillor Jacq Paschoud declared a personal interest in item 3 as she was 
a member of Lewisham Contact a Family and she was Chair of Lewisham 
Parents Forum.

2.2 Councillor John Paschoud declared a personal interest in item 3 as he was 
a member of Lewisham Contact a Family and Lewisham Parents Forum. 

3. Savings Report

3.1 David Austin, Head of Corporate Resources introduced the savings report 
to the committee and explained that the report continued the work from the 
last financial year and could be looked at in the context of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. The following points were noted:



2

 Pending the Comprehensive Spending Review in November and the 
Local Government Financial Statement in December 2015, there 
was uncertainty as to the full amount needed for savings up to 2020. 

 There was a minimum of £45 million of savings which would be 
needed over the next two financial years. The current report put 
forward £12 million of new savings for 2016/17 and a further £14 
million of new savings for 2017/18.

 The Council had already made £120 million savings from 2010 up to 
2015.

 Any referrals made by the Children and Young People Select 
Committee would go to Public Accounts Select Committee on the 29 
September and then to Mayor and Cabinet on the 30 September 
2015. 

3.2 Sara Williams, Executive Director for Children and Young People, Alan 
Docksey, Head of Resources and Performance, and Alastair Pettigrew, 
Interim Director, Children’s Social Care were also in attendance to provide 
additional clarifications on specific budget proposals.

3.5 In the discussion the following key points were raised relating to the budget 
process.

 The savings proposals had been categorised thematically under the 
broad themes of the six Select Committees. However all select 
committees had been provided with all the savings proposals so 
could comment on any proposal if it felt it was relevant to its 
committee. 

 There was a predicted £20 million shortfall which would be a 
challenge to meet. It was possible that the option of using reserves 
to meet some of this shortfall could be used to help smooth the 
transition.

3.6 Sara Williams addressed the committee on the savings proposals listed in 
sections J and Q.

 The savings in section J were a combination of introducing additional 
charges for schools such as through the Service Level Agreements 
(SLAs) and charging for services previously provided in addition to 
the core statutory services.

 The reduction in funding to the Educational Psychologist Team 
represented removal of vacant posts and the service would be able 
to recruit to an additional trainee role.

 There would be additional charges for estate management and 
efficiency savings in the Standards and Achievements Team.

 The savings in section Q included a reduction in the budget for 
equipment for sensory teachers. This would now be charged directly 
to the Designated Schools Grant in line with other local authorities.



3

 The reorganisation in management in occupational therapy would 
make the team more efficient to avoid potential overlap with the 
occupational therapy service within the Health Service.

 The reductions in Q4 would involve improved management of 
placement costs, reducing the numbers of residential care and 
increasing the use of local authority foster placements where 
possible.

3.7 In the discussion that followed, the following key points were raised:

 With respect to the managing and improving of transition plans (A11) 
additional clarification outlining the localised options and the full 
details of how the savings would be achieved would help to inform 
any decision on savings in this area.

 Ceasing the free swimming programme and the cycling in schools 
programme as listed in saving proposal A16 could go against the aim 
of tackling childhood obesity. Further information on the uptake of 
the schemes and the costs would help to understand the effect of 
reducing spending in this area. 

 The additional proposed charges to schools as outlined in I9e and 
section J of the savings report would be discussed at the Schools 
Forum meeting in October. Minutes of this meeting could be sent 
round to CYP Select Committee members as soon as they were 
available. 

 The Changes to charging outlined in J2b would bring Lewisham in 
line with other Local Authorities where there are charges to schools 
for additional services.

 Lewisham’s Passenger Transport Services had a significant 
overspend of £700,000 in the 2014/15 financial year. The proposals 
listed in N5 were to reduce the costs per journey and not to change 
the eligibility criteria in order to reduce number of service users.

 The reduction in carers funding (Q3e) needed further clarification. 
The “Contact a Family” scheme was highly valued by families and 
clarification and additional details on the savings reduction including 
assurances that it would not be replicating unsuccessful models that 
had been previously trialled was sought.

 With respect to saving proposal Q3e, The Dedicated Schools Grant 
was being reviewed constantly in the light of changing legislation to 
assess what would be permissible and the current Lewisham 
situation. 

 It would be helpful to have additional details of the risk matrix and 
risk analysis methods to help with scrutiny of the savings proposals.

 Concerns were raised over the complexities of foster arrangements 
for very challenging placements and that the savings outlined in Q4c 
may not be deliverable.  

 Following concerns raised regarding the Youth Service mutual (Q5), 
the committee were informed that the report due in November to 
CYP Select Committee would include considerations of options.   



4

3.7 RESOLVED:

That the following comments on the savings proposals be referred to the 
Public Accounts Select Committee for consideration. 

A11: Managing and Improving Transition Plans.

The Committee raised concerns about the ability for the Council to increase 
the number of localised options for young people with complex needs and 
requested further clarification on the localised options being proposed, and 
further details of exactly how the savings would be achieved, and the 
timescale to be provided before a decision is taken on this proposal. 

A16: Public Health (Obesity and Physical Activity)

The Committee highlighted that reductions in Council spending in this area 
could have a negative impact on the health of young people and increase 
the risk of childhood obesity. The Committee was concerned regarding the 
proposal to cease the free swimming programme for under 16s and adults 
over 60 and to cease the cycling in schools programme. The Committee 
requested further information on the current uptake of the schemes and the 
costings and savings predicted, before a decision be taken on this proposal.

I9e: Realign Schools HR Recharge

The Committee requested additional information on the exact nature of the 
proposal to charge schools for HR functions such as recruitment, 
occupational health, policy advice and DBS clearance. After hearing that 
the proposal around charging for HR functions would be considered by the 
Schools Forum in October, the Committee requested that the minutes from 
the Schools Forum meeting in which these matters would be discussed be 
circulated to members of the Children and Young People Select Committee 
at the earliest possible stage.

J2a: Schools Service Level Agreement

The Committee requested that copies of the minutes of the meeting of the 
Schools Forum where the proposed 2.5% increase in the cost to schools 
would be considered, be circulated to the Children and Young People 
Select Committee as soon as they were available.

J2b: Schools Attendance and Welfare

The committee had concerns regarding the impact this proposal would have 
on schools and felt additional information on this was needed, particularly 
with respect to Primary Schools which they felt may have less capacity to 
manage these changes. The Committee raised concerns that the impact 
could be greater than predicted and requested assurances that the impact 
predictions had been fully researched, to be received before a decision on 
this proposal be taken.



5

N5: Review of Lewisham’s Passenger Transport Service

The Committee was reassured that there would be no changes to the 
eligibility criteria as a result of the proposed savings but requested further 
information to ensure that the proposals were realistic given the current 
deficit of £700,000 in that service area, to be received before a decision on 
this proposal be taken.

Q3a&b: Sensory Teachers

The Committee requested additional information on how these savings 
would be achieved and any potential negative effects on students as a 
result of passing on costs to the Dedicated Schools Grant, to be received 
before a decision on this proposal be taken.

Q3c: Educational Psychologists

The Committee had concerns regarding the reduction in staffing and 
requested additional information on the proposal and impact, to be received 
before a decision on this proposal be taken.

Q3e: Reducing Carers Funding

The Committee requested further clarification on the savings proposal and 
highlighted the importance of the Contact a Family scheme. The Committee 
requested assurance be given, that this proposal was not replicating a 
previously trialled programme, before a decision on this proposal be taken.

Q5: Youth Service

The committee requested more detail on the proposed changes to services 
and the potential impact on young people as well as additional detail on 
other alternative options considered

4. Lewisham Safeguarding Children's Board

4.1 Alastair Pettigrew presented the report to committee noting that the 
Committee Chair and report author, Chris Doorly was unable to attend and 
sent her apologies. In his presentation the following key points were 
highlighted:

 The remit of the Lewisham Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) 
was set out in the Children Act 2004 with the principal function being 
to coordinate what is done by each person or body represented on 
the Board for the purpose of safeguarding and promoting the welfare 
of children in the area and to ensure the effectiveness of what is 
done for those purposes. 

 The board provides an independent opinion of services and 
highlights and audits performance. In addition to this their remit 
includes: examining serious case reviews including every death of a 
child.



6

 The budget for the LSCB had more than doubled in the last year 
reflecting the importance of the work undertaken.

 The LSCB had established a Child Sexual Exploitation task group 
and were working in collaboration with the Met Police.

 National measures for lengths of foster placements included 
“Number of children who have 3 or more placements in one year 
should be less than 16%. The current Lewisham figure is 9.5%.

4.3 Standing Orders were suspended at 9.45pm

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

5. All Schools Results

5.1 Chris Ashton, Interim Head of Standards and Achievements and Sara 
Williams gave a presentation to the committee which was handed round to 
committee members, a copy of which will be interleaved with the agenda. 
During the presentation and discussion the following key points were 
highlighted:

 The results at Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) were continuing 
to improve with Lewisham being in the top 5% of local authorities 
nationally. 

 The results for Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 (KS1) and (KS2) had 
also improved since 2013.

 At Key Stage 4 (KS4) the percentage of those gaining 5 A*-C was 
similar to 2014 but likely to be below London and National Average.  

 At Key Stage 5 (KS5) there had been an improvement in numbers of 
grades A* - C.

 Full details of the results with comparisons with National and London 
averages could be brought to committee once these figures were 
available.

 The figures for Looked After Children and those on Pupil Premium 
were currently not available as a separate statistic but these could be 
provided with the full statistical report. 

 Improving secondary schools and results at KS4 and KS5 was a key 
priority for the Council. This was being looked at in a broad context 
including: consulting with schools on ways of working; looking at best 
practice; managing the transition to year 7 successfully; improving 
behaviour and attendance.

RESOLVED: That

1. The report be noted.

2. The full 2014/15 Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 results be brought back to 
the committee as part of the 2015/16 work programme.



7

3. A report outlining best practice in secondary schools be added to the select 
committee work programme for the 2015/16 municipal year. 

 

6. Key Issues Update Report

6.1 RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

7. Select Committee work programme

7.1 Cllr Hilary Moore, Chair of the Children and Young People Select 
Committee, introduced the item and explained that following a meeting with 
the young advisors, she was proposing that the committee undertake an in-
depth review into Independent Advice and Guidance (IAG) in schools. This 
topic had been a key concern for many of the young advisors and Cllr 
Moore proposed that the review be carried out in such a way as to ensure 
the continued involvement of some of the young people.

7.2 Cllr Moore introduced Liam Islam, Young Mayor of Lewisham and Tyreese 
Hines, Young Advisor, to the committee. Liam and Tyreese addressed the 
committee and stated that they felt there were disparities between schools 
in post-16 guidance. Some schools and individuals had significantly more 
support than others. Moving on to post 16 and post 18 education, training or 
employment could be a stressful time for young people and not having the 
right support was adding additional pressures.

7.3 Katie Wood, Scrutiny Manager introduced the remaining items on the work 
programme asking for members to specify whether they required any 
additional detail or analysis for items scheduled for the next meeting, or had 
any other requested additions to the work programme. 

7.2 RESOLVED: That

 Liam Islam be congratulated and thanked for all his work as Young 
Mayor of Lewisham over the previous year.

 The committee undertake an in-depth review into Independent 
Advice and Guidance in Schools.

 The full KS4 and KS5 results be reported back to the committee as 
part of the Secondary schools Improvement Monitoring report 
scheduled for March 2016.

 A report on best practice in secondary schools be scheduled as part 
of the 2015/16 work programme for the Children and Young People 
Select Committee.



8

8. Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet

8.1 There were no referrals to Mayor and Cabinet. However there were 
referrals to the Public Accounts Select committee on item 3 as listed in the 
resolved section under item 3.

The meeting ended at 10.45 pm

Chair: 
----------------------------------------------------

Date:
----------------------------------------------------



Committee Children and Young People Select Committee Item No. 2

Title Declarations of Interest

Wards

Contributors Chief Executive 

Class Part 1 Date 20 October 2015 

Declaration of interests

Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda.

1 Personal interests

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code 
of Conduct :- 

(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests
(2)  Other registerable interests
(3)  Non-registerable interests

2 Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:-

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or gain

(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than by the 
Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the register in 
respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member or towards 
your election expenses (including payment or financial benefit  from a Trade Union).

(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they are a 
partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which 
they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, services or works.

(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough.

(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more.

(f)  Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the Council 
is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a partner, a body 
corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which they have a 
beneficial interest.  

(g)  Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:-

(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the 
borough; and 



(b) either
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person* 
has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share capital of 
that class.

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner. 

(3) Other registerable interests

The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:-

(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 
were appointed or nominated by the Council

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes , or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25

(4) Non registerable interests

Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to 
affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it 
would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not 
required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests  (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends). 

(5) Declaration and Impact of interest on member’s participation

(a) Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity  and in any event 
before the matter is considered.  The declaration will be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest the 
member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw from 
the room before it is considered.  They must not seek improperly to influence 
the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest which has not 
already been entered in the Register of Members’ Interests, or 
participation where such an interest exists, is liable to prosecution and 
on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000 

(b) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the 



meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is 
considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in consideration of the 
matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below applies.

(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member 
of the public in possession of the facts would think that their interest is so 
significant that it would be likely to impair the member’s judgement of the 
public interest.  If so, the member must withdraw  and take no part in 
consideration of the matter nor seek to influence the outcome improperly.

(d) If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member, 
their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the 
local area generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of 
interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable interest.  

(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal 
judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer.

(6)  Sensitive information 

There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests.  These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be 
registered.  Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance.

 
(7) Exempt categories

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so.  
These include:-

(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 
relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception)

(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 
or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the 
matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are 
a governor; 

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members 
(e) Ceremonial honours for members
(f)  Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception)





 Children and Young People Select Committee

Title Independent Advice and Guidance in 
Secondary Schools: Scoping Paper

Item No 4

Contributors Scrutiny Manager

Class Part 1 Date 20 October 2015

1. Purpose of paper 

1.1 As part of its work programme the Committee has agreed to undertake an in-
depth review into independent advice and guidance (IAG) in secondary 
schools including special schools, Pupil Referral Units and post 16 and 
alternative education providers for children and young people in years 8 - 13. 

1.2 This paper sets out the rationale for the review, provides some background 
information on the work that has already been carried out in relation to this 
topic within Lewisham and sets out proposed terms of reference for 
discussion and agreement by the Committee.

1.3 The in-depth review process is outlined at Appendix A.

2. Recommendations  

The Select Committee is asked to:
 

 note the content of the report
 consider and agree the proposed key lines of enquiry for the review, 

outlined in section 7 and the timetable, outlined in section 8.

3. Policy context 

3.1 The Council’s overarching vision is “Together we will make Lewisham the best 
place in London to live, work and learn”. In addition to this, ten corporate 
priorities and the overarching Sustainable Community Strategy drive decision 
making in the Council. Lewisham’s corporate priorities were agreed by full 
Council and they remain the principal mechanism through which the Council’s 
performance is reported.

3.2 The Council’s corporate policy of “Young people’s achievement and 
involvement” promotes raising educational attainment and improving facilities 
for young people through working in partnership. The priority of “strengthening 
the local economy” includes a focus on strengthening employment skills. The 
Council’s Sustainable Community Strategy’s priority of “Ambitious and 
Achieving” aims to create a borough where people are inspired and supported 
to achieve their potential.



3.3 The Education Act 20111 requires schools to secure access to independent 
careers guidance for learners in years 8-13. Careers guidance must be 
presented in an impartial manner and promote the best interests of the 
learners to whom it is give. According to Department for Education2, young 
people who are uncertain or unrealistic about career ambitions are three times 
more likely to spend significant periods of time not in education, employment 
or training (NEET). Providing improved careers services ensures young 
people select pathways that are most suitable for their individual 
circumstances, aspirations and potential.

3.4 Destination measures for those in Year 11,12 and 13 are published by the 
Department for Education quarterly. Having a low number of NEET young 
people can be used as one measure of a successful IAG strategy. 
Understanding the Lewisham NEET figures including those amongst 
vulnerable young people such as Looked After Children, Care Leavers and 
those with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities can help form a more 
thorough assessment as to whether there are any gaps or discrepancies in 
IAG provision to young people. Full analysis of destinations statistics could 
also help to assess provision including university destinations and training 
courses and employment. 

3.5 The changes as a result of Raising the Participation Age, introduced in 
September 2013, mean that all young people have been under a duty to 
participate in education or training until the end of the academic year in which 
they turn 17 years old. From this year (September 2015) this rises to the year 
in which they turn 18. It is vitally important that these young people have the 
right advice to help them secure their future employment, training and 
education prospects.

4. Lewisham Career Guidance Peer Review 2015 -16

4.1 A Lewisham Careers Guidance Peer Review 2015-16 (attached as Appendix 
B) is currently being undertaken by the 14-19 Strategy Team in the Children 
and Young People Directorate in partnership with the Lewisham IAG Forum3. 
It is being undertaken to support senior leaders, managers and governors in 
schools and colleges to meet their statutory duty to secure careers advice for 
all those in years 8 -13. 

4.2 The peer review will help monitor and support schools in delivering their IAG 
strategy and promote and highlight good practice. Full information on this 
review, including the work being undertaken and the review’s priorities, aims 
and objectives will be presented to the committee as part of their first 
evidence session in November. 

1 See: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/21/pdfs/ukpga_20110021_en.pdf
2See:https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/440795/Careers_Guidance_Schools_Guida
nce.pdf
3 The Lewisham Schools and Colleges IAG Forum is open to representatives working with schools, colleges or other relevant 
agencies in Lewisham with responsibility for Careers Education and IAG. It has been established since 2010.  The Forum 
meets periodically and run an annual Conference to share policy and good practice.

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/21/pdfs/ukpga_20110021_en.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/440795/Careers_Guidance_Schools_Guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/440795/Careers_Guidance_Schools_Guidance.pdf


4.3 The Local Authority continues to support and monitor schools to deliver their 
statutory duty and still retains the duty to support vulnerable young people 
including Looked After Children, Care Leavers, Refugees, Asylum Seekers, 
Youth Offenders, Teenage Pregnant and Teenage Parent Learners with 
Learning Disabilities and/or Disabilities (LLDD).4

5. Working in collaboration with Young Advisors

5.1 This scrutiny review by the Children and Young People Select Committee will 
aim to work in a way that takes into account the views of, and works in 
collaboration with representatives from, the Young Advisors panel at every 
stage of the review process.

5.2 Being a matter of such importance to young people and where the service 
users are entirely made up of young people in years 8 -13; using the expertise 
of the Young Advisors will help ensure that the review is pertinent, 
representative and can reach sensible conclusions that will improve the 
outcome for these young people. The review will draw on their experiences 
and expertise and ability to engage with their peers. Following discussions 
with the Young Advisors, The current Young Mayor and another Young 
Advisor have been selected to be involved in the whole review process 
including commenting on evidence and suggesting lines of enquiry. 

6. Meeting the criteria for a review

6.1 A review into Information and Guidance in schools meets the criteria for 
carrying out a scrutiny review, because:  

 it is a strategic and significant issue
 scrutiny can add value in this area
 a scrutiny review would be timely as it could link into the current 

Lewisham Career Guidance Peer Review (as outlined in section 4).

7. Key lines of enquiry (KLOE) 

7.1 It is suggested that the review covers the following key lines of enquiry:

7.2 Analysis of legislation and statutory duties
 What is the legal framework for the provision of IAG?

7.3 Assessment of Current situation in Lewisham including examples of 
best practice and work of the peer review 
 What is the purpose and aims of the peer review?
 What is the NEET strategy and how does the IAG strategy work with this?
 What is available for the most vulnerable young people? How are they 

being supported and is the service they are getting tailored to their needs?

4See:https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/349300/Participation_of_Yo
ung_People_Statutory_Guidance.pdf

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/349300/Participation_of_Young_People_Statutory_Guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/349300/Participation_of_Young_People_Statutory_Guidance.pdf


 How does the Council’s apprenticeship and work experience programmes 
support the IAG strategy?

 What does an analysis of destinations and NEET data tell us that can help 
improve outcomes for young people?

 Are there any funding constraints and how do we ensure value for 
money?

7.4 Working closely with young advisors to carry out focus groups
 How do we ensure that the experiences of young people in the borough 

are drawn upon to help shape best practice and support offered?
 What are the disparities between service provided at different schools or 

to those with different needs?

7.5 Good practice and experience from partner organisations and young 
people
 What are the best schools/local authorities doing in this area?
 Are there examples of innovative ways of working?
 What are the concerns of stakeholders and partner organisations?
 Are there specific issues for vulnerable young people that are not being 

addressed?
 Where are there examples from schools, colleges, educational 

establishments or Local Authorities where the IAG strategy is successful 
and working well and what can we learn from those?

 What additional resources are available to IAG providers to help them 
improve their offer?

8. Timetable 

8.1 The Committee is asked to consider the outline timetable for the review set 
out below. It is suggested that two evidence sessions are held, one focussing 
on the work being carried out in Lewisham including the peer review; and one 
focussing on good practice elsewhere and detailed information and evidence 
from stakeholders on challenges of ensuring that any strategy works 
successfully for all young people including the most vulnerable. In addition to 
this there would be visits/focus groups to a number of schools within the 
borough, working closely with the Young Advisors and the 14-19 Strategy 
team. 

First evidence-taking session (18 November 2015) 
To address the KLOE outlined in paragraphs 7.2 and 7.3.
What is Lewisham doing and how effective is this?
1. Receiving a written report from officers providing information on the 

following:
 The statutory basis for the provision of IAG, including the Education Act 

2011 provisions
 The role of Schools/Governing bodies/Local Authorities
 The additional support available to vulnerable young people 
 The Lewisham IAG, Employability and Skills Framework
 The Lewisham Careers Guidance Peer Review



 The Lewisham NEET tracking team, including an analysis of NEET and 
destination statistics

 The Lewisham Apprenticeship programme.
2. Questioning officers on the report.

Interim visits/focus groups (November 2015 – January 2016) 
To address the KLOE outlined at paragraph 7.4 and 7.5.
 Working with the 14-19 Team and Young Advisors to carry out visits to / 

focus groups with, young people in Lewisham schools, PRUs and 
alternative education providers.

Second evidence-taking session (12 January 2016)
Best Practice and evidence
To address the KLOE outlined at paragraph 7.5.
1. Receiving verbal and written evidence from organisations such as: 

London Councils Young Peoples Education and Skills Board; Lewisham 
Virtual Headteacher; National Careers Services; Job Centre Plus; 
Lewisham IAG Forum; Cegnet; Youth Aid. 

2. Considering good practice and experience from partner organisations as 
outlined in section 7.5.

Recommendations and final report (March 2016)
 Considering a final report presenting all the evidence taken and agreeing 

recommendations for submission to Mayor & Cabinet.

9. Further implications

9.1 At this stage there are no specific financial, legal, environmental or equalities 
implications to consider. However, each will be addressed as part of the 
review. 



Background Papers

Careers Guidance and Inspiration in schools, Department of Education, March 2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/44079
5/Careers_Guidance_Schools_Guidance.pdf

London Ambitions: Shaping a successful careers offer to all young Londoners 
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/londonambitionscareers

Education Act (2011) http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/21/contents/enacted

Participation of Young People in education, employment or training; Statutory 
Guidance for Local Authorities (Department of Education September 2014)
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/34930
0/Participation_of_Young_People_Statutory_Guidance.pdf

http://www.cegnet.co.uk/

https://www.youthconnexions-hertfordshire.org/careers/

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/participation-in-education-training-and-
employment-age-16-to-18--2

For further information please contact Katie Wood, Scrutiny Manager on 020 8314 
9446 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/440795/Careers_Guidance_Schools_Guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/440795/Careers_Guidance_Schools_Guidance.pdf
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/londonambitionscareers
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/21/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/349300/Participation_of_Young_People_Statutory_Guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/349300/Participation_of_Young_People_Statutory_Guidance.pdf
http://www.cegnet.co.uk/
https://www.youthconnexions-hertfordshire.org/careers/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/participation-in-education-training-and-employment-age-16-to-18--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/participation-in-education-training-and-employment-age-16-to-18--2


Appendix A





APPENDIX B

Lewisham Careers Guidance 
Peer Review 2015-16

Purpose
To support senior leaders, managers and governors in schools and colleges to meet their statutory duty 
to secure independent careers guidance for all year 8-13 learners.  The guidance is intended to expand 
advice and guidance for young people so they are inspired and motivated to fulfil their potential. Schools 
should help every learner develop high aspirations and consider a broad and ambitious range of careers. 
Inspiring every learner through more real-life contacts with the world of work can help them understand 
where different choices can take them in the future. 

Schools should have a strategy for the careers guidance they provide to young people. The strategy 
should be embedded within a clear framework linked to outcomes for learners. This should reflect the 
school’s ethos and meet the needs of all learners. Schools should consider the following principles for 
good practice when developing their strategy: 

In Lewisham, the Local Authority will continue to support and monitor schools and colleges to deliver this 
duty and still retains the duty to support vulnerable young people which includes Looked after Children, 
Care Leavers, Teenage Pregnant, Teenage Parent, Refugee / Asylum seekers, Youth Offenders, LLDD, 
Substance Misuse and Young Carers.

This role will become increasing important in relation to the duties of the Raising the Participation Age.  
Ofsted has been giving careers guidance a higher priority in school inspections since September 
2013, taking into account how well the school delivers advice and guidance to all learners in judging 
its leadership and management. 

Context
The Education Act 2011requires schools to secure access to independent careers guidance for 
learners in years 8-13. 
Careers guidance must be presented in an impartial manner and promote the best interests of the 
learners to whom it is given. 
Post-14: GCSEs; options offered by local university technical colleges and studio schools, opportunities 
for 14 year old enrolment at local colleges.
Post-16: A levels, advanced general qualifications, apprenticeships, employment combined with training, 
supported internships, tech levels and traineeships. 
Post-18: further education courses, higher apprenticeships, undergraduate degrees. 
Schools will be held to account for the destinations of their leavers through the annual publication of 
Destination Measures.  Success will be reflected in higher numbers progressing to apprenticeships, 
universities – including selective universities, traineeships, and other positive destinations such as 
employment or a further education college. 

Sources:
1. Statutory guidance, Careers guidance provision for young people in schools, Department for 

Education, 25th March 2015 
https://www..uk/government/publications/careers-guidance-provision-for-young-people-in-schools

2. London Ambitions: Shaping a successful careers offer for all young Londoners
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Policy%20themes/Children%20and%20young
%20people/Shaping_Report_Interim_19_June_SP.pdf

Also the London Ambitions Portal should enable more schools and colleges to easily find high-
quality careers provision designed to support the career development of all young Londoners. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-education
https://www..uk/government/publications/careers-guidance-provision-for-young-people-in-schools
https://www..uk/government/publications/careers-guidance-provision-for-young-people-in-schools
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Policy%20themes/Children%20and%20young%20people/Shaping_Report_Interim_19_June_SP.pdf
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Policy%20themes/Children%20and%20young%20people/Shaping_Report_Interim_19_June_SP.pdf


APPENDIX B

Statutory Guidance Checklist  Notes

Independent Careers Guidance 
External links with: 
 Careers providers 
 Local employers 
 Website and telephone helpline access
 FE and HE providers
 National Careers Service 
 National Apprenticeship Service
 Apprenticeship Ambassadors (WBLA)
 Other voluntary and community activities. 
Links with employers:
 Mentoring and coaching 
 Speakers from the world of work 
 An insight from Jobcentre Plus, or the 

National Careers Service into the labour 
market and the needs of employers 

 Workplace visits and work experience 
placements 

 Work ‘taster’ events such as games and 
competitions 

 Careers fairs & career networking events 
 Access to labour market intelligence 
 Help with basic career management skills 

like CV writing, CV building, job searches 
and job interviews. 

Impartial Careers Guidance – for all learners
 Range of education and training options 

including Apprenticeships and traineeships, 
entrepreneurialism, other vocational routes 
and varying occupations which require STEM 
subjects. 

 Engagement with local learning providers.
 Visits to colleges, universities and 

workplaces.  Access to course information, 
open days and careers fairs. 

 Evidence of no bias or favouritism towards a 
particular education or work option.

 Personalised digital portfolio
GCSE English and maths
 Are learners clear that if they do not 

achieve a grade C or better in GCSE maths 
or English by the end of key stage 4 they 
will be required to carry on studying these – 
at school, college or as an apprentice? This 
is because of the vital importance and 
powerful labour market value of a good 
GCSE in maths and English.  

Careers Guidance Activities
 up-to-date, user-friendly labour market 

intelligence/information (LMI) readily 
accessible



APPENDIX B

 Group work
 Face to face /One to one interviews / 

counselling interviews
 At a distance – online or web based 

Assessment / self-assessment
 Careers education programmes 
 Taster programmes
 Work search programmes 
 Transition services 
 Careers Fairs / Worldskills
 Work-based education and training 

providers, local colleges and universities, 
alumni

 Work experience and engagement with 
local employers:  workplace visits, work 
experience, work shadowing, enterprise 
clubs, employer and sector specific talks At 
least 100 hours experience of the world 
of work, in some form, by the time they 
reach the age of 16.

 Higher Education: UCAS process and fairs, 
university visits; sector specific events / 
speakers, Oxbridge application and 
interview support, masterclasses

 Year 12 activities
 Advice about financial support to participate 

at post-16. 
impartial, independent
& personalised careers education, 
information, advice and
face-to-face guidance in their local 
community
 Pupil premium focus (FSM, LAC).
 SEN / learners with learning difficulties or 

disabilities focus.
 Role models, alumni, mentors and coaches 

and Careers Advisers provide the 
guidance.

Assuring the quality of external providers of 
Careers Guidance 
 DBS checks, liability insurance, evaluation, 

parent/carer consent
 Feedback from learners
 National Careers Service
 Commission providers/delivery partners 

that demonstrate professional credentials 
 Apprenticeship Ambassadors
 Job Centre Plus
 Qualified careers professionals
 Matrix standard,  Investor in Careers or 

Career Mark
 Careers guidance is delivered by well 

qualified, experienced professionals 
(qualified to at least Level 4 in Career 
Information and Advice or preferably Level 
6 Diploma in Career Guidance and 
Development)



APPENDIX B

 

Careers Guidance – strategic direction

 Is careers guidance a formal part of the 
mission and / or strategy of your school or 
college? 

 Opportunities for staff delivering careers 
education to study for formal qualifications.

 Staff attend local and national careers 
conferences.

 Membership of careers work focused 
networks and forums for careers leaders 
and practitioners (consisting of other 
schools and providers).

 Identify and monitor performance against 
key impact measures such as the 
Destination Measures and learner 
satisfaction with careers work provision.

Ensuring adequate support for learners with 
special educational needs (SEN) or 
disabilities 
 Full range of specialist provision that is 

available and what additional support is 
available to enable them to access the 
provision.

 Engage with LA SEN support services and 
section 139A assessments / Education, 
Health and Care Plan. 

 Supported Internship opportunities.
Working with Lewisham Local Authority 
(To assist the most vulnerable young people and 
those at risk of disengaging with education or 
work)
 Basic information that supports LA to track 

young people aged 16-19.
 September Offer returns
 Y12, 13 & 14 enrolments  and nil, ‘at risk’ or 

drop out returns. Notifying the LA 
whenever a 16 or 17 year old leaves an 
education or training programme before 
completion.

 Y12, 13 & 14 destination returns
 Attendance to RPA intensive surgeries 
 Baseline referrals
 RPA Directory / Post-16 Bulletin
 Collaborative and Alternative provision 

Directory and tracking.
Working with education and training 
providers 
 Engage with further education college or a 

university technical college, work-based 
education and training providers.

 Visits for 14-16 year olds to local colleges, 
work-based education and training 
providers and universities.

 Lewisham Job Fair and Next Steps events



APPENDIX B

 Is there an explicit publicised careers 
policy and Careers Curriculum on young 
people’s experiences of the world of 
work, links with business, careers 
provision and destination outcomes?

 Has there consideration for developing
 ‘careers clusters’ to share resources in 

improving awareness of London’s labour 
market and supporting school and 
college leaders in a whole-school 
approach to plan and deliver careers 
provision.

 Do a senior leader and a governor have 
responsibility for championing careers work?  
Does the governing body provide clear advice 
to the Headteacher on a strategy for careers 
Guidance?

 Are the Chair of governors and the governing 
body aware of the importance of careers 
work, including the statutory duty relating to 
careers guidance?

 Is there a governor with oversight for 
ensuring the organisation supports all 
students to relate their learning to 
careers and the world of work?

 Are Senior leaders and Governors aware that 
Ofsted inspectors will take account of the 
quality of independent careers guidance and 
of learners’ destinations in making their 
judgement on the leadership and 
management of the school and, if applicable, 
a separate judgement on the sixth form. 

 How has the school / college identified 
resources and undertake necessary 
commissioning to deliver impartial and 
independent careers guidance for learners in 
years 8 to 13?

 Is the careers coordinator is a member of the 
senior management team?

 Do the school / college seek the views of 
learners on the content, design and delivery 
of careers work via established forums?

 Is there a clear and coherent strategy for 
careers work across the key stages, subject 
departments and staff delivering careers 
support?

 Is destination data used to monitor the 
choices made by learners at the end of Year 
11 and Year 13?

 Is careers work integrated across the 
curriculum (this may require a curriculum 
audit)?

 Personal, Social and Health Education (PSHE)
 lessons
 Integrated tutorial time
 Learner time dedicated to using online tools and 

software
 Learner time dedicated to reading careers 



APPENDIX B

education literature

Visit carried out by:

Date:

Agreed strengths:

What is the school / Academy / college really proud of?:

Agreed areas for improvement and actions:

What else should the school / Academy / college be considering?:



Children and Young People Select Committee

Report Title SEND Reforms – Preparing for Adulthood

Key Decision No Item No. 5

Ward All  

Contributors Head of Targeted Services and Joint Commissioning

Class Part 1 Date: 21st October 2015

1. Introduction

1.1 This report provides a summary of our SEND strategy explaining how we 
continue to meet the principles and duties placed on the local authority 
through the implementation of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Care Act 2015. In particular, this report focuses on the work to prepare 
young people with SEND for adulthood.

2 Recommendations

2.1 The Select Committee is asked to comment on the report.

3 Policy Context

3.1 Children and Families Act 2014 – Overview

The Government introduced the most significant changes to the Special 
Educational Needs system in 30 years, which came into effect on the1st 
September 2014 through the Children and Families Act 2014 (Part 3). 
The key changes brought in by the Children and Families Act 2014 were:

• Ensuring that children and young people are at the centre of planning 
and decision making by ensuring the views, wishes and feelings of 
the family, child and young person are central to the statutory process

• Statements of Special Educational Needs (SSEN) will be replaced by 
Education, Health and Care plans (EHC plans) for children and young 
people 0-25 years

• Children and young people with a SSEN and/or a learning difficulty 
assessment (LDA) will have their current SSEN or LDA converted to 
an EHC plan through a planned transition process which will be 
completed by April 2018

• Greater multi agency working bringing together education, health and 
social care through a single assessment process for children and 
young people 0-25 years. In some cases, where a person is over 18, 



the “Care” part of the EHC plan will be provided for by adult care and 
support, under the Care Act.

• Children and young people assessed as needing an EHC plan or with 
an EHC plan will have the option of a personal budget 

• A published local offer that provides comprehensive, accessible and 
up to date information in one single place from education, health and 
social care for children and young people who have SEN or a 
disability.

• An expectation that services across education, health and social care 
should support children and young people with SEND to prepare for 
adult life help them go on to achieve the best outcomes in 
employment, independent living, health and community participation. 

• An aspiration from children and young people with SEND to achieve 
their potential and achieve positive life outcomes and live an ordinary 
life as possible.  

• An requirement to ensure early intervention and holistic and 
integrated planning across Adults and Children Services.  

3.2 Children and Families Act 2014 - Preparing for Adulthood

Chapter 8 within the SEND code of practice provides specific statutory 
guidance on duties, policies and procedures for those working with 
children and young people aged 14 and over. It sets out how 
professionals across education (including early years, schools, colleges 
and 16-19 academies), health and social care should support children 
and young people with special educational needs (SEN) or disabilities to 
prepare for adult life, and help them go on to achieve the best outcomes 
in employment, independent living, health and community participation. 

3.3 Local authorities have a range of duties which are particularly relevant to 
preparing for adulthood. They include amongst other duties the following: 

• When carrying out their functions, to support and involve the child and 
his or her parent, or the young person, and to have regard to their 
views, wishes and feelings. This includes their aspirations for adult 
life. 

• To offer advice and information directly to children and young people. 
This includes information and advice which supports children and 
young people to prepare for adult life.

• Together with health services, to make joint commissioning 
arrangements for the education, health and care provision of children 
and young people to secure positive adult outcomes for young people 
with SEN. 

• To keep education and care provision under review including the duty 
to consult young people directly, and to consult schools, colleges and 
other post-16 providers. 

• To co-operate with FE colleges, sixth-form colleges, 16-19 academies 
and independent specialist colleges approved under Section 41 of the 
Children and Families Act 2014.



• To include in the Local Offer provision which will help children and 
young people prepare for adulthood and independent living, to 
consult children and young people directly about the Local Offer and 
to publish those comments including details of any actions to be 
taken.

• To consider the need for EHC needs assessments, prepare EHC 
plans where needed, and maintain and review them, including the 
duty to ensure that all reviews of EHC plans from Year 9 (age 13-14) 
onwards include a focus on preparing for adulthood and, for 19-25 
year olds, to have regard to whether educational or training outcomes 
specified in the EHC plan have been achieved.

• To make young people aware through their Local Offer of the kind of 
support available to them in higher education and, where a higher 
education place has been confirmed for a young person with an EHC 
plan, to pass a copy of the EHC plan to the relevant institution and to 
the assessor for Disabled Students Allowance with the young 
person’s permission.

3.4 The National Audit Office report ‘Oversight of special education for young 
people aged 16-25’ published in November 2011, estimates that 
supporting one person with a learning disability into employment could, in 
addition to improving their independence and self-esteem, increase that 
person’s income by between 55 and 95 per cent. The National Audit 
Office also estimates that equipping a young person with the skills to live 
in semi-independent rather than fully supported housing could, in addition 
to quality of life improvements, reduce lifetime support costs to the public 
purse by around £1 million. 

• Education, training and employment 
• Independent Living
• Community engagement and inclusion
• Health and wellbeing

3.6 Care Act 2014
The Care Act 2014, which came into force in April 2015, places a duty on 
Local Authorities to identify and carry out a  transition assessment of a 
young person, a young carer or an adult caring for a child who is likely to 
have needs when the child turns 18.

3.7 A young person can request a transition assessment at anytime and the 
local authority must consider in all cases if the assessment would be a 
“significant benefit” to that person. There is no specific age as to when 
this will be carried out. This enables the local authority to take individual 
circumstances into account when  accessing an individual. However for 
most children/young person with an EHC plan this  is to take place from 
Year 9 onwards. A young person  or their parents can request a child’s 
transition assessment any time prior to their 18th birthday regardless of 
whether they have an EHC or not.  Under both acts there is a cohort of 
young people aged 18-25 who are entitled to an assessment and or 
support through both pieces of legislation.



4 Lewisham’s SEND Strategy

4.1 The Children with Complex Needs team are currently developing a new 
Partnership SEND Strategy 2016-19. In line with the Children and Young 
People’s Plan (CYPP) 2015-2018, children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities (SEND) deserve the very best 
opportunities to learn, develop and play. They also deserve the best start 
in life and should expect the best from all agencies who provide services 
that aim to improve their lives and life chances. Our strategy along with 
the CYP plan expresses our shared ambition and commitment to work 
together for, and with our children and young people and their families 
and carers, to make Lewisham a place where all children and young 
people enjoy a stimulating, healthy and safe childhood, exceed 
expectations, and have the highest aspirations for their future.

4.2 All Lewisham children and young people must benefit from excellent 
universal services.  Within those services we continue to embed high 
quality targeted services for those children and young people who may 
have an additional need, so that support can be provided quickly to 
ensure these needs do not escalate and eventually require specialist 
services. 

4.3 Our approach to early intervention aims to ensure that children, young 
people and their families needing targeted services are identified 
effectively and early and receive the co-ordinated support they need 
across all relevant agencies, and that we are therefore improving 
outcomes by making the best use of our resources.

4.4 Our vision for the strategy is to improve life outcomes for children and 
young people with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) and 
that of their families. 

4.5 Our vision will be underpinned by three key principles, that we need to 
embed across the partnership to achieve our vision. 



• Developing inclusive communities, schools and services that are 
welcoming of all and that can meet the needs of children and young 
people with SEND to enable them to play, learn and work.

• Empowering families to become more resilient and independent, 
while ensuring that they receive the right support at the right time

• Ensuring that the views, wishes and feelings of children and young 
people with SEND and their families are central to decisions that 
affect them.

4.6 This strategy builds on the work that we achieved following the 
introduction of the Children and Families Act 2014 which came into effect 
on 1st September 2014.. This strategy provides direction for the 
Partnership and sets out the outcomes and priorities for all agencies 
working with children and young people with SEND across Lewisham and 
builds on what has been achieved so far. The strategy also establishes 
how partner agencies will continue to work together to improve those 
outcomes that will make significant improvements to the lives and life-
chances of our children and young people with SEND.

4.7 Key areas of development that will enable us to achieve our outcomes 
include:

• Continue to develop  our ‘local offer’ to provide relevant, accurate, 
accessible and timely advice in relation to all areas for SEND, 
ensuring that support is available through universal provision, and 
that targeted and specialist provision (short breaks) is provided 
appropriately.

• Ensure good quality teaching and learning so that children and young 
people’s needs are effectively met in Lewisham schools and other 
educational establishments

• Expand the number of specialist places within Lewisham, and review 
and develop Lewisham's schools Specialist Resource provision

• Establish a strategic banding matrix for SEN funding, to ensure 
fairness, equitable, transparency and accountability

• Review and develop more robust and effective transition pathways for 
young people from 14yrs through to adulthood

• Ensure that effective personal budgets arrangements are in place to 
provide families with more choice and control over how their child's 
needs are met

• Work in partnership with the Parents and Young People  SEND 
Forums to gather views and feedback on the development of our 
services

5. Preparing for Adulthood 

5.1 Preparing for adulthood means preparing for: 

• higher education and/or employment – this includes exploring 
different employment options, such as support for becoming self-
employed and help from supported employment agencies 



• independent living – this means young people having choice, control 
and freedom over their lives and the support they have, their 
accommodation and living arrangements, including supported living 

• participating in society, including having friends and supportive 
relationships, and participating in, and contributing to, the local 
community 

• being as healthy as possible in adult life

5.2 The Local Authority has a statutory responsibility to support 
children/young people with SEND to be prepared for adulthood. Currently 
within Lewisham schools there are approximately 7000 pupils who have 
been identified as having SEND need (17.3% of all pupils); this is above 
the National, London and Inner London averages (15.4%, 15.6, 17% 
respectively). Of these pupils, 1206 have a Statement of Special 
Educational Need (SSEN), or an Education, Health and Care plan (EHC 
plan) (2.8% of all pupils ); this is in line with the National and London 
average but is below the inner London average (2.8%, 2.8%, 2.9% 
respectively). In addition to this there are approximately 380 Lewisham 
children and young people residents who have a SSEN or EHC plan and 
are placed in out of borough education provisions. 

5.3 Of those children and young people with SSEN/EHC Plans who are 
placed within Lewisham schools (1206), approximately 48% attend 
maintained mainstream schools (including resource bases) or acadamies 
and  43% attend maintained special schools and 9% post 16 provision 
and other. Of those children who attend out of borough education 
provisions (380), 30% attend independent provision, 19% attend 
maintained mainstream schools, 16% attend academies, 16% maintained 
special, 9% attend further education, 4% attend specialist post 16 
institutions, 2% other.

5.4 Of the total number of children and young people who attend out of 
borough education provisions, 12 % (47) are in a residential placements. 
The largest age cohort placed out of borough are those young people 
age 14 years to 18 years, accounting for 164 young people. 
Approximately 13% (22) of these 14-18years old are in residential 
placements, costing between £25,000 and £240,000 per annum. 
Approximately 20% (75) of young people placed out of borough are aged 
19 and over, 17 of which are placed at Bromley College, 7 in Shooters 
Hill Post-16 Campus and 51 are placed in specialist/independent 
provisions such as NASH and Orchard Hill. Approximately 21% (16) of 
these young people are in residential placements costing between 
£22,000 and £290,000 per annum. This cohort of young people will 
continue to be supported by adult social care.

5.5 ASD is the predominant primary need in Lewisham Special Schools, 
accounting for 59.6% and in out of borough or independent provisions, 
accounting for 35.5%. Of the pupils with ASD in out of borough or 
independent provisions, 87.7% were young males aged between 12-18 
years. The only other type of primary need that displayed such a 



significant age and gender effect was Social, Emotional and Mental 
Health, with 88% being males aged 12-18 years. In Lewisham primary 
and secondary schools, the predominant primary need is Speech, 
Language and Communication Needs (36% and 27% respectively); this 
is above the national average for both provision types. 

5.6 The most recent data available concerning attainment levels is for 
academic year 12/13 (the DfE had yet to publish results for academic 
year 13/14 at the time this report was written). For pupils with Statement 
of SEN, 8.1% achieved five or more A* to C grades at GCSE level; this 
was below the national average (9.5%), the London average (12%) and 
the Inner London average (12%). For those with SEN but without a 
Statement, the figure was 30.2%; this was above the national average 
(26.6%), but below the London average (35.4%) and the Inner London 
average. For comparison, the Lewisham average for all pupils at key 
stage 4 was 58%.

5.7 In August 2015, there were 9,007 young people in school year 12-14 
(9,820 young people with SEN up to and including age 24). Of the 9,820, 
19 young people with SEN were Not in Education, Employment or 
Training (NEET) and 26 young people were unknown (data on what they 
are doing can not be identified).

5.8 There are approximately 350 children and young people known to the 
Children with Disabilities Service. 129 (36.8%) are aged between 14-18 
years and are in receipt of specialist short break services and support. 

5.9 Adults with Learning Difficulties (AWLD) data published in January 2015 
which showed that approximately 130 service users were aged 18 to 25 
years. Approximately 25 of these young people were in long-term 
residential placements.  

5.10 Processes and data collection systems within Children's and Adults 
Social Care services are currently being reviewed to further quantify 
many important variables such as the number of transitions from 
Children's to Adults Services year on year and the type of support they 
receive / provision they attend thereafter. This will encourage a more 
holistic approach to further supporting these young people as they 
develop and transition.

5.11 The new legislation has introduced wider responsibility up to the age of 
25yrs that all young people with an EHCP will have their education, 
health and social care needs reviewed annually. In addition the Care Act 
2014 places a duty on local authorities to identify and carry out a  
transition  assessment of  a young person, a young carer or an adult 
caring for a child who is likely to have needs when the child turns 18. 

5.12 These additional duties have already increased the demand on education 
services and are likely to increase the demand on adult services. 



5.13 Current Operational Processes 

The following are the current processes in place across education, health 
and social care for children and young people with a SSEN or an EHCP, 
some have been developed since the new legislation and build on these 
requirements. These include:-  

• Co production with parents and key professional to develop the 
EHCP.  The EHCP is person centered plan which has been designed 
to ensure that all professionals working  with children and  young 
people and their families from an early age  focus their planning  on 
formulating long-term outcomes which reflect the  young peoples 
aspirations for their future and the support they  will require  to 
achieve these outcomes. 

• The establishment of an EHCP conversion team whose responsibility 
is to ensure the transfer from statement of special educational needs 
to EHCP. This includes embedding the  preparing for adulthood 
agenda.

• Transfer reviews have been held on young people who are moving on 
from school to further education (post 16 & post 19). This has started 
to address the wider preparing for adulthood agenda, but requires 
further development to have the buy in across the partnership.

• Case officers currently attend key transition annual reviews for 
children/young people. 

• Administration of secondary school transfer process, ensuring 
children/young peoples needs continue to be met educationally. 

• Co-ordination of a quarterly transition meeting between adult and 
children services. The meeting maps all children known from 14yrs 
onwards. Enabling early identification and the planning of provision 
across education and social care for those children with high level 
support needs who may require ongoing services  and support  from 
adult services.

• The Children with Disabilities social work team hold individual case 
responsibility for those young  people eligible and known to their 
team. The social worker will  lead on making referrals for assessment  
to adult services around  the young person’s 17th birthday highlighting 
the young person current holistic care needs. The assessed support 
that is put in place may include some students returning to their family 
home, with support packages commissioned to provide daytime 
activity which should be linked to educational outcomes. Some may 
move into supported accommodation in which case it would be the 
responsibility of their support provider to ensure that any identified 
educational outcomes  are pursued. Educational outcomes may 
include developing pathways to employment, further learning (through 
adult education) or support for developing independent living skills.

• Young people who have a continuing care need will be referred to the 
appropriate adult health team.

• Key health professionals including Children and Adolescent Mental 
Health teams, Physiotherapists, Speech and Language Therapy and 



Occupational therapy  have their own  transition process and 
pathways to adulthood  which are currently separate to those  within 
Children with Complex Needs Team.  

•
5.14 Further Development

Our current processes and pathways need to be developed further for the 
following reasons:-

 The current process for transition between Children's Social Care 
and Adult Social Care relies on individual workers making referrals 
across and these being picked up in a timely fashion. This has the 
potential to make transition planning difficult and too reliant on 
individual practice rather than embedded systems and process 
across the services. 

 Children and Adult Social Care have different criteria for access to 
services. At the point of transition some young people may be 
offered a very different package of support. There is often a lack of 
understanding for the young people and their family on this 
difference and this can create anxiety and tensions at the point of 
transition. Earlier planning, including clarity of what is available, 
should ensure a smoother transition with appropriate support where 
needed. 

 Direct payment and personal budgets allow for the option of choice 
for the young person. However this is often not utilised by the young 
person prior to transition, as it often remains parental choice. This 
can then become quite a challenge for a young person when they 
move to adult services

 The Children and Family Act has increased the age range for 
Education, Health and Care Plans up to age 25. This has created a 
demand for 19-25yr olds to have their EHCP's reviewed yearly. This 
has created a need for increased capacity and workforce 
development. This will have ongoing financial implications to support 
this area of development. There is currently no clear path between 
children and adult services to review young people with an EHCP.

 The new legislation has brought a demand for a new culture and 
new ways of working that require professionals to have a greater 
level of skills and knowledge of services available for young people 
up to 25yrs. In order to enable them to effectively plan with a young 
person and their families for their future.

 There is an expectation from families that children services will 
continue up to the age of 25yrs to concur with the ethos of the new 
legislation. However not all services will be available, and there 
needs to be clear information of what support is available across 
universal services as well as what can be expected at targeted and 
specialist levels of support, for young people and for adults. 

5.15 Outlined below are key areas identified for exploration in order to improve 
outcomes on the preparing for adulthood agenda, these include:



• the establishment of clearer pathways across the partnership which 
allows for transition arrangements to begin at 14yrs. This would 
require a joint protocol with clear leadership, and defined roles and 
responsibilities.

• the establishment of an integrated social care team 14-25yrs with 
strategic and operational responsibility for the preparing for adulthood 
agenda. 

• the establishment of a multi agency (education, social care & health) 
transition team with strategic and operational responsibility for the 
preparing for adulthood agenda. 

• development of multi-agency programme which supports practitioners 
to gain the knowledge and skills required to fully embed the principles 
of the all aspects of the preparing for adulthood agenda. 

• further improvement in co-production with parents and young people 
to ensure that they play an active role in developing this agenda.

• development of advice, information and signposting for young people, 
parents and professional, through the Local Offer. This includes 
young people who do not meet the eligibility criteria for Adult 
Services. 

• development of shared processes and data collection systems within 
Children's and Adults Social Care in order to allow for the effective 
use of data for commissioning, planning and budget monitoring.

• development of the market place to ensure that there is suitable 
provision in place to support young people aspiration and life choice 
through to adulthood 

• as part of the south east London commissioning consortium for 
SEND, continue to explore opportunities with neighbouring boroughs 
to develop the local market.

6. Financial Implications

7.1 There are no financial implications arising from the agreement to the 
recommendation of the report.

7 Legal Implications

7.1 In addition to those legal implications previously referred to in this report, 
members attention is drawn to the following.

7.2 The Human Rights Act 1998 safeguards the rights of children in the 
borough to educational provision which the local authority is empowered 
to provide in compliance with its duties under domestic legislation.

7.3 Section 9 of the Education Act 1996 places a general duty on local 
authorities and funding authorities to have regard to the general principle 
that children are educated in accordance with their parents’ wishes, so far 
as is compatible with the provision of efficient education and training and 
the avoidance of unreasonable public expenditure.



7.4 The Education and Inspections Act 2006 requires local authorities to 
consider and respond to parental representations when carrying out their 
planning duty to make sure there is sufficient primary and secondary 
provision and suitable Special Educational Needs provision in their area.

7.5 Departmental guidance requires that when proposals are being 
developed for reorganising or altering special educational needs 
provision local authorities and/or other proposers will need to show how 
they will improve standards, quality and/or range of educational provision 
for children with special educational needs.

7.6 Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 2014 introduced major reforms to 
the statutory framework for children and young persons with special 
educational needs. The local authority retains the pivotal role in 
identifying, assessing, and securing the educational provision for children 
and young people with special educational needs.

7.7 The Children and Families Act 2014 requires: that in exercising their 
functions in relation to special educational needs local authorities must 
have regard to four guiding principles :

 the views , wishes and feelings of the child and their parent , or the 
young person;

 ensure children young people and parents participate in decision-
making;

 provide the necessary information and support to help children, 
young people and parents participate in decision making; and

 support children, young people and parents in order that children 
and young people can achieve the best possible educational and 
other outcomes.

7.8 The Equality Act 2010 introduced a new public sector equality duty. It 
covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

7.9 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to:

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Act.

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not.

 foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.

7.10 The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be 
attached to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of 
relevance and proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to 



eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or 
foster good relations.

7.11 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued 
Technical Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory 
guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & 
Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have regard 
to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is 
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The 
Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet 
the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as 
recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but 
nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without 
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and 
the technical guidance can be found at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-andpolicy/equality-act/equality-
act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/

7.12 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously 
issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the 
equality duty:

1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
3. Engagement and the equality duty
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty
5. Equality information and the equality duty

7.13 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty 
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties and 
who they apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to meet the 
duty including steps that are legally required, as well as recommended 
actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on 
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and 
resources are available at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-
andguidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/

8 Crime and Disorder Implications

8.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this 
report.

9. Equalities Implications

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-andpolicy/equality-act/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-andpolicy/equality-act/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-


9.1 The initial equality analysis assessment indicates that the proposals in 
this report would not unlawfully discrimination against any protected 
characteristics but would positively promote equality of opportunity for 
children and young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities.

10. Environmental Implications

10.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report.

Background documents
None.





Children and Young People Select Committee

Report Title
 

Schools Traded Services (Service Level Agreements)

Key Decision
 

Yes Item No.  6

Ward
 

All

Contributors
 

Executive Director for Children and Young People

Class
 

Part 1 Date: 20 October 2015

1. Purpose of the Report

A report was received by the Children and Young People Select Committee on 
19 March 2014. This report updates members on the current position on traded 
services with schools and on proposals for the development of Schools Traded 
schools

2. Recommendation

The Select Committee is asked to note the report. And note that a fundamental review of 
schools traded services is being undertaken under the auspices of the Futures Board.

3. Policy Context

3.1 “Shaping our future” 2008- 2020 is a summary of Lewisham’s 
Sustainable Community Strategy. There are six priority outcomes which 
say what our communities should look and feel like in the future. One is 
“ambitious and achieving” where people are inspired and supported to 
fulfil their potential by removing the barriers to learning and to encourage 
and facilitate access to education, training and employment opportunities 
for all our citizens. 

3.2 One of the Council’s corporate priorities is for young people’s 
achievement and involvement; raising educational attainment and 
improving facilities for young people through partnership working. 
       

4. Support Services with schools 

Since the delegation of budgets to schools in the 1990s, school support 
services have developed considerably and trading with schools has been part of 
the school funding and management landscape.  After over 20 years of 
delegation school support activities can be categorised into three areas:

a Regulatory or imposed support services;



2

b. Support services with some regulatory aspects but which can be 
purchased from third parties but often provided by LAs;

c. Support services that are traded at economic cost that the LA 
does not have to provide

5 Regulatory or imposed support services 

There is a range of activities that LAs are required to do some of which are 
regulatory or impositions on schools which you could not reasonably expect a 
school to pay for.  The following are examples

 Attendance and Welfare prosecutions;
 School budget and quarterly monitoring returns;
 Strategic leadership of the LA;
 Co-ordination of school and staff census returns; 
 Schools Asset Management Planning;

Local Authorities receive Education Services Grant of £15 per pupil in respect of 
academy pupils for which the Local Authority retains a statutory duty: for 
example education welfare prosecutions.

The funding available for the Education Services Grant has been top-sliced 
nationally to provide funding for these services to Academies. Academies 
receive the same level of funding as Local Authorities. In the past this was not 
the case and Academies received a higher level of funding. Most academies 
are receiving some financial protection and their funding is being reduced 
gradually to the £87 per pupil immediately   
  

6 Support services with some regulatory aspects but which can be 
purchased, in whole or in part, from third parties but often provided by 
LAs as an SLA.

The following are examples . 

 Schools VAT returns;
 Audit of schools performance of statutory maintenance responsibilities;
 Asbestos management and removal;
 Education Psychology advice to schools;

Appropriate Body for Newly Qualified Teachers (NB the charge cannot exceed 
the costs of provision as defined by DFE.)

7 Support services that are traded at economic cost or market rates  

These are activities that are traded by the LA with schools on the basis of a 
service level agreement but which can be purchased in the market from third 
party providers.  There are services that are traded other than through SLAs 
and these are set out in 9.1 below.

The LA has regularly reviewed the costs of those services set out in the SLA 
booklet to ensure that all direct costs are recovered with a 15% oncost to reflect 
Council overheads.  The LA does not include a rate of return in these costs nor 



3

does it recognise the risk associated with delivering these services such as 
redundancy.

In this category of traded activity there are some services that we provide and 
trade in Lewisham because they provide the opportunity, through the trading 
interaction, to gain intelligence about schools and to ensure their quality, which 
in turn contributes to the school improvement work the Council does to ensure 
schools are performing well.  The key services in this sub category are: Schools 
HR and Governors Services clerking service.  These two service represent a 
significant portion  of traded revenue raising £1,108k per annum.  There could 
be an argument to include some level of subsidy to reflect this intelligence 
benefit: the absence of a rate of return for example.

TABLE 1(fore 
brief details of 
each service 
see 8.1.)

2013/14 

Income 
Received

2013/14 

Schools 
Purchasing 
some service

2014/15 

Income 
Received

2014/15 

Schools 
Purchasing 
some service

Comment

£ £

School Support Service
Performance – 
Data Returns 58,386

85 87,932 74

Governor 
Services – 
training and 
clerking 335,238

68 317,612 73

Educational 
Psychology 
and Specific 
Learning 
Difficulties 291,457

75 429,210 80

Premises type service
Insurance & 
Risk 1,014,442

85 1,184,256 84

Fire 
Assessments 47,425

57 46,778 60

Asbestos 
Assessments 10,153

6 8,900 7

Energy 
Management 2,000

5

School Business Support Services

Internal Audit 30,000 85 41,910 85
Catering Client 
Service 130,000

69 146,798 62

Schools HR 
/Personnel 677,091

85 790,075 83

Customer 
Services (Mail 
Collection) 57,800

79 59,379 84

Legal 29,500 68 33,000 69
Finance 24,674 19 29,652 20
Payroll 293,000 79 342,285 77

Total 3,001,166 3,517,787



4

New services in 2014/15

Attendance and 
Welfare

169,518 56 Service 
commenced 
in Sept

Corporate 
information – 
data 
governance

These services were introduced as 
part of  the Council’s budget 

reductions to meet reduced 
national funding.

18,435 35

9. Other Services Bought by Schools from the Council – outside of 
SLA arrangements

9.1 The Service Level Agreement Booklet for schools covers those services 
that are generally on an annual subscription basis. There are a number 
of services that sit outside this where schools pay on an as and when 
basis or are recharged . The main ones include 

 Music Service – charges - £479k
 Door 2 Door – transport for school activities such as swimming – 

charges - £161k
 Wearside – support to schools for mini bus maintenance £8k
 Work Experience - £81k
 DBS checks for schools – recharged actual cost £129k
 Trade Waste collection – charges £140k
 School Improvement – CPD, support for newly qualified teachers 

and early years training. The school improvement service provide 
services to schools both in Lewisham and outside of the borough. 
The total income is expected to be £247k

Services not Traded but Managed Centrally
9.2 Within the delegated budget of each school there is funding for a number 

of items that the Schools Forum have agreed should be managed by the 
Forum on schools’ behalf. The services are known as de-delegated. 
These services and charges are as follows

 Non sickness Supply, Maternity Fund 
 Contingency 
 Free school Meals Eligibility
 Closing the gap funding   

Pooled Traded Services 
9.3 The school meals contract is a specific contract negotiated on behalf of 

all participating schools for which they are charged on the basis of meals 
provided/ pupils participating.  

Services Traded in other LAs
9.4 In other authorities they have services that for a variety of reasons are 

not traded in Lewisham: e.g.
o Performance Data analysis;
o ICT Desktop Hardware and software support



5

10  Council savings 2016 - 18
The Council is currently considering the 2015 to 2018 budget.  Within the 
Children and Young People’s Directorate total savings of £2.2m are 
being considered, savings of £1.3m were agreed last year for 2016/17 
making total savings for next year of £3.5m. The net budget of the CYP 
directorate is £51.1m, the savings proposals represents 7% of the 
budget. If one relates the non social care savings to the relevant share of 
the budget then the reduction is 15.7% in 2016/17 and a further  2.1% in 
2017/18.

The savings that relate to schools trading activities are shown 
below

10.1 School Related Services (Total Saving £660k)

The services and activities within this strand provide support to schools 
in delivery of their responsibilities. 

The Local Authority already charges for services provided to schools with 
an annual income estimated at £3.3m (2015/16).  Actual income in 
2014/15 was higher than this at £3.5m.  The proposals below would 
increase the level of traded services in this strand by £0.4m representing 
0.2% of the totality of schools’ delegated budgets.

10.2 To increase the charges to schools for all existing Service Level 
Agreements by 2.5% above rate of inflation or 5% above current rates to 
raise £100k in 2016/17.  This would better reflect the actual cost of 
delivering the services.

10.3 Attendance and Welfare (AWS). It is proposed to increase the 
proportion of activity traded with schools and reduce the cost of the core 
service.  The increased income is estimated at £150k. While the 
attendance of vulnerable pupils would continue to be the subject of 
attendance casework centrally, schools would be charged for routine 
casework currently undertaken as part of the core service. Under this 
proposal, the AWS would better reflect the statutory duties of the LA and 
there would be greater clarity about the responsibilities of schools either 
to undertake the casework themselves or to pay for the LA to undertake 
it.  

The current council funded budget of £498k represents a cost of £19 per 
pupil which benchmarks against average English spending of £12 per 
pupil.  The budget has in last two years been reduced to move towards 
national and local comparators and this further saving would achieve the 
English average benchmark.  

10.4 It is proposed that the Schools Strategic IT post will be wholly covered 
by charges to those schools that purchase the service. 

10.5 Corporate HR 

The proposal in this strand is to realign the HR charges to the schools for 
recruitment, occupational health, policy advice, HR systems, DBS 
clearance, trade union secondments and employee relations. 



6

10.6 This proposal is to adjust the insurance recharge model to 
introduce a ‘premium for risk’.  The premium for risk will better reflect the 
costs for particular risks from activities and assets insured by the 
Council.  For example; the excess for school buildings is higher than that 
for other Council assets.  The premium for risk will also fund the Council 
for taking on that element of unlimited risk on behalf of schools for events 
not covered by insurance policies nor able to be met from the Council’s 
insurance reserves set aside for self-insured and uninsurable losses. 

11 Impact of Proposals on Schools 

11.1 The total purchase of services by schools is currently £4.9m and this 
represents 3% of the budgets delegated to schools.

11.2 The table below shows the average purchase of SLAs by schools for 
2014/15 and projected for 2016/17.  This indicates that the impact of 
savings proposals is to increase the average primary purchase by £8,989 
and the secondary purchase by £11,911.  This calculation assumes that 
the average level of buy back of services by schools is 74%.  It does not 
assume that all schools buy back all services.

Narrative Primary Secondary

£s % of 
delegated 
budget

£s % of 
delegated 
budget

Average Spend 
Before 
Proposals

63,788 4% 96,432 2%

Average Spend 
After Proposals

72,778 4% 108,342 2%

Increase 8,989 11,911

12 Alternative Delivery Models

Lewisham currently delivers these services by employing staff directly where 
other Local Authorities have set up arms-length companies to deliver the 
services or have engaged in shared arrangements. These arrangements allow 
Local Authorities to expand services more easily but it does mean that its best 
staff may not be focused on their own schools.  Generally, schools will only 
commit to buying services on an annual basis which presents the risk of annual 
variations in buy-back.  The council in employing the staff takes the risk of any 
downsizing if schools no longer buy back into the services i.e. has to meet the 
costs of redundancy. 



7

13 Role of Schools Forum 

Each year, prior to setting the budget, the Forum considers both price rises in 
current services and any new services that are offered. The Forum is presented 
with the typical impact on both Primary and Secondary schools of different 
sizes.  At present the Schools Forum does not undertake an annual review of 
the performance of SLAs nor has it insisted on an overall quality assurance 
framework for the offer of services.  Instead it has relied on individual providers 
to address quality issues in service delivery.

Issues

There is a continuing expectation that schools will be operating in more 
federative arrangements as this helps the sharing of school leadership and 
improvement expertise.  As many SLAs are subscription based and charged per 
institution then future income may fall as there are fewer formal institutions 
buying services.

The current SLA offer to schools and the purchasing arrangements do not 
utilise technology significantly and so the overheads of trading for the LA may 
be higher than necessary.  The development of an appropriate portal is well 
underway to help address this but that may implications as to how the SLA offer 
is dealt with.

The current SLA offer is not the only mechanism by which schools are asked to 
pay for services which can lead to some confusion on their part and a lack of 
clarity as to the overall extent of traded services offered by the LA.

The Council is increasingly looking toward SLA income from schools to help 
meet the financial pressures of reducing government funding. Increased income 
proposals have been a feature of savings proposals over the last few years on 
the basis of recovering full costs or charging for activities the Council previously 
provided at no explicit charge.  This expectation is against a background of the 
LA looking to become more commercial in its revenue raising activities.

The Government is pushing the move toward the conversion of schools to 
academy status.  When schools become academies the tendency is that they 
then buy few LA services they bought as a Community or VA school.  Often 
they will appoint staff to undertake the responsibilities previously provided 
through an SLA or the legal requirements change so that LA services are not 
appropriate to the delivery of the service.  E.g. the accounting and audit 
framework is very different and more expensive to deliver.

A further consequence of any move to academy status is that the education 
services grant share reduces making less funding available to LA services.

Proposal

The Council is considering how best to inject a more commercial expertise into 
its income earning activities.. It would therefore seem appropriate that officers 
undertake a fundamental review of the arrangements for charges for services to 



8

schools as part of that work being directed under the auspices of the Lewisham 
Futures Board.

14.  Financial Implications

14.1  There are no financial implications arising out of this report.

15. Legal Implications 

15.1 There are no Legal implications arising out of this report.

16. Equalities Implications

16.1 There are no Equalities implications arising out of this report.

17. Environmental Implications

17.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising out of this report.

18. Crime and disorder implications

18.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Service level agreement booklet 2015/16



9

 Summary of services provide to schools through SLA   Annex 1

A brief summary of each of the above services can be found below

Asbestos Assessment – Provision of surveys, advice and an asbestos 
management plan.

Attendance & Welfare – Attendance and Welfare Officer time to work 
with school to address attendance and punctuality. 

Audit – Internal audit of school accounts, financial procedures and school 
governance on a three year rolling cycle.

Catering Client Service – Management of catering client and monitoring 
of provision by contractor.

Customer Services – Delivery service between schools and council 
services and between schools.

Corporate Information - Data Protection advice, training and materials. 
Management of data protection breaches.

Educational Psychology & Specific Learning Difficulties – On-site visits 
from team members.

Energy Management – Investigations to identify and eliminate energy 
waste.

Finance – Finance consultancy service.

Fire Assessments – Provision of a statutory fire risk assessment.

Governor Services – Clerking of governing body meetings and training 
for governors.

HR/Personnel – HR advisory services, salary assessments, job 
evaluations, recruitment & HR administration.

Insurance & Risk – Insurance contract covering buildings, liability, 
contents and school visits.

Legal – Legal services helpline.

Payroll – Calculation and payment of staff salaries, payments to HMRC 
and pensions bodies and provision of necessary data to same.

Performance – Support for data preparation, provision of Fischer Family 
Trust data and subscription to performance and copyright licences.





1. Summary

1.1 The report discusses the health of Children and Young People in Lewisham. 
Where possible, information has been presented in relation to the three 
stages of childhood: Early Years (0-4), Primary School Age (5-11) and 
Secondary School Age (12-18). Data has been drawn from a wide range of 
sources including Public Health England, NHS England and local data sets to 
provide a comprehensive picture of the health of young residents in 
Lewisham. Key messages include:

 The population of children and young people in Lewisham will continue to rise 
over the next twenty years. As the population increases, it will continue to 
become more diverse.  The associated challenges, together with the 
challenges of deprivation and other adverse factors in local children’s lives 
should continue to influence planning for Lewisham’s children and young 
people.

 One of the four key areas in which the Lewisham Children and Young People’s 
Strategic Partnership aims to improve outcomes through its Children and Young 
People’s Plan (2015-18) is ‘Be Healthy and Active’. This Annual Public Health 
Report pays particular attention to the priorities identified in this key area in the 
Children and Young People’s Plan:  

 Improve our uptake of immunisations
 Ensure our children and young people are a healthy weight
 Improve mental and emotional wellbeing
 Improve Sexual Health
 Reduce the impact of alcohol, smoking and substance misuse
 Ensure our looked after children are healthy
 Encourage access to and use of culture, sport, leisure and play 

activities

 Attention is also paid to the following priority included in the Children and 
Young People’s Plan key area “Build Child and Family Resilience”:

 Ensure the best outcomes or pregnancy and the first 1,000 days including the 
reduction of the impact of toxic stress on children.

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLES SELECT COMMITTEE
 
Title
 

Lewisham Annual Public Health Report

Key Decision
 

No Item No.  7

Ward
 

Borough Wide

Contributors
 

Danny Ruta – Director of Public Health

Class
 

Part 1 Date: 20 October 2015



2. Purpose

2.1      This report provides members of the Healthier Communities Select 
Committee with the 2015 Annual Public Health Report (APHR), which is 
themed on Children and Young People. Wider information on the entire 
population is also provided through the Public Health Performance 
Dashboards, which are provided as appendices to the main report.

3. Recommendations

3.1      Members of the Children and Young Peoples Select Committee are asked  to 
note, and to comment as they wish on the content of the report.

4. Policy context

4.1      The Health and Social Care Act 2012 states that the production of an APHR 
is a statutory duty of the Director of Public Health, which the local authority is 
responsible for publishing. The report aims to inform partners, professionals, 
and other decision makers, as well as the community about the health of the 
local population.

4.2 The publication of a themed report on Children and Young People is to 
coincide with the upcoming publication of the 2015-2018 Children and Young 
People’s Plan. The report also supports achieving the Sustainable 
Communities priority for Lewisham of healthy, active and enjoyable - where 
people can actively participate in maintaining and improving their health and 
well-being.

4.3 This report was also be submitted to the Healthier Communities Select  
Committee for discussion on the 09/09/2015 and the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, for information at its meeting on 22/09/2015.

5. The Health of Lewisham Children and Young People

5.1      Lewisham’s Children

5.1.1 Lewisham’s children form one of the most diverse and vibrant populations of 
children in the UK.  This means that they can experience a huge range of 
cultures within Lewisham and benefit from this.  But there are also challenges 
associated with this feature of life in Lewisham.  These challenges, together 
with the rapid rise in Lewisham’s population of children, and the challenges of 
poverty and other elements of toxic stress that a greater proportion of 
Lewisham’s children experience than children in England generally, have also 
influenced the development of the Children and Young People’s Plan.

5.2     Outcomes of Pregnancy

5.2.1 It is estimated that approximately 50% of pregnancies are planned, which in 
Lewisham would equate to around 2,500 planned pregnancies per year. All 
care providers and agencies in contact with child bearing women should 



ensure that the pre-conception web-based resource is promoted and that in 
cases where women have a long term condition, their specialist health team 
should work with them to ensure they are in the best possible health prior to 
embarking on a pregnancy including advice on management of medication. 

5.3 Immunisation

5.3.1   There needs to be continued efforts to improve uptake of all vaccines, in 
particular MMR2 and HPV vaccines.

5.4     Achieving a Healthy Weight

5.4.1 Lewisham has a high number of children with excess weight. Prevention and 
early intervention is crucial. A partnership approach is necessary to minimise 
the impact of an obesogenic environment.

5.5     Mental and Emotional Health

5.5.1 Understanding what protects mental health and builds resilience and building 
on an individual child’s, family’s and community’s assets can help deliver 
better mental health for both children and adults. Therefore efforts will be 
focused on promoting a better understanding across the Partnership of toxic 
stress. Lewisham is developing a strategy for mental health and emotional 
wellbeing in children and young people which will ensure that resilience and 
emotional well being is addressed at all levels to ensure young people can 
thrive and maximise their potential, as well as being able to access support 
and services in a timely manner when their needs escalate. 

5.6     Sexual Health

5.6.1 Despite the significant gains made in improving access to services through 
the teenage pregnancy and Chlamydia screening programmes, these are now 
showing signs of stalling. Targeted sexual health promotion and SRE 
programmes will be vital to maintaining and building on the success of these 
initiatives.

5.6.2 Over the next few years sexual health services will be reconfigured to improve 
access. It is important that young people, especially the most vulnerable, 
receive specialist support to equip them to maintain and protect their own 
sexual health and develop healthy physical relationships.

5.7      Smoking, Drinking and Drugs

5.7.1   A range of interventions are recommended to reduce the impact of smoking, 
alcohol or drug misuse on the lives of children and young people.  These 
recommendations are already included in the Children and Young People’s 
Plan, or are being considered for inclusion.

5.8     Looked After Children



5.8.1 Lewisham’s Children and Young People’s Strategic Partnership will continue 
its focus on meeting the healthcare needs of this vulnerable group of children 
and young people. Statutory Health Assessments are valuable in ensuring the 
health of individual children and the focus on improving coverage and 
timeliness of these assessments is justified and will continue.

5.9     Mortality and Serious Injury

5.9.1 Premature delivery is the single most important cause of mortality of children 
in Lewisham. The impact of the recently initiated programme to tackle this 
issue will be closely monitored.

5.9.2 Other recommendations on mortality relate to the investigation of a number of 
issues that have emerged from a recent analysis of all deaths that have been 
reviewed in recent years, or from other sources. 

5.9.3 Much work has been undertaken in Lewisham in the last decade to improve 
road safety and to reduce the number and severity of road traffic injuries. This 
has been successful.  However, it is important to maintain and continue to 
improve the programme of casualty reduction.

5.10 Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities

5.10.1 The key aim of the service is to improve life outcomes for children with special 
educational needs and disabilities through the implementation of a new 
Partnership SEND strategy. The strategy will build on the work that has been 
achieved already and provide direction for the partnership and will set out the 
aims and priorities for all agencies working with children and young people 
with SEND across Lewisham. The strategy also establishes how partner 
agencies will continue to work together to improve those outcomes that will 
make significant improvements to the lives and life-chances of our children 
and young people with SEND.  

5.11   Universal and Targeted Public Health Services for Children and Young 
People

5.11.1 The Partnership is in a strong position for the transfer of the commissioning 
public health services for children under five. This transfer and the 
development of the Health Visiting Service is an invaluable opportunity for 
Lewisham and should help us in our objectives to give children the very best 
start in life.  Current efforts to achieve full recruitment to this service, the full 
implementation of the agree common outcomes framework for children under 
five, and the achievement of better outcomes for children are all major 
priorities for the Lewisham Children and Young People’s Partnership.

6. Financial implications

6.1     There are no specific financial implications. The recommendations of the 
APHR have already been included, or are being considered for inclusion in 
the Children and Young People’s Plan.



7. Legal implications

7.1      The requirement to produce an APHR is set out above.

8. Crime and disorder implications

8.1      There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

9. Equalities implications

9.1     Equalities Implications and the impact they have on health outcomes have 
been highlighted throughout the body of the report..

10. Environmental implications

10.1    There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations.

11. Conclusion

11.1 Planning health services for children and their families will need to continue to 
take into account the needs of a rapidly growing and changing population.

Background documents and originator

Lewisham’s Annual Public Health Report 2015
Public Health Performance Dashboards 
The 2014 Annual Public Health Report focussed on helping residents improve their 
health and fitness is available here.

If there are any queries on this report please contact Dr Danny Ruta, Director of 
Public Health, Community Services Directorate, Lewisham Council, on 020 8314 
8637 or by email danny.ruta@lewisham.gov.uk

http://www.lewishamjsna.org.uk/Reports/Lewisham%20Annual%20Public%20Health%20Report%202013-2014.zip
mailto:danny.ruta@lewisham.gov.uk




The Health of Lewisham Children 
and Young People

The Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 
for Lewisham

2015



2

Contents

Foreword..................................................................................................................................3

Introduction ..............................................................................................................................4

Lewisham’s Children................................................................................................................6

Outcomes of Pregnancy ........................................................................................................13

Immunisation..........................................................................................................................20

Achieving a Healthy Weight ...................................................................................................26

Mental and Emotional Health.................................................................................................35

Sexual Health.........................................................................................................................42

Smoking, Drinking and Drugs ................................................................................................49

The Health of Looked After Children......................................................................................63

Mortality and Serious Injury ...................................................................................................67

Children with Special Educational Needs & Disabilities.........................................................76

Universal and Targeted Public Health Services for Children and Young People ..................82

Culture, Sport, Leisure and Play Activities.............................................................................88



3

Foreword
To be added



4

Introduction

I am delighted to present my annual report on the health of Lewisham’s population.  This 
year, I have chosen the health of children and young people as the focus of my report.

Children are the future of any community.  Their health and welfare, and their present and 
future happiness ought to be the most important focus for the activity of any society.  
Childhood itself can be a wonderful period in the life of any individual – forming the first 
attachment to other human beings, exploring and learning about the world for the first time, 
with an endless rush of first experiences and sensations.  For very many adults, childhood 
and early adulthood are remembered as the happiest times of their life.  And so it should be; 
pregnancy and early childhood, particularly the period that is now known as the first 
thousand days of life,  are critical in determining an individual’s future health and well-being 
– the strength and nature of the attachment they form with their primary caregiver – usually 
their mother,  determines their future physical, mental and emotional wellbeing.  Failure in 
this primary relationship or the toxic stress caused by neglect, emotional deprivation or other 
adverse influences can destroy or severely affect a child’s emotional, mental and physical 
health, both in childhood and in the future.   Adverse events, a failure of society in ensuring 
the best possible housing, education and protection of a child, or illness in later childhood or 
in young adulthood can also have a disproportionate affect on a child’s future.  

This year sees the publication of the Lewisham Children and Young People’s plan, which will 
cover the period 2015 to 2018, and so it seemed appropriate that the main focus of my 
report this year should be the health of Children and Young People in Lewisham. 

Lewisham and its people benefit greatly from its strong strategic partnership arrangements, 
which ensure that all statutory and non-statutory organisations work together locally so as to 
improve the lives of local people.  Our strong, mature partnership arrangements for children 
and young people have cultivated a culture which constantly strives to improve services so 
that:

‘Together with families, we will improve the lives and life chances of the children and 
young people in Lewisham’

One of the four key areas in which the Lewisham Children and Young People’s Strategic 
Partnership aims to improve outcomes through its Children and Young People’s Plan (2015-18) is 
Be Healthy and Active. This Annual Public Health Report pays particular attention to the priorities 
identified in this key area in the Children and Young People’s Plan:  

 Improve our uptake of immunisations
 Ensure our children and young people are a healthy weight
 Improve mental and emotional wellbeing
 Improve sexual health
 Reduce the impact of alcohol, smoking and substance misuse
 Ensure our looked after children are healthy



5

 Encourage access to and use of culture, sport, leisure and play activities

Attention is also paid to the following priority included in the Children and Young People’s 
Plan key area Build Child and Family Resilience:

 Ensure the best outcomes or pregnancy and the first 1,000 days including the 
reduction of the impact of toxic stress on children.

Members of the Public Health team at Lewisham Council have been working closely with 
members of the Children’s and Young People’s Directorate in the development of the 
Children and Young People’s Plan.

The entire partnership is committed to delivering the Healthy Child Programme (HCP), the 
Government’s early intervention and prevention public health programme to ensure all 
children and families reach their full potential. The programme is evidence-based and covers 
a whole range of activity including screening, immunisation, neuro-developmental reviews, 
information and guidance to support parenting and healthy choices, as well as action to 
improve health more generally.  The Healthy Child Programme underpins our work to 
improve the health of children in Lewisham and all that Lewisham Public Health and the 
Lewisham Children’s Partnership is striving to achieve for Lewisham’s children. HCP has a 
universal reach, but also aims to identify families who need additional support or are at risk 
of poor health outcomes and to address those needs.  Our challenge, therefore, in ensuring 
the present and future health of Lewisham’s children and young people is to do the best that 
we can to deliver the national Healthy Child Programme.

Lewisham’s Children and Young People’s Plan includes all the most important actions that 
members of our local strategic partnership for Children and Young People can take to 
improve children’s lives and life chances, and therefore their health.  I endorse and support 
the plan and recommend it to all those who would support the welfare of Lewisham’s 
children and young people.

Because of the nature of the collaboration between Lewisham Council’s Public Health Team 
and Children and Young People’s Directorate, the recommendations arising from the work 
underpinning this report have already been discussed with members of the Children’s 
Directorate.  For this reason, where this report identifies needs currently being addressed in 
the draft Children and Young People’s Plan, I recommend that these actions continue to be 
part of the Plan. Where my report identifies unmet needs, I have recommended that, within 
the resources available to the Partnership, they are taken into account in further 
development of the Plan.

Finally, in an appendix to this report, I have included a full set of our Public Health 
Dashboards.  These are meant to show at a glance the Lewisham experience in relation to a 
number of key areas for the Public Health.  Apart from the one which applies to child and 
maternal health, they all apply to the whole of Lewisham’s population, and are included here 
to inform readers of the state of the Public Health more generally in Lewisham. It might be 
helpful to read these in conjunction with the Appendix to my report from last year on Key 
Public Health Outcomes and Performance.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/167998/Health_Child_Programme.pdf


6

Lewisham’s Children
Lewisham is the second largest inner London borough, and is home to approximately 
291,900 residents1, 24% of whom are under 19 years of age (Table 1).

Table 1: Key Demographics
0-18 Total Population

Population 69,867 291,933
% of population BME2 63.4 46.5

The 2011 Census identified Lewisham as the 14th most ethnically diverse local authority 
nationally. Almost two thirds of those under 19 were members of a black or other minority 
ethnic (BME) group (Fig 1). There were equal numbers of residents from Black or White 
ethnic minority groups, with smaller numbers of residents from Asian groups.  There is 
considerable diversity within these broad ethnic groups locally. People from Black African 
and Black Caribbean groups, in particular, each form a significant proportion of Lewisham’s 
population. There are significant groups of people with an Eastern European or Vietnamese 
background. Overall, members of 94 ethnic groups make up Lewisham’s population.  

This local diversity makes for a vibrant population, rich in the cultures associated with its 
constituent BME populations. Children benefit from this wealth of different cultures, but this 
diversity also presents challenges in relation to public health promotion, public health 
programmes, and (crucially) in higher rates of certain conditions or a greater prevalence of 
certain risk behaviours. Lewisham children are also far more likely to have English as a 
second language. As the population grows, it continues to diversify, meaning that a multitude 
of nationalities, faiths and cultures with differing needs is emerging. In 2014, 74% of pupils in 
Lewisham schools were from a BME background3.

Figure 1: 0-19 Population by Broad Ethnic Group4

1 ONS 2014 Mid Year Population Estimates
2 0-19 BME - 2011 Census
3 Lewisham’s Children and Young People’s Directorate
4 2011 Census



7

Births and Population Growth
There has been a sustained rise in the birth rate in Lewisham for several years, reflecting a 
similar rise in London and the country as a whole. Each year, there are now around 5,000 
births to Lewisham women5.  Much of the rise in births has been in births to mothers who 
were not born in the UK, the Commonwealth or the EU. Over 50% of all births in Lewisham 
now occur to women born in countries other than the UK.

Although the rise in the numbers of births to Lewisham women is expected to cease and 
decline a little over the next decade or so,  because of the earlier rise in births, and the 
numbers of families who come to live in Lewisham, the numbers of children locally will 
continue to rise for many years. Using 2012 GLA projections, it is clear that Lewisham is a 
borough where this rise will be greater than in the country as a whole and will also be greater 
than in neighbouring London boroughs (Fig 2).

This rapid rise in the numbers of births and in the numbers of children locally has meant a 
huge challenge to local services in ensuring that all the needs of these children and their 
families are met.  There has had to be a considerable expansion in the number of school 
places, and in the provision of health services, particularly maternity services.  As the 
population of children in Lewisham continues to increase and become more diverse, the 
challenges will become ever greater over the next twenty years.

Figure 2: School Aged Population Projections (5-19 year olds) 

 

Source – GLA Projections 2012

Deprivation
There is now considerable evidence about the relationship between specific aspects of 
poverty on the one hand and deprivation and children’s health on the other. The specific 
aspects of poverty include poor housing, homelessness, unemployment, dependence on 
benefits, living in a deprived area, low income, multiple deprivation, all of which have a 
specific association with poor health in children and young people.

5 ONS - Birth Statistics



8

Lewisham is amongst the 20% of all local authority areas in England that are the most 
deprived. In the latest overall Index of Multiple Deprivation (2010) or IMD (the Department 
for Communities and Local Government’s combined score using all indices of deprivation) 
Lewisham’s average score was 30.97, which means the borough is the 31st most deprived 
in the country. In 2007 Lewisham was ranked 39th. There are areas of significant deprivation 
in the north, central and southern parts of the borough (Fig 3) the populations of which 
experience many of the problems associated with poverty. Looking in particular at income 
deprivation affecting children, 35 of the 166 super output areas (SOAs) in Lewisham are in 
the 10% of the SOAs in the country that are the most deprived. Bellingham, Downham, 
Evelyn, New Cross and Whitefoot wards have the highest concentrations of deprivation. 
Children in these areas in particular are at risk of poor outcomes in terms of education, 
employment and health. 

Figure 3: Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2010 - Lewisham Super Output Areas

Source: Department for Communities and Local Government 2011

Whilst there has been a decrease in the numbers of children living in poverty in Lewisham, 
over recent years, the difference between Lewisham’s children and those in London or 
England as a whole remains the same (Fig 4).  A significantly greater proportion of 
Lewisham’s children live in poverty than is the case in England as a whole.

Worst 20% in England

Best 20% in England



9

Figure 4: % of Children Aged under 16 in Poverty 

Source: HM Revenue and Customs  2012

Children in lone parent families are at a greater risk of poverty and therefore of poor health 
outcomes. The 2011 Census revealed that there were 13,239 lone parents households in 
Lewisham, an increase from 11,242 in 2001. We also know that in 2011 there were 7,599 
households with dependent children (6.5% of the total) where no adult was in employment. 
Almost 26% of children in Lewisham’s primary and secondary schools are in receipt of free 
School Meals, a proxy indicator for child poverty6. 

Housing
London has the highest child poverty rates and highest housing costs in the UK. This means 
that the capital has been hit particularly hard by changes to the benefits system, particularly 
cuts to housing benefit. 

As housing becomes less affordable, the risk of homelessness increases, as some people 
find it more difficult to find and sustain a tenancy. Homelessness can contribute to a number 
of physical and mental health problems in children. Firstly, as individuals and families are 
moved into temporary and less secure accommodation, overcrowding becomes more likely 
which can contribute to morbidity from respiratory infections and activation of tuberculosis.  If 
such accommodation is sub-standard and lacking efficient heating, adequate hot water 
supply, and adequate facilities for food storage and waste disposal, then the risk of the 
spread of infectious diseases is increased. Children living in poor and overcrowded housing 
are also at greater risk than other children of suffering anxiety and depression and other 
long-term health problems, and poor mental and physical development.  

Lewisham like all other London boroughs has high levels of residents in temporary 
accommodation as a result of the housing crisis and the shortage of housing supply. 
Overcrowding in Lewisham, like most other London boroughs, has increased since 2001 

6 Lewisham’s Children and Young People’s Directorate



10

when 17.6% of local households were in accommodation deemed overcrowded to 22.2% in 
2011. However there were fewer homes without central heating, down to 3.3% in 20117.
 
Private renting has seen a 10% increase between the two censuses to 24% of Lewisham 
residents renting their housing privately in 2011. Based on 2011 Census data, 31% of 
Lewisham residents lived in social housing; this is a notable decrease from the position in 
2001 when this figure was 36%. More recent data compiled by Lewisham’s Housing 
Department found that in the last ten years the private rented sector (PRS) in Lewisham has 
more than doubled in size and continues to grow. It is of note that more than half of people 
living in the PRS in Lewisham are under 34. The feature of the PRS which is of most 
concern are Homes in Multiple Occupations (HMOs). In Lewisham, there are an estimated 
13,410 HMOs and of these, 7,880 are houses that are poorly converted to flats, while 4,830 
are shared by more than one family or contain multiple households.

Homeless children are at risk of depression, behavioural problems and poor educational 
attainment.  A significantly greater proportion of families in Lewisham are homeless than is 
the case in England as a whole.  In 2013/2014 a total of 640 Lewisham households including 
dependent children or a pregnant woman were homeless8.

Education
There is clear evidence that a good education can lead to better mental and physical
health, and that poor health inhibits learning. Education can help overcome social and
economic disadvantages and so help combat health risks associated with poverty and
social exclusion.

The latest Educational attainment data will be inserted here.

Table 2: GCSE Attainment - data to be inserted

Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET)9 also to be inserted.

Health
The major threats to the health of Lewisham’s children are discussed in individual chapters 
of this report, but there are other health issues worthy of attention.  Two issues that are 
discussed in this chapter are asthma and sickle cell disease.  

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust has recently performed an analysis of all attendances 
and admissions of children at Lewisham Hospital’s children’s ward, children’s day care unit 
and children’s emergency department . In the year 2014/2015, the two conditions that 
accounted for the greatest number of such admissions and attendances were asthma and 
Sickle Cell Disease (Fig 5).  

Figure 5: Long Term Condition Admissions and Attendances at University Hospital 
Lewisham 2014-15

7 2011 Census
8 Lewisham Housing Register - 2015
9 Department for Education



11

Series 1

Long term condition

N
um

be
r 

of
 a

dm
is

si
on

s 
an

d 
at

te
nd

an
ce

s 

Source: Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust

Lewisham has had a high rate of paediatric asthma admissions for over a decade.  Between 
2003 and 2012 it had an average of 303 admissions per 100,000 of the population, 
compared to 220/100,000 for London and 249/100,000 for England. To understand the high 
admission rate and identify modifiable factors to improve admission rates and care of 
asthmatic children, an audit of paediatric asthma admissions in Lewisham Hospital took 
place in October 2014.The audit also aimed to identify key links between different services 
and the results of the audit have been used to develop a new paediatric asthma pathway 
that will ensure a good understanding of the roles and responsibilities of each area of care, 
and the links between community, primary, secondary and tertiary care. It will also provide 
guidance and support for clinical staff when they are dealing with a child with asthma and 
should ensure that excellent care for children is provided across all areas. 

The Public Health team at Lewisham Council, Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust and 
Lewisham CCG are now to work together to further develop and implement the asthma care 
pathway and to develop a new care pathway to improve the care of children with sickle cell 
disease so as to improve the control of this condition and to avoid admission or attendance 
at emergency department.

Recommendations  - Lewisham’s Children
 Over recent years, there has been huge growth in the numbers of children living in 

Lewisham.  Lewisham is a young borough, and benefits greatly from this. But such a 
large increase over a relatively short time-scale has been a challenge for those 
planning and providing services for Lewisham’s children.   In years to come the 
population of children will continue to rise, and the Children and Young People’s Plan 
should continue to take into account the needs of a rapidly growing population.



12

 Lewisham’s children form one of the most diverse and vibrant populations of children 
in the UK.  This means that they can experience a huge range of cultures within 
Lewisham and benefit from this.  But there are also challenges associated with this 
feature of life in Lewisham.  These challenges, together with the rapid rise in 
Lewisham’s population of children, and the challenges of poverty and other elements 
of toxic stress that a greater proportion of Lewisham’s children  experience than 
children in England generally, should continue to influence the development of the 
Children and Young People’s Plan.

 The work already commenced on the development of care pathways for children with 
asthma or with sickle cell disease should continue, and all partners should contribute 
to their implementation.



13

Outcomes of Pregnancy

Both Lewisham’s birth rate and the fertility rate amongst women in Lewisham are greater 
than the average for London and then the country as a whole (Table 1). Although the local 
birth rate is expected to plateau and decline towards the latter half of this decade, the 
population of children, in particular those aged 5 to 14, will continue to rise for the 
foreseeable future because of the previous rise in births10.

Ensuring the availability of high quality maternity services for a population experiencing such 
rapid increase in growth, which is so diverse and where much greater numbers of people 
experience deprivation than in England as a whole is not without its challenges.  Deprivation 
is associated with increased rates of stillbirth, premature delivery, low birth weight babies, 
neonatal deaths and infant mortality. Because of this, women in Lewisham are at greater risk 
of these outcomes than women from more affluent areas.  Levels of poor outcomes of 
pregnancy are therefore higher than the national average (Table 1). Evidence suggests that 
early access to antenatal care is important in improving outcomes of pregnancy. Locally, the 
emphasis has therefore been on early and direct access to maternity care and on improved 
maternity services to help improve outcomes for mothers and babies.

Table 1: Summary of Outcomes of Pregnancy 

Lewisham London England Measure

Lewisham 
compared to 

England
Crude Birth 
Rate (2014) 16.3 14.9 12.2 Per 1,000 

population Higher

General 
Fertility Rate 
(2014) 

65.8 63.3 62.2

Number of live 
births per 
1,000 women 
aged 15-44 

Higher

Stillbirth rate
(2011-13) 6.1 6.0 4.9 Per 1,000 Higher

Proportion of 
babies 
weighing 
<2500 grams11 
(2013)

7.8 7.9 7.4 % of all births Higher

Neonatal 
mortality rate 3.1 3.0 2.9 Per 1,000 

(2011-13) Higher

Source: ONS, unless indicated otherwise in Table and footnotes.

Over time, the outcomes of pregnancy in Lewisham have been improving:

 Stillbirth rates in London and England have fallen in recent years. This is also the 
case in Lewisham, where the stillbirth rate has fallen faster than London’s and is now 
directly comparable with that for the Capital as a whole.

10 GLA Projections
11 HSCIC



14

 In Lewisham, the proportion of births where the baby is of low birth weight has 
decreased over time and is now similar to the London average, but it is still higher 
than the national average.

The commissioning of maternity services in Lewisham is now managed for Lewisham 
Clinical Commissioning Group by the joint commissioning team based in the Children and 
Young People’s Directorate at the Council. This means that work on improving outcomes of 
pregnancy can be even better integrated with work on improving health outcomes for 
children through health care services that are also jointly commissioned by the same team.

Pre-conception
Ideally, women and their partners will be in the best possible health, both mentally and 
physically before they embark on a pregnancy. Lewisham’s Public Health team have 
developed an internet-based resource called, Thinking of Having a Baby. This aims to 
support women and their partners who are planning a pregnancy and to direct them to 
national and local help and information should they decide to make lifestyle or behavioural 
changes in preparation for pregnancy or if they have long term conditions requiring specialist 
advice.

Healthy weight
Maternal obesity increases the risk of poor pregnancy outcomes including miscarriage and 
other serious complications such as gestational diabetes, hypertension, pre-eclampsia and 
caesarean birth. Data obtained from Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT) for 2013-
2014 indicates that maternal obesity rates are lower than those recorded in 2010-2012 
(43.5% of women at their booking appointment identified as overweight or obese compared 
to over 50%). Training of midwives on raising awareness of maternal obesity and on how to 
communicate benefits of a healthy weight to pregnant women is part of the mandatory 
training at Lewisham Hospital and all midwives have attended annual updates.

In addition to pre-conception information, there are a number of other initiatives to help 
women to reach and maintain a healthy weight. The Public Health team have worked with 
Lewisham CCG and with Lewisham Hospital to design an improved care pathway for 
overweight and obese women who choose to have their babies at the Hospital.  This has 
been the subject of what is known as a CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) 
which provides an incentive to providers to improve performance.

Low birth-weight 
Low birth-weight is associated with a significantly increased risk of stillbirth and perinatal 
mortality as well as adverse effects into childhood and adult life.  A planned programme to 
reduce the low birth-weight rate in Lewisham had as its focus early attendance for antenatal 
care and a reduction in the prevalence of smoking during pregnancy.  This indicator has 
declined over time in Lewisham so that the most recent figures for Lewisham are 
comparable to London and England as a whole. (Fig 1)

https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/health/becoming-a-parent/Pages/Thinking-about-getting-pregnant.aspx


15

Figure 1: % Low Birth Weight Babies

Source: ONS

Prematurity
A number of low birth-weight babies are pre-term, and prematurity, particularly extreme 
prematurity is the single most important cause of death in Lewisham children12. The pre-term 
rate is not collected by borough or nationally but the rate for LGT is 7.8%13 against a national 
rate of 7.3% quoted by Tommy’s, a national charity that aims to fund research and provide 
information on the causes of miscarriage, premature birth and stillbirth.14

A collaborative programme has recently commenced in Lewisham with the aim of better 
understanding the factors that may contribute to prematurity in order to design appropriate 
interventions. This work is supported by the Collaborative Leadership in Applied Health 
Research and Care (CLAHRC) and its impact will be closely monitored.

Smoking
Smoking is harmful to mothers and babies. It increases the risk of miscarriage, pre-term 
birth, low birth-weight and stillbirth. Risks of sudden unexplained deaths in infancy (SUDI), 
and of asthma, respiratory and ear infections in childhood are significantly increased if one 
or both parents smoke.

Lewisham maternity services operate an ‘opt-out’ smoking referral system in which all 
women who at their first antenatal appointment report that they smoke are automatically 
referred to Stop Smoking services unless they specifically op-out. There has also been a 
programme of brief intervention training for all midwives, support workers and health visitors 
in the local maternity provider, and until recently a stop smoking update was part of 
mandatory annual training for all midwives The Stop Smoking team are currently engaged in 

12 Lewisham Child Death Overview Panel Annual Report 2013/14. Dr Donal O’Sullivan and Helen 
Leahy.
13 Data provided by Lewisham and Greenwich Hospital Trust. February 2015.
14 www.tommys.org.uk



16

a programme to extend the training to other professional groups including obstetricians and 
children’s centre staff. In addition, a number of carbon monoxide monitors have been 
purchased by the team for use by midwives in line with NICE guidance though this is not 
fully implemented yet.

Locally, in 2013/2014 6% of women were reported to be smoking at time of delivery. This is 
slightly above the London average but considerably lower than the national average of 12% 
(Fig 2).  This indicator has been declining over time in Lewisham.

Figure 2: % of Women Smoking at Time of Delivery

Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre

Alcohol in pregnancy
It has been known for many years that alcohol can damage a developing baby and that high 
levels of alcohol consumption in pregnancy can cause Foetal Alcohol Syndrome which leads 
to damage to the baby’s brain and may impair subsequent development. There has however 
been no conclusive evidence about exactly what constitutes safe levels of drinking in 
pregnancy and therefore NICE guidance states that pregnant women and women planning a 
pregnancy should abstain from alcohol completely in the first 3 months of pregnancy and 
thereafter; if they cannot abstain, they should be advised to drink no more than one to two 
UK units of alcohol once or twice a week.

Public Health Lewisham have supported the introduction of an alcohol assessment tool to be 
used when women book for maternity care which enables a discussion with the pregnant 
women, advice and onward referral if appropriate. This assessment tool has now been 



17

incorporated into the new hand-held maternity notes and specific training on risk assessment 
has been provided for key staff members.

Perinatal mental health
Improvement of perinatal mental health is both a local and national priority. It is estimated 
that up to 20% of women in the UK develop a mental health problem in pregnancy or within 
a year of giving birth.15 In Lewisham this would equate to approximately 1,019 affected 
women.16 It is recognised that perinatal mental health problems in women have a huge 
personal impact on them and their families. Nationally it is estimated that perinatal mental 
health issues cost 8.1 billion pounds in the UK every year with 72% of those costs being 
related to the impact on children.

The Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL) programme has mapped services in SE 
London. In Lewisham, there is a specialist midwifery service, called the Kaleidoscope team, 
which is for women with serious mental health problems and who are booked to deliver a 
baby at University Hospital Lewisham. For women with moderate mental health problems 
and other vulnerable women, there is a Pregnancy Support Team which is a multi-agency 
team designed to identify and offer additional support to women who are vulnerable both in 
pregnancy and after the baby is born.

The OHSEL mapping exercise identified that improvements are still required in terms of 
information available to women regarding psychiatric medication in pregnancy, staff training 
regarding perinatal mental illness and improved access to psychological therapy.
Lewisham Maternity Services Liaison Committee (MSLC) have voted improvement to 
perinatal mental health as their priority and are currently working on improved information to 
women and their partners in the form of a web-site detailing all the support available in 
Lewisham. Perinatal mental health and parental mental health needs more generally are 
now also included in the work to help improve the mental health and well-being of children in 
Lewisham. The PH team have worked with the CCG and LGT to improve support and 
appropriate referral of vulnerable pregnant women generally including those identified as 
having mental health issues and/or drug or alcohol addiction. This was the subject of a 
CQUIN, as described above, in 2014/15 and has been continued into 2015/16.

Antenatal and newborn screening
Screening is a programme of testing apparently healthy people for health problems where 
early action may be beneficial. The national screening programme in England offers 
pregnant women testing for Down’s Syndrome, fetal abnormalities, sickle cell and 
thalassaemia disease. It also offers pregnant women testing for HIV, hepatitis B, syphilis and 
rubella (German measles). Newborn babies are screened for fetal abnormalities by physical 
examination of the newborn, hearing screening and newborn bloodspot screening.

15 Perinatal Mental Health: The costs of perinatal mental health problems. The Maternal and Mental Health 
Alliance. 2014.
16 Establishing service provision in SE London for perinatal mental health. Our Healthier SE London. April 2015



18

Prevention of Infectious Diseases
In 2014, Lewisham CCG commissioned the midwifery service at Lewisham Hospital to help 
improve the uptake of immunisation of pregnant women against influenza and pertussis 
(whooping cough).  The immunisation of pregnant women against both of these diseases is 
part of the national immunisation programme because of the high risk of severe disease in 
pregnant women who acquire influenza and because of the current risk to neonates because 
of a higher incidence of pertussis in the community.  The latter, combined with declining 
immunity in adults, particularly in pregnant women, means that babies are not protected 
because of passive transfer of antibodies across the placenta and at greater risk because 
their mother might develop disease. This local initiative was successful in relation to 
influenza.  Lewisham’s uptake of the vaccine in 2014/2015 meant that the Borough ranked 
fourth in London and achieved an increase of 11% over the previous year’s performance.  
The initiative was less successful in improving uptake of pertussis vaccine.

Recommendations - Outcomes of Pregnancy

• It is estimated that approximately 50% of pregnancies are planned, which in 
Lewisham would equate to around 2,500 planned pregnancies per year. All care 
providers and agencies in contact with child bearing women should ensure that the 
pre-conception web-based resource is promoted and that in cases where women 
have a long term condition, their specialist health team should work with them to 
ensure they are in the best possible health prior to embarking on a pregnancy 
including advice on management of medication.

• Access to maternity care before the tenth completed week of pregnancy is 
recommended by NICE17 and by National Screening Committee guidelines18. This is 
in order to maximise the best outcomes for mothers and their babies but also in order 
that when medical or social risk factors are identified, appropriate support can be put 
in place as early as possible. Commissioners and maternity providers, supported by 
the public health team, will continue to work together to ensure that systems and 
processes are working effectively and regularly reviewed in order that all Lewisham 
women can access maternity care easily and as early in their pregnancy as possible.  
The current agreed target relates to the numbers of women who access antenatal 
care before 12 weeks and six days of pregnancy has elapsed.  Once this has been 
achieved, there will be an even greater focus on maximising the numbers who attend 
before the end of the tenth week.

• Smoking in pregnancy remains the major modifiable risk factor contributing to low 
birthweight and is a significant risk factor for pre-term birth.1920 It is essential that the 
opt-out referral to stop smoking services and carbon monoxide (CO) monitoring is in 
place for all pregnant women and that this will be carefully monitored by providers 
and commissioners.

• The two-year local maternity CQUIN on complex social risk factors in pregnancy 
recognises that young women, women with mental health issues, women with drug 

17 NICE Antenatal Quality Standards. 2015.
18 NHS Antenatal and Newborn Screening Committee_Key Messages_February 2015
19 Prevention of low birthweight:assessing the effectiveness of smoking cessation and nutritional interventions. 
Health Development Agency. 2003
20 Ash Fact Sheet: Smoking and Reproduction. August 2013

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/health/parenting/becoming-a-parent/Pages/Thinking-about-getting-pregnant.aspx


19

and alcohol issues, women who disclose domestic abuse and recent arrived migrant 
women are a group that are particularly vulnerable and that those issues, if 
unaddressed can have a profound effect on the woman’s health and wellbeing and 
that of her unborn child in pregnancy, labour and thereafter. Work to improve care to 
this client group will be shared by providers and commissioners in order that 
improvements are as effective as possible and sustained.

• Perinatal mental health is a local and national priority and this year saw the 1001 
Critical Days campaign21 gain momentum supported by politicians of all parties. 
Following the SE London mapping exercise, commissioners and providers will 
continue to ensure that Lewisham women experiencing all levels of mental health 
problems receive appropriate and sensitive information and support and that service-
users including the MSLC are actively involved in planning and monitoring service 
improvements in this area. Training of staff and their knowledge of local mental 
health support services is particularly important. Attention should be paid to ensuring 
that information is also available to partners and families of women who may be 
experiencing mental health problems.

• Lewisham’s Public Health team will continue to work with NHSE, PHE and local 
providers to ensure that Lewisham women and babies receive antenatal and 
newborn screening that is in line with national standards.

• Finally, the recommendations outlined in this chapter are included in the Maternity 
Specification document due for completion by the end of October 2015. The 
specification includes specific methods of measuring that the recommendations 
included here translate into improvements in care that are experienced by Lewisham 
women and their families.

21 1001criticaldays.co.uk



20

Immunisation

Active immunisation using modern vaccines remains one of the most cost effective 
healthcare interventions.  Through its use, some of the most important diseases in the 
history of mankind have been eradicated, or eliminated in large parts of the world.  Active 
immunisation has been named one of the ten greatest public health achievements in the 
twentieth century, and the World Health Organisation has identified immunisation as being 
outranked only by the provision of safe food and water, and effective sanitation as the best 
means of the prevention of disease.

As a country, we have embraced this hugely valuable means of preventing disease, so that 
certain diseases, once major causes of death and morbidity, are now virtually unknown in 
the UK. Earlier generations will remember, for example, the deadly scourge of diphtheria, or 
the dreadful effects of the polio pandemics of the middle of the twentieth century.  In the UK, 
there are clear mechanisms for agreeing and implementing the national immunisation 
programme.  NHS England has a major role in commissioning immunisation services, but 
much effort is also required at local level if the national immunisation programme is to be 
successful.  NHS England has recently developed an action plan to improve uptake of 
vaccine in Lewisham. This action plan has been agreed with Lewisham Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and Lewisham Council’s Public Health team; Lewisham and 
Greenwich NHS Trust was also consulted. 

This year sees some major changes to the national immunisation schedule. The Influenza 
immunisation programme is being extended to all children in Reception and in Years 1 & 2.  
This will be the first time this century that primary schools will be involved in a major 
immunisation programme.  The programme’s aim is to protect children from influenza and to 
prevent spread from children to older members of the population. The vaccine will be given 
by intranasal spray, rather than by injection, but even so - this will be a major logistical 
challenge for the School Aged Nursing Service.  This year also sees the introduction of a 
vaccine against group B meningococcal disease. Group B Meningococcus is the most 
important bacterial cause of meningitis in this country.  This vaccine is a major advance in 
the prevention of this serious disease in children; it will be given to infants in their first year of 
life by their GP practice. School nurses will also be introducing vaccine against group A,C,W 
and Y meningococcal disease into the secondary school immunisation programme so as to 
protect children against Group C and Group W forms of disease, the latter having seen an 
upsurge in recent years.   
   
In Lewisham, uptake of immunisation has been poor in the past, but in recent years, 
increasing uptake has been secured by concerted local efforts.  Lewisham, once the worst 
borough in London, is now at or above the London average uptake for all vaccines of 
childhood, except for the second dose of MMR at five years of age (Table 1). Challenges 
remain; however, both in getting uptake to levels that are as good as possible, and high 
enough to ensure what is known as herd immunity – or the levels of uptake that will prevent 
significant spread of an organism within a population.  Immunisation, therefore, remains a 
priority for the whole children’s partnership.



21

Table 1: Key Immunisation Indicators

Vaccine Target 2014-15 
Q1

2014-15 
Q2

2014-15 
Q3

2014-15 
Q4

London 
(2014/15 Q4)

England 
(2014/15 Q4)

D3 at 1 year 91.9% 90.0% 90.6% 91.0% 92.2% 90.3% 94.1%

D3 at 2 years N/A 92.3% 94.1% 94.2% 94.4% 92.6% 95.6%

MMR1 at 2 years 90.8% 85.5% 87.2% 88.9% 90.0% 86.5% 92.0%

Hib/MenC booster at 
2 years

90.3% 83.1% 85.9% 86.9% 86.3% 86.3% 92.1%

PCV booster at 2 
years

90.8% 83.8% 85.4% 87.3% 86.0% 85.7% 92.1%

D3 at 5 years N/A 92.8% 94.7% 92.6% 93.9% 92.3% 95.7%

MMR1 at 5 years N/A 89.3% 92.1% 89.8% 94.4% 90.5% 94.5%

D4 at 5 years 91.1% 76.2% 80.4% 78.5% 83.5% 77.0% 88.4%

MMR2 at 5 years 91.1% 70.8% 72.6% 71.6% 71.0% 80.1% 88.6%

• Hib/ MenC and PCV boosters (bstr) are given at 12 months and aim to protect children against Haemophilus 
influenzae B, Group C Meningococcus and Pneumococcus.  An explanation of other vaccines is given in the 
following sections of this chapter.

Source: Cover of vaccination evaluated rapidly (COVER) programme

Uptake of flu vaccine in Lewisham in 2014/2015 was considerably better than in previous 
years. At the end of January 2015, local uptake showed improvements for all the main 
groups targeted. Particular progress was made on uptake in pregnant women in Lewisham: 
the Borough ranked fourth in London and achieved an increase of 11% over last year’s 
performance. This means that Lewisham was the most improved borough in London. The 
service commissioned by the Clinical Commissioning Group to improve uptake in pregnant 
women, and provided by maternity services at Lewisham Hospital, clearly had an important 
impact.

Although there are parents who still question vaccination, training provided in partnership 
with Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust helps health care professionals to be able to 
respond to parental concerns, to give reassurance or direct them to evidence-based 
information sources and websites and the Immunisation experts in the Trust.

Age 0-4
Shortly after birth, all parents of Lewisham children are offered BCG vaccine, which helps 
protect children against the most severe forms of Tuberculosis (TB).  Uptake of this vaccine 
in Lewisham is between 75 and 80%. This compares favourably with other London 
Boroughs, but is not as good as some, where the vaccine is given at birth by midwives.  A 
change to the local arrangements is currently under investigation.  Also, at birth, children 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/cover-of-vaccination-evaluated-rapidly-cover-programme-2014-to-2015-quarterly-data


22

who are high risk of contracting Hepatitis B are immunised against this disease. Local levels 
of uptake of this vaccine in this group of children are amongst the highest in the country.

Uptake of the third dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D3) is an indicator of completion of the 
primary course of immunisation of children under 12 months that aims to protect children 
against diphtheria, tetanus, whooping cough, polio, Haemophilus influenzae b and Group C 
Meningococcus.  It is, arguably, the most important of all immunisation indicators in children.  
There has been a continued improvement in this measure in Lewisham so that Lewisham is 
now approaching the average level of uptake for England (Fig 1).

Figure 1: Percentage Uptake of Diphtheria Vaccine at 1 Year 

Source: COVER

Rotavirus vaccine was introduced in 2014. This vaccine protects babies against one of the 
most common causes of gastroenteritis in infants.  Lewisham was one of just three London 
Boroughs which reported on uptake – at a level of 93.4%.

MMR vaccine is designed to protect children against measles, mumps and rubella.  Two 
doses are required: MMR1 at 12 months and MMR2 at any time after three months have 
elapsed since MMR1, but preferably before five years of age.  Uptake of MMR1 has varied 
over recent years, but there has been a sustained upward trend more recently, so that for 
this vaccine too, Lewisham’s uptake is approaching national levels (Fig 2).  Uptake of MMR2 
at the age of five, is, however, unacceptably low and is not improving (Fig 3).  This now 
needs to be the focus of increased attention.



23

Figure 2: Percentage Uptake of Diphtheria Vaccine at 5 Years

Source: COVER

Figure 3: Percentage Uptake of MMR2 at 5 Years

Source: COVER

Age 5-11
D4 is the fourth dose of diphtheria vaccine and is a key component of the preschool booster. 
This should be given at any time from the age of three years and four months but before the 
child starts school.  The preschool booster completes the protection of children against 
diphtheria, tetanus, whooping cough and polio.  Uptake of this vaccine in Lewisham has 



24

shown the greatest level of improvement in uptake over recent years, and once more, 
Lewisham is approaching national levels of uptake (Fig 4).  Uptake of this vaccine has been 
the subject of a major programme of improvement by Lewisham Clinical Commissioning 
Group.

Figure 4: Percentage Uptake of Diphtheria 4 at 5 Years

Source: COVER

It is reassuring to see that Lewisham is now at or above the London average for all COVER 
indicators, except for MMR2 at five years.  It is very frustrating that MMR2 at five years 
remains such a problem, especially given the improvement in uptake of pre-school booster 
and the fact that over 90% have received MMR2 by the age of 6 years. There remain many 
other challenges too, of course, and the quest for excellence means that the Lewisham 
Partnership has to do even better. In absolute terms we will continue to work to increase 
uptake so as to achieve herd immunity.

Age 12-18
Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccine protects girls against those strains of this organism 
most important as a cause of cervical cancer.  It also protects girls against genital warts 
caused by these strains.  Although there was a drop in the uptake of the third and final dose 
of HPV vaccine in Year 8 girls in the 2013/2014 school year cohort (Fig 5), in fact this was 
not as bad as originally feared and Lewisham’s final position was good in comparison with 
the rest of London - 11th overall.  Nevertheless, a return to an increasing trend in the uptake 
of this vaccine is to be the focus a programme of improvement for the school year 
2015/2016.  The evidence-based reduction in the number of doses to two, agreed as part of 
the national programme should help with this.



25

Figure 5: Percentage of females aged 12-13 who have received all three doses of HPV 
Vaccine

Recommendations - Immunisation

For the foreseeable future the Children and Young People’s Plan should continue to prioritise the 
following:

 Implementation of the NHS England Action Plan for Immunisation in Lewisham.
 Improving uptake of MMR2 at five in Lewisham, with an emphasis on supporting and 

encouraging GP practices through new co-commisssioning arrangements and 
commissioning on a population basis through the new care networks

 Increased efforts to sustain and improve uptake of HPV vaccine 
 Continued efforts to improve uptake of all vaccines, again with an emphasis on utilising new 

commissioning opportunities.  .
 Introduction of vaccines against group B meningococcal disease and against group W 

disease.
 Introduction of a programme to immunise all children in Reception year and in Years 1 and 

2 against influenza.
 Systems changes in relation to neonatal BCG programme



26

Achieving a Healthy Weight

Overweight and obesity, lack of physical activity and poor nutrition present a major challenge 
to the current and future health and wellbeing of children and young people in Lewisham.

Lewisham has a high proportion of children identified as overweight or very overweight 
(obese) with the prevalence significantly higher than the England average22.  Obese children 
are more likely to be ill, be absent from school due to illness, experience health-related 
limitations and require more medical care than children of normal weight. Overweight and 
obese children are also more likely to become obese adults and early appearance of 
obesity-related health problems associated with middle age.

Prevention of weight problems and early intervention is important as obesity once 
established is difficult to treat. Prevention of obesity is, therefore, a key component of the 
Healthy Child Programme. The causes of obesity are complex, however, and the prevention 
and treatment of obesity have up to recently focused on pharmacological, educational and 
behavioural interventions with limited overall success. A longer-term approach, 
recommended by NIHCE, would be to tackle environments that promote high energy intake 
and sedentary behaviour - obesogenic environments. The evidence demonstrates that such 
environments mean it is easy to eat more, move less and gain weight.   

The strongest predictor for childhood obesity is parental obesity: only 3% of obese children 
have parents who are not obese23. Children with one or two obese parents are more likely to 
become obese and remain obese into adulthood. However income, social deprivation and 
ethnicity also have an important impact on the likelihood of an adult or a child becoming 
obese.

Lifestyle and behaviour choices of adults and children are important factors in influencing 
weight status. There is evidence that eating habits are perpetuated through families and 
cultures, and are often maintained from child through to adulthood. There is also a proven 
link between active mothers and active children.

It is important that children have a healthy balanced diet. National surveys show that overall 
the population (including children) is still consuming too much saturated fat, added sugars 
and salt and not enough fruit, vegetables, oily fish and fibre24.

The World Health Organisation recommends exclusive breastfeeding for the first six months. 
Babies who are not breastfed have an increased risk of obesity, diabetes, respiratory 
infections, gastroenteritis and Sudden Infant Death Syndrome. Women who do not breast 
feed have and increased risk of breast and ovarian cancer. 

It is known that physical activity is important for good health throughout life, and should be 
encouraged from birth. Inactivity contributes to obesity, long term health conditions and 
premature death. Local data is not available on activity patterns of children but national 

22 National Child Measurement Programme 2013/14
23 International Journal of Obesity (2009)
24 New National Diet and Nutrition Survey (2014)



27

surveys show that only a small proportion (20%) of children aged 5 to15 years meet the 
Government recommendation for physical activity. Children are leading increasingly 
sedentary lifestyles and low levels of physical activity in children are related to household 
income, with those in the lowest income bracket more likely to report low levels of activity.
 
Childhood obesity
The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) is a statutory public health function of 
local authorities. In Lewisham the school nursing team of Lewisham and Greenwich NHS 
Trust (LGT) are commissioned to deliver the programme. The NCMP involves the 
measurement of the height and weight of all children in Reception and Year 6 in schools 
each year.  In 2013/14 over 6,100 children were measured (3,487 in Reception and 2,672 in 
Year 6). The high participation rate in Lewisham (94%  - the national target is 85%) means 
that robust data is collected, providing valuable information about the trends in children in 
Lewisham, and which will be used to help plan and deliver services.

In Lewisham childhood obesity rates remain significantly higher than the average for 
England. In 2013/14 Lewisham was again in the top quintile (highest fifth) of Local Authority 
obesity prevalence rates for Year 6. Rates in Reception have improved and Lewisham is 
now in the second quintile. The latest NCMP results (2013/14) show that 10.8% of children 
in Reception are at risk of obesity and this rises to 24.3% in Year 6. As in previous years the 
proportion of obese children in Year 6 was more than double that of Reception year children. 
This is similar to the national results. Local analysis of the data reveals that for the eight 
years data have been collected (2006/07 to 2013/14) there is slight variability but no 
consistent trend over the period in obesity rates in Reception or Year 6 children (Figures 1 
and 2). There is, however, considerable variation in these rates across London, with 
Lewisham rates towards the centre of this variation (Figures 3 and 4). Over the next five 
years the Lewisham Children’s Partnership seeks to achieve a sustained downward trend in 
the prevalence of unhealthy weight in children by taking a life course approach to prevention, 
early intervention and weight management.

Figure 1: Percentage of School Children in Reception who are Obese - 2006/7 to 2013/14 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

Lewisham

London

England

http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-programme/data#page/0


28

Figure 2: Percentage of School Children in Year 6 who are Obese – 2006/7 to 2013/14

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

2
0

0
6

/
0

7

2
0

0
7

/
0

8

2
0

0
8

/
0

9

2
0

0
9

/
1

0

2
0

1
0

/
1

1

2
0

1
1

/
1

2

2
0

1
2

/
1

3

2
0

1
3

/
1

4

Lewisham

London

England

Figure 3: Obesity in Reception Year -  2013/14

England

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

H
a

ck
n

e
y

B
re

n
t

G
re

e
n

w
ic

h

S
o

u
th

w
a

rk

L
a

m
b

e
th

W
a

lt
h

a
m

F
o

re
st

C
ro

y
d

o
n

L
e

w
is

h
a

m

L
o

n
d

o
n

Is
li

n
g

to
n

H
a

ri
n

g
e

y

H
a

m
m

e
rs

m
it

h
&

 F
u

lh
a

m



29

Figure 4: Obesity in Year 6 - 2013/14

England

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

S
o

u
th

w
ar

k

H
ac

kn
ey

G
re

en
w

ic
h

La
m

b
et

h

B
re

n
t

Le
w

is
h

am

W
al

th
am

Fo
re

st

C
ro

yd
o

n

H
ar

in
g

ey

H
am

m
er

sm
it

h
&

 F
u

lh
am

Lo
n

d
o

n

Is
lin

g
to

n

Age 0-4

Maternal obesity
Maternal obesity increases the risk of poor outcomes of pregnancy and is a risk factor for 
childhood obesity. Data obtained from Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT) for 2013 - 
2014 indicates that maternal obesity rates are lower than those recorded in 2010 - 2012 
(43.5% of women at their booking appointment overweight or obese compared to over 50%). 
To promote the benefits of a healthy lifestyle for those planning a pregnancy a web-based 
resource is now available on the council website. Training of midwives on raising awareness 
of maternal obesity and how to communicate benefits of a healthy weight to pregnant 
women was part of the mandatory training at LGT and all midwives attended annual 
updates.  Post natal women with a BMI above 25 (overweight) are able to access free weight 
management support as part of the children’s weight management pathway and Weight 
Watchers by referral scheme.

Breastfeeding
There is good evidence of the health benefits of breastfeeding for both mother and baby.  
The benefits include a reduced risk of gastroenteritis, respiratory infections, obesity, 
diabetes, maternal breast and ovarian cancer.  Breastfeeding also provides an opportunity to 
help attachment between mother and baby and can protect the child from maternal neglect.

Measures to support parents with feeding their babies in Lewisham include:
 Nine breastfeeding community cafes in Lewisham. Seven of these are run as 

‘Baby café local’ drop-ins supporting nearly 800 new mothers and over 2,000 
attendances during January to December 2014.  

 A successful breastfeeding peer support programme resulting in 38 active 
volunteer peer supporters helping to support mothers in the breastfeeding 
community cafes and on the postnatal ward in Lewisham Hospital. 



30

 The Breastfeeding Welcome scheme is currently being implemented in 
Lewisham. All Lewisham Libraries and Leisure Centres have signed up to 
become Breastfeeding Welcome venues in addition to 20 local businesses 
including Lewisham Shopping Centre. 

Some mothers are unable to breastfeed, or do not want to. It is important that whilst we 
encourage and support all mothers to breastfeed we also offer support to those not 
breastfeeding, to enable them to make informed choices about other methods of feeding for 
their babies.

Increasing breastfeeding rates and the proportion of babies exclusively breastfed at 6-8 
weeks is a key priority for Lewisham. Lewisham is working toward achieving Baby Friendly 
accreditation, a scheme run by UNICEF to increase levels of breastfeeding through the 
implementation of the Baby Friendly practice standards. The stage two UNICEF Baby 
Friendly community award was achieved in February 2014 and the stage two maternity 
award in August 2014. Both services, supported by Lewisham’s children’s centres, are now 
working towards stage 3 assessment, planned for October 2015, achieving this will result in 
full accreditation. 

In Lewisham prevalence of breastfeeding initiation and at 6-8 weeks is consistently higher 
than the England average, but prevalence of breastfeeding, including exclusive 
breastfeeding is similar to other London boroughs (Figs 5 and 625).

Figure 5: Trends in Breastfeeding Initiation and Breastfeeding Prevalence at 6-8 week

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

20
12

/1
3 

Q
1

20
12

/1
3 

Q
2

20
12

/1
3 

Q
3

20
12

/1
3 

Q
4

20
13

/1
4 

Q
1

20
13

/1
4 

Q
2

20
13

/1
4 

Q
3

20
13

/1
4 

Q
4

20
14

/1
5 

Q
1

20
14

/1
5 

Q
2

20
14

/1
5 

Q
3

20
14

/1
5 

Q
4

Initiated

Totally or
partially
breastfed

Totally
breastfed

25 NHS England, empty markers mean that data for that quarter did not meet validation criteria



31

Figure 6: Exclusive Breastfeeding Prevalence, comparison to other London Boroughs - 
Q4 2014/15

17.2%

22.7%

27.2%

38.0%

41.7%

44.2%

44.9%

45.7%

49.0%

51.1%

51.2%

56.0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Greenwich

Waltham Forest

Barking & Dagenham

Croydon

Wandsworth

Brent

Lewisham

Southwark

Lambeth

City & Hackney

Islington

Hammersmith & Fulham

Vitamin D
The universal vitamin D scheme (Free D) aims to reduce the growing number of cases of 
vitamin D deficiency and rickets in Lewisham.  All pregnant  women and women who have 
given birth in the previous 12 months, and all children under four are eligible for Healthy 
Start vitamins, including Vitamin D. These vitamins are now easily accessible with over 60 
distribution points in the borough including 46 community pharmacies, health centres and 
children’s centres. Since the launch in November 2013 the scheme is reaching 20-30% of 
eligible women and 50% of infants. 

Healthy weight
Measures to support healthy weight in children include promoting healthy eating and 
physical activity as part of the universal provision of the Healthy Child programme and 
workforce training for staff on promoting healthy weight.  Support for families with children 
identified at risk of obesity includes age specific healthy lifestyle programmes including 
MEND MUMS and MEND 2-5. Details of support available for families can be accessed on 
the Council website.

Nutrition
Promoting consistent nutrition messages to support healthy growth and weight in children 
under 5 has been supported by providing targeted training to health professionals on 
introducing solids, this training is now mandatory for health visitors. The National Infant 
Feeding Survey (2010) showed that 75% of mothers had introduced weaning by the age of 5 
months. Early year’s settings have been encouraged to adopt the voluntary food and drink 
guidelines for early year’s settings and children centres commission cookery and weaning 
classes for parents.



32

Physical activity
In England only one in ten children aged between two and four years meet the government 
recommendation for physical activity of at least three hours of physical activity on all seven 
days in the last week (boys 9%, girls 10%)26. Although individual physical and mental 
capabilities must be taken into account, the Chief Medical Officer suggests the following 
levels of physical activity for children under five:

 Physical activity should be encouraged from birth, particularly through floor-
based play and water-based activities in safe environments

 Children of pre-school age who are capable of walking unaided should be 
physically active daily for at least 180 minutes (3 hours), spread throughout the 
day

 All under 5s should minimise the amount of time spent being sedentary (being 
restrained or sitting) for extended periods (except time spent sleeping).

Age 5-11

Healthy weight
In Lewisham childhood obesity rates remain significantly higher than the England rate. The 
latest NCMP results (2013/14) show that 10.8% of Reception children are at risk of obesity 
and this rises to 24.3% in Year 6. As in previous years the proportion of obese children in 
Year 6 was more than double that of Reception year children. Measures to support healthy 
weight in children include promoting healthy eating and physical activity as part of the 
universal provision of the Healthy Child programme, workforce training for staff on promoting 
healthy weight. Support for families with children identified at risk of obesity include age 
specific healthy lifestyle and weight management programmes including MEND 5-7 and 
MEND 7-13. The weight management service also incorporates tailored support for families 
who need additional input. Details of the support available for families can be accessed on 
the Council website.

Schools
Evidence shows that pupils with better health and wellbeing are likely to achieve better 
results academically and the culture, ethos and environment of a school influences the 
health and wellbeing. Schools in Lewisham have been encouraged to register with the new 
Healthy Schools London programme, 31 schools are currently registered for this award with 
two schools achieving the bronze award.

The proportion of primary school pupils taking school meals has significantly increased in the 
autumn term 2014/15 following the implementation of the universal free school meals for all 
children in key stage 1 in September 2014 (65% to 71.6% in January 2015).

Nutrition27

Only 17% of 5-7 year olds and 20% of 8-10 year olds eat the recommended five portions of 
fruit and vegetables per day. The diet of children aged 4-10 years includes a high level of 
added sugar with sugary drinks as the main source. They consume:

26 Health Survey for England 2012: Physical activity and fitness, HSCIC (2013)
27 National Diet and Nutrition Survey: results from Years 1 to 4 (combined) of the rolling programme 
for 2008 and 2009 to 2011 and 2012



33

    30% from soft drinks and fruit juice
 29% mainly from biscuits, cakes and breakfast cereals
 22% from sweets, chocolate, table sugar, jams and other sweet spreads
 12% from yoghurts, fromage frais, ice-cream, and other dairy desserts

National results show that 31% of 5 year olds and 46% of 8 year olds had tooth decay in 
201328.

Physical Activity
In England only around two in ten children aged 5 to 15 years meet the government 
recommendations for physical activity  of one hour moderate to vigorous activity per day 
(boys 21%, girls 16%)29. Around four in ten children aged 5 to 15 years are physically 
inactive (boys 39%, girls 45%). No information is available locally on activity levels of 
children, but local children are expected to show a similar pattern to the national picture.  
Actions in the childhood obesity strategy aim to increase awareness of the benefits of 
physical activity and increase activity levels of families. Lewisham offers opportunities for 
activity including free swimming for children under 16 years.

Age 12-18
Weight
No local data is available on weight in children of this age group, but national data show that 
since 2004 there is evidence of a levelling off of child excess weight prevalence for 2-10 and 
11-15 year-olds (Fig 7).

Figure 7: Trend in the prevalence of excess weight. Children aged 2-10 and 11-15 years; 
Health Survey for England 1995-2013

Measures to support healthy weight in children include promoting healthy eating and 
physical activity as part of the universal provision of the Healthy Child programme, and 
workforce training for staff on promoting healthy weight. Support for families with children 

28 Public Health England
29 Health Survey for England 2012: Physical activity and fitness, HSCIC (2013)

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/inmyarea/sport/Swimming/Pages/free-swimming.aspx


34

identified at risk of obesity include age specific healthy lifestyle and weight management 
programmes including MEND 7-13 and MEND 13-16. The weight management service also 
incorporates tailored support for children who need additional input. Details of the support 
available for families can be accessed on the Council website.

Diet
The diet of children aged 11-18 years show low levels of fruit and vegetable with mean 
consumption of fruit and vegetables of 3.0 portions per day for boys and 2.7 portions per day 
for girls. Ten per cent of boys and 7% of girls in this age group met the Five-a-Day 
recommendation.   Added sugar intake is high with the main source of added sugar was soft 
drinks and ‘fruit juice’ - soft drinks alone provided 30% of intake30.

A local survey of adolescents in May 2013 showed that 80% of those surveyed felt that 
eating healthily is quite or very important. The most common benefits of healthy eating 
included being healthy, living longer, feeling good, having energy, being fit, looking good and 
being a healthy weight.

School meal uptake in secondary schools pupil is low with only 37% of pupils eating school 
meals31.

Physical Activity
In England the level of physical activity in 13-15 year olds is falling with only 14% of boys 
and 8% of girls meeting the recommended level, but 48 per cent have used fitness apps on 
a regular basis32.

Recommendations - Achieving a Healthy Weight

Lewisham has a high number of children with excess weight. Prevention and early 
intervention is crucial. A partnership approach is necessary to minimise the impact of an 
obesogenic environment.  Maintenance and development of the following elements are 
important in local strategy to address this issue:

 Maternal Obesity Programme
 Achievement and Maintenance of UNICEF Baby Friendly status
 Improving uptake of School Meals
 Continuing to implement a systematic programme of intervention and policies to help 

children and families tackle problems of overweight and obesity, and to reduce the 
impact of the obesogenic environment.

30 National Diet and Nutrition Survey: results from Years 1 to 4 (combined) of the rolling programme 
for 2008 and 2009 to 2011 and 2012
31 Lewisham’s Children and Young People’s Directorate
32 HSCIC Focus on health and care form young people June 2015

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/health/parenting/being-a-parent/Pages/Managing-your-children%E2%80%99s-weight.aspx


35

Mental and Emotional Health

According to previous British Child and Adolescent Mental Health Surveys, one in ten 
children under the age of 16 has a diagnosed mental health problem, the equivalent of three 
children in every school class. Lifelong mental health problems begin early. By 14 years old 
50% of those who will have mental health problems in adulthood have already had 
problems, and by 18 this rises to 75% (excluding dementia). 

Supporting children and their families early to protect their mental health and emotional well 
being, and enabling them to access specialist help early can help reduce the lifetime burden 
of mental illness as well as enabling young people to fulfil their potential.

Certain high risk groups of young people face even greater challenges with regard to their 
mental health:

 72% of looked after children have behavioural or emotional problems.
 46% have a mental health problem. 
 95% of imprisoned young offenders have a mental health problem, and many of 

them are struggling with more than one33. 

In the Children’s Society Good Childhood Report six priority areas for promoting wellbeing in 
children were identified, as follows34:

1. The conditions to learn and develop, such as access to early years play, high quality 
education, good physical development e.g. diet/obesity, school activities, levels of happiness 
at school, health and disability.
2. A positive view of themselves and an identity that is respected, such as self-esteem, being 
listened to and not being bullied.
3. Having enough of what matters, indicated by family circumstances, household income, 
parental employment, child poverty, access to green space, etc.
4. Positive relationships with family and friends, where stable and caring relationships are 
important (e.g.in the case of looked after children, they are more likely to experience 
changes in caring relationships).
5. A safe and suitable home environment and local area, such as feeling safe, privacy, good 
local facilities, stable home life (e.g. overcrowded housing or moving house often is a 
negative risk factor for wellbeing – although positive caring relationships can over-ride this).
6. Opportunity to take part in positive activities to thrive, involving a healthy balance of time – 
with friends, family, time to self, doing homework, helping at home, being active e.g. access 
to garden or local outdoor space.

There are recognised risk factors for developing mental health problems, many of which are 
more prevalent in Lewisham’s children and young people, who are therefore at  greater risk 
of  mental health problems, and low levels of wellbeing/resilience that put them at risk of 
developing problems in the future.  These factors include:  

33 Office for National Statistics (1997): Psychiatric morbidity among young offenders in England and Wales
34 Children’s Society (2012) The Good Childhood Report: A review of our children’s wellbeing London: The 
Children’s Society

http://tinyurl.com/bomvdax


36

 Living in poverty - 27.6% of under 16s live in poverty compared to 19.2% 
nationally and 23.7% in London.  Similar levels are found in our neighbouring 
boroughs, 29.0% and 28.6% in Lambeth and Southwark respectively35.   

 Being a looked after child - 77 children in every 10,000 are looked after; compared 
to 60 nationally and 55 in London.

 Living in non-secure accommodation - 4.7 in every 1,000 households in Lewisham 
are homeless households with dependent children or pregnant women compared 
to 3.6 in London and 1.7 nationally36. 

 Being exposed to trauma - 555 children in Lewisham were identified as being 
exposed to high risk domestic violence in the home in 2013-2014, with up to a 
third of all children in the borough exposed to any domestic violence in any one 
year.  Rates in London are known to be higher than other parts of the country.

 Having parents who experience mental health and/or substance misuse issues.  
These levels are likely to be higher in Lewisham than the rest of the country, for 
example, 1.24% of people on Lewisham GP registers have a serious mental 
health disorder compared to 0.84% in England as a whole and 1.03% in London.  
In every 1,000 people in Lewisham, 12.4 are opiate or crack cocaine users 
compared to 8.4 nationally and 9.55 in London.     

 Being involved in crime - 603 per 100,000 10-17 year olds receive a first 
reprimand, warning or conviction in Lewisham, compared to 426 in London and 
409 in England as a whole37.  

Lewisham children need to be very resilient to thrive in the environments in which many of 
them live. To achieve this Lewisham Council is working with Big Lottery, through the Head 
Start Lewisham programme, to improve mental health and emotional well being in young 
people, particularly at the point of transition from primary to secondary school and in early 
adolescence.

Despite the greater risk of mental health problems in Lewisham’s children, estimated rates of 
mental health disorders (including conduct, emotional, hyperkinetic (ADHD) and eating 
disorders) in Lewisham are broadly comparable to comparator boroughs (Table 1). 

35 HMRC (2012)
36 DCLG, (2015)
37 Department of Justice (2014)



37

Table 1: Prevalence of Key Child & Adolescent Mental Health Problems 

Any mental health 
disorder

Conduct disorders Emotional disorders Hyperkinetic 
disorders

Eating 
disorders

5-16yrs 5-16yrs 5-16yrs 5-16yrs 16-24yrs
Prevalence 

(%)
No. of 

children
Prevalence 

(%)
No. of 

children
Prevalence 

(%)
No. of 

children
Prevalence 

(%)
No. of 

children
No. of 
young 
people

Lewisham 9.46 3,765 5.78 2,299 3.66 1,457 1.57 623 4,381
Greenwich 9.65 3,749 5.93 2,304 3.74 1,451 1.60 623 4,192
Lambeth 9.89 3,758 6.08 2,310 3.86 1,466 1.66 629 4,655
Southwark 9.81 3,582 6.02 2,199 3.83 1,396 1.63 594 5,381
London 9.35 109,616 5.70 66,838 3.65 42,748 1.54 18,050 126,462
England 9.60 - 5.80 - 3.70 - 1.50 - -

(Source: All disorders except eating disorders are all estimates based on the prevalence from the 
ONS survey Mental Health of children and young people in Great Britain (2004) adjusted for age, sex 
and socio-economic classification. Eating Disorders is an estimate based on the prevalence from the 
Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey (2007).)

The nation-wide trend towards higher rates of autistic spectrum disorder (ASD) is also 
observed in Lewisham children (Figure 1)38. However, rates of autism in Lewisham school 
children are significantly higher than in London, with 935 pupils aged 5 to16 years affected 
(a rate of 22/1,000 pupils in this age group).  This is at the upper end of the range of 
documented levels of ASD in children, but may well reflect better identification of ASD locally 
rather than a true prevalence that is higher than in other, similar boroughs; in fact, 
neighbouring boroughs also have a prevalence of this order.  Children with ASD are at 
higher risk of mental health problems that may be masked by their ASD. The development of 
a care pathway for children with ASD should meet an important gap in local services.

38 Department for Education (2014)



38

Figure 1: Pupils with Autisms Known to School - Rate per 1,000

0

5

10

15

20

25

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Ra
te

 p
er

 1
,0

00
 P

up
ils

Lewisham

London

England

Age 0-4
Child mental health is heavily influenced by parental, and particularly maternal health. This 
impact begins in pregnancy, where exposure to alcohol (even as little as one drink per week 
in the first three months of pregnancy), smoking and toxic stress can have an adverse 
impact on childhood mental health.

Toxic stress can be caused by abuse, neglect, substance misuse, mental illness, exposure 
to violence or poverty. All of these contributing factors are prevalent risks in Lewisham. Toxic 
stress in a child is when a child experiences strong, frequent and/or prolonged adversity 
without adequate protective relationships or adult support. Crucially, toxic stress can have a 
negative impact on the developing baby both in the womb, and in their early years. It can 
also be linked to pre-term delivery. 

The first months of life are critical for babies to form secure attachments to their primary 
caregivers. Good attachment can protect the child’s mental health and emotional well being. 
Problems with attachment can manifest much later in a child’s development as mental health 
disorders. Due to the importance of secure attachment to the future wellbeing of children,  
midwives, health visitors and children’s centres staff in Lewisham have improved attachment 
and parenting of children as a main focus of their work.  Approaches such as Five to Thrive, 
which promotes a memorable message to parents along the lines of the Five a Day 
message to promote greater consumption of fruit and vegetables, have been adopted by 
Children’s Centres locally and as part of the local programme to increase the prevalence of 
breastfeeding and attain UNICEF Baby Friendly status.



39

Post-natal depression can have an adverse impact on attachment between mother and 
child. Being aware of the signs and risk factors for post-natal depression can mean women 
get early support to help them form strong bonds with their child and manage their child’s 
emotional needs. Women with a history of mental illness are at particular risk during and 
following pregnancy. Perinatal Mental Health is now the subject of a South East London- 
wide review conducted as part of the work of Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL).  
Perinatal and parental mental health are also being reviewed in Lewisham as part of the 
HeadStart programme and the development of a local Mental Health and Emotional 
Wellbeing Strategy for Children and Young People.

Development of speech and language can be a critical component of how a child 
communicates and manages their emotions and feelings. Children with delayed 
development may present with challenging behaviour in an attempt to make themselves 
understood. Children with ASD and other learning difficulties may also present at an early 
age with behavioural problems indicative of their condition prior to a formal diagnosis. This 
can present problems with socialisation in early years settings making them less likely to be 
school-ready.

Age 5-11
Many mental health problems may start to manifest in primary school, particularly conditions 
such as Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), ASD and conduct disorder. Most 
children with these disorders are likely to be diagnosed in this period (although in siblings 
this may happen earlier). The problems they experience often have detrimental impact on 
their educational attainment and experience of school. Early support for these children 
particularly through the transition to secondary school can be important in mitigating against 
these poor outcomes. Bullying may become an issue in this age group, an acknowledged 
risk factor for longer term mental health problems which can last into adulthood.

Age 12-18
By mid-teens 50% of life time mental health problems will have started. This begins to have 
a major impact on life chances of affected individuals, who are more likely to be not in 
education, employment or training (NEET). Those experiencing mental health problems at 
this point are more likely to smoke, drink alcohol and be involved in antisocial behaviour. 

Conduct disorders and ADHD are known to increase the risk of offending and teenage 
pregnancy in girls. Acknowledging the high number of individuals who come into contact with 
the police and who have historically been held in police custody, despite having an 
underlying mental health problem, liaison and diversion schemes have been implemented to 
assess and support young people and adults who may have underlying mental health 
problems.

Based on the national prevalence of 7%, an estimated 1,302 children in Lewisham self harm 
between the ages of 11-1639. Some of these individuals may not come into contact with 
mental health services.

39 Green, H., McGinnity, A., Meltzer, H., et al. (2005). Mental health of children and young people in Great  Britain 

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/pubs/mentalhealth04


40

In Lewisham, mental health services are currently focused on the treatment of mental health 
disorders rather than prevention. Lewisham has been awarded funding from the Big Lottery 
Fund’s Fulfilling Lives HeadStart programme to develop new and innovative provision in our 
schools and communities to: improve emotional literacy; enable young people to develop 
awareness of how to protect their own mental health and emotional well-being; and build the 
resilience of young people through learnt and taught techniques in and out of schools. 
HeadStart is an opportunity for us to invest in improving the mental well-being and resilience 
of children and adolescents before they become unwell and require specialist services. It will 
also equip them with life skills which will support them into adulthood and enable them to 
value and protect their own mental health. HeadStart gives Lewisham an opportunity to 
expand and develop the universal and targeted offer, whilst working with existing provision 
and aligning with the wider partnership strategy to ensure that services intervene at the 
earliest point.

Recommendations - Mental and Emotional Health

Understanding what protects mental health and builds resilience and building on an 
individual child’s, family’s and community’s assets can help deliver better mental health for 
both children and adults. 

 Promote a better understanding across the Partnership of the important of toxic 
stress, as highlighted in the Children and Young People’s Plan.

 Greater consideration will be given as to how families and communities can 
contribute to ensuring the best possible social and emotional well-being of 
Lewisham’s children.  Initiatives such as community parenting and Empowering 
Parents, Empowering Communities (EPEC), an evidence-based community 
development programme to improve parenting, should be considered for wider use 
locally and taken into account in the new Children and Young People’s Plan. Health 
Visiting, Children’s Centres and the School Aged Nursing Service will continue to 
work together to ensure good attachment and improved parenting for children in 
Lewisham.  

 All local services, especially those delivering services to families with children under 
five, are encouraged to adopt the Five to Thrive method of getting messages about 
improved attachment and parenting across locally. This should also be taken into 
account in the development of the Children and Young People’s Plan.

 Big Lottery have funded the HeadStart programme in Lewisham, initially until July 
2016 to begin to develop and try out different approaches to improving well being in 
10-16 year olds. The learning from this work will go into developing a further proposal 
to transform the delivery of universal and targeted approaches to mental wellbeing 
with a view to reducing longer term need for both CAMHS and adult mental health 
services. Our proposals will be incorporated into our developing strategy and will 
include our transformation plans as part of the recently published ‘Futures in Mind’ 

2004. London: Palgrave.

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/pubs/mentalhealth04


41

report, aimed at improving emotional wellbeing and mental health for all our young 
people. 



42

Sexual Health

Lewisham has a young population experiencing high levels of sexual health need in relation 
to contraception, pregnancy, sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and sexual behaviours 
(Table 1). Poor sexual health outcomes in Lewisham include high rates of STIs, teenage 
pregnancy, abortion and HIV infection. In addition to this the borough has high rates of 
sexual violence and domestic violence.

Young people (usually defined as under 25) experience higher rates of sexually transmitted 
infections, re-infection, abortion and sexual violence. In 2014, the three boroughs of 
Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham undertook a sexual health needs assessment and 
developed a strategy to improve sexual health and access to sexual health services. The 
strategy recommends a shift to preventative services, increasing provision of ‘basic’ sexual 
health services such as contraception and STI screening in community and primary care 
settings such as pharmacies and GP practices as well as online. There is also a commitment 
to strengthen Sex and Relationships Education (SRE) delivered to young people by 
supporting schools and other settings such as youth services to deliver high quality SRE.

Table 1: Key Indicators of Sexual Health

Indicator Lewisham Lambeth Southwark London England
Teenage 
conceptions (15-17) 
per 1000 females 
(2013)40

33.1 24.7 30.6 21.8 24.3

Teenage 
conceptions (13-15) 
per 1000 females 
(2013)

7.2 6.3 6.7 4.3 4.8

Under 18 birth rate 
per 1000 females 13.9 6.8 9.1 7.8 11.9

Under 18 Abortion 
rates per 1000 
females (2014)41

19.1 17.9 21.5 14.0 12.4

Chlamydia detection 
rate per 100,000 
(2014)42

Chlamydia 
screening coverage 34.6 43.9 37.8 27.9 23.9

New STIs <25 
excluding chlamydia 
per 100,000 (2014)

1212 3190 2465 1534 829

Sexual Offences per 
1,000 (2013)43 1.55 1.65 1.53 1.22 1.01

In 2013 Lewisham had the second highest teenage pregnancy rate in London (152 
conceptions in 15-17 year olds).  Whilst rates have fallen this reflects a national trend, and 
Lewisham rates have not fallen as fast or as far as other similar boroughs (Fig 1). The under 

40 All conception and birth data - ONS
41 Department of Health
42 All Chlamydia and STI Data - Public Health England (2014)
43 Met Police



43

16 conception rate is also second highest in London after Barking and Dagenham. In 
addition to this, fewer Lewisham pregnant teenagers choose to have an abortion compared 
to other pregnant teenagers in London. In 2013, 58% of Lewisham teenagers who were 
pregnant had an abortion, compared with 64% in London.  In London, Lewisham has the 
highest under 18 years birth rate through a combination of a high teenage conception rate 
and lower than average abortion rate in this age group.

Figure 1: Under 18 Conception Rate

Unintended and unwanted pregnancies reflect unmet needs relating to contraception. The 
risk of unwanted pregnancy is associated with age (being under 18),  alcohol consumption 
and deprivation. Being in the care system is a risk factor for being a teenage parent for both 
males and females. 

Abortion rates, teenage pregnancy rates and STI rates are all higher in BME groups. Overall 
the highest STI rates are found in men who have sex with men (MSM). The NATSAL44 
survey found that 5% of men and 8% of women aged 16-44 had a same sex experience with 
genital contact, but there are no reliable local estimates of how many young people have 
experienced same sex sexual contact.

Age 0-4
Around half of all pregnancies are planned, with 1 in 6 being unplanned. A planned 
pregnancy offers the best chance of ensuring a healthy mother and baby.

44 The National Survey of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles



44

Birth spacing is an important method of improving maternal and child health outcomes. 
Whilst breast feeding (where it is the only form of feeding) can be a form of contraception in 
early infancy, introducing reliable forms of contraception early after birth are important. 
Providing access to acceptable methods of contraception enables new parents to focus 
physically and mentally on a new baby.  The most reliable forms of contraception are long 
acting reversible contraception (LARC). As this lasts for two to five years, depending on the 
method use, it is ideal for spacing pregnancies.

In Lewisham there are a number of women for whom a subsequent pregnancy may be 
problematic; this could be for medical, social or psychological reasons. For this small group 
of women LARC has been offered soon after birth whilst they are still in hospital. Providing 
all women with contraception options straight after birth may be an important way to 
decrease unplanned pregnancies.

Age 5-11
The age of puberty has been steadily reducing in western countries. German researchers 
found that in 2010 it had dropped to 10.5 years from 12.5 in 1980. The reasons for this are 
not clear, but an increase in obesity and environmental pollutants are often cited as possible 
explanations. As most formal sex and relationships education does not occur until secondary 
school, increasingly primary school children (particularly girls) are experiencing secondary 
sexual characteristics such as pubic hair, breast development and menstruation without a 
sexual health context. This can make girls particularly vulnerable, as they do not have the 
skills to negotiate relationships and boundaries of appropriate physical contact. 

Age 12-18
Early sexual experience
The National Survey of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles (2010) surveyed a large sample of 
17-24 year olds about their sexual experiences. They found that 31% of men and 29% of 
women had sex before 16 years of age.  70% of women and 68.1% of men aged 17 to 24 
years felt they did not know enough when they felt ready for their first sexual experience. 
Around 40% reported getting information about sex from school, and most wanted to receive 
this information at school, from parents or health professionals. When compared to receiving 
sex information from parents or other sources, receiving sex education at school was 
associated with a range of positive sexual health outcomes including; older age at first sex, 
less likely to have unsafe sex, less likely to have been diagnosed with an STI, and less likely 
to have experienced an abortion or non-consensual sex.

Sex and relationships education is not compulsory. Parents can withdraw children from it, 
and it is up to schools to decide what level of SRE is provided. In Lewisham, the local Sexual 
Health service has delivered SRE sessions and in some schools this may be provided by the 
school nurse or other outside provider.  Issues which are often raised by schools, include 
inappropriate sexualised behaviour, exposure to pornography, “sexting” – sharing sexual 
images through mobile devices and internet sources.

HPV vaccination to prevent cervical cancer is delivered through the school nursing services 
to girls at secondary school. This is currently an under exploited opportunity to discuss sex 
and relationships.



45

Abortion
Abortion rates in those aged under 19 remain high in Lewisham, although in 2014 the repeat 
abortion rate for this age group was amongst the lowest in London45. This could be due to 
the higher proportion of teenagers who chose to continue with their pregnancy. In 2014, 132 
young women under 19 had an abortion. This fell from 155 in 2013. 

STIs
STI rates are highest amongst young people. In Lewisham in 2013, young people aged 15 to 
24 accounted for 44% of all new STIs (Fig 2).

Figure 2: Rates of new STIs by age group and gender in Lewisham: 2013

Chlamydia, the most common STI is particularly prevalent with 10% of all Lewisham 15 to 25 
year olds screened testing positive (Fig 3). When this is broken down further, in 15 year olds 
16.75% of those tested had the infection and 13.1% of 16-19 year olds. Overall there has 
been a fall in the proportion of the Chlamydia screening age population (15-24 year olds) 
accessing screening.  It is possible that the reduction in active promotion of Chlamydia 
screening through the teenage pregnancy programmes and previous Chlamydia screening 
office function has had an impact on the screening rates. Online screening through the 
checkurself service has recovered slightly after a decline over 2013. This is probably due to 
a bus campaign run around March 2014.

45 Department of Health



46

Figure 3: Chlamydia Screening for the 15-24 Population - 2014

Young people are also more likely to become re-infected with STIs, contributing 
to infection persistence and health service workload. In Lewisham, an estimated 
9.5% of 15-19 year old women and 12.5% of 15-19 year old men presenting with a 
new STI at a GUM clinic during the five year period from 2009 to 2013 became 
reinfected with an STI within twelve months. Teenagers may be at risk of reinfection 
because they lack the skills and confidence to negotiate safer sex. (PHE LASER 2014).

Service use
Over the last five years there appears to have been a decrease in the number of young 
people using the sexual health service. Whilst overall numbers of attendances and the 
number of very young individuals (aged 15 years and under) attending have remained fairly 
consistent, there is a smaller proportion of younger people in the overall patient cohort 
mainly due to a decrease in 16-19 year olds accessing the service. There were 3,760 
attendances by young people under 18 to Lewisham sexual health services in 2014/15. In 
addition to this a further 4,648 young people aged 18-19 attended local services. These 
figures are a reduction of 19% and 12% respectively on the previous year. This could be due 
to an increase in the uptake of LARC, requiring fewer clinic visits, or could reflect a lack of 
recent awareness campaigns and SRE promoting local services.



47

Figure 4: Lewisham Sexual Health Service attendances by quarter 2009-2015

Transition to Adulthood
STIs and abortion rates peak in young adults between 18 and 25 years. The average age at 
which women become mothers had been steadily increasing and is now 28 years (England). 
This means that in the intervening years young people have more sexual partners than in 
previous generations, are using contraception for longer and are at higher risk of getting an 
STI. Rates of STIs are particularly high in men who have sex with men. Other risk factors in 
this group, including recreational drug use to enhance sexual experience - known as 
Chemsex, greatly increases the risk of STI transmission.

In the 12 months to July 2015 Lewisham had the seventh highest incidence of rape and of 
serious sexual offences in the Metropolitan Police Service area, and the incidence rate for 
these offences in Lewisham are significantly above the national average. Contributory 
factors to these high levels are likely to be the borough's comparatively young age structure 
combined with high levels of deprivation. The Crime Survey England & Wales (CSEW) 
indicates females aged between 16 and 19 were at the highest risk of being a victim of a 
sexual offence (8.2 per cent) and that the risk decreases with age. Most rapes are carried 
out by intimate partners and there is likely to be a significant overlapping with the domestic 
violence cohort which is disproportionately poor and young.

A cross-referencing of domestic violence and sexual violence rates across police forces in 
the UK areas invariably show the highest rates for both offences are in the most deprived 
areas. In this context it is important to note Lewisham's high teenage pregnancy rate; as low 
maternity age is a key indicator of domestic violence/sexual violence and poverty.



48

Greater awareness and increased work in schools around healthy relationships may have 
also contributed to people feeling more confident to report sexual offences.

Recommendations - Sexual Health

• Despite the significant gains made in improving access to services through the 
teenage pregnancy and Chlamydia screening programmes, these are now showing 
signs of stalling. Targeted sexual health promotion and SRE programmes will be vital 
to maintain and build on the success of these initiatives, and should continue to be a 
part of the Children and Young People’s Plan.

• Improved access and information about contraception, particularly for young women 
and women from BME groups is important to increase the number and proportion of 
planned pregnancies which can optimise outcomes for mother and child.  

• Over the next few years sexual health services will be reconfigured to improve 
access. It is important that young people, especially the most vulnerable, receive 
specialist support to equip them to maintain and protect their own sexual health and 
develop healthy physical relationships.



49

Smoking, Drinking and Drugs

Smoking cigarettes, drinking alcohol and the misuse of drugs, particularly by young people, 
have long been seen as key public health concerns.  In addition smoking, drinking alcohol 
and the misuse of drugs by parents and others caring for children can cause high levels of 
harm to children.

Smoking
Smoking is the main cause of preventable morbidity and premature death in England and 
causes one in five of all deaths. Smoking is the biggest single contributor to the difference in 
life expectancy and the increasing health gap between rich and poor.

Smoking prevalence among young people has been declining. In 201446, fewer than one in 
five 11 to 15 year olds (18%) said that they had smoked at least once. This was the lowest 
level recorded since the survey began in 1982, and continued the decline since 2003, when 
42% of pupils had tried smoking.  However, it is estimated that approximately 207,000 
children aged between 11 and 15 start smoking each year in the UK, with 8% of 15-year olds 
classified as current smokers.  An estimated 7%  of 15 year olds were classified as current 
smokers in Lewisham in 2014/1547 (but the real prevalence may be anywhere between1.3 
and 16%).  Smoking prevalence is estimated to rise to over 10% in 16-17 year olds.

It is very important to reduce the number of young people who take up smoking, as it is an 
addiction largely taken up in childhood and adolescence. Most smokers start smoking before 
they are 18. 

There is evidence that school based interventions are effective in reducing uptake and NICE 
have published a series of recommendations, which set out clear guidelines for 
commissioners4849. However, these interventions are considered more effective when 
delivered as a package of cross cutting tobacco control measures in the community, aimed 
at adults and away from school grounds.

The use of nicotine vapourisers (electronic cigarettes) has increased greatly in recent years50.
  Evidence suggests that both awareness and experimentation among young people has 
also increased. Regular use is seen mostly among young people who have already started 
to smoke, although experimentation by young people who have never smoked has been 
observed.51 Legislation has been passed to prohibit the sale of nicotine vapourisers to 
children and the purchase of nicotine vapourisers on their behalf.

More people in Lewisham smoke than is the case in London or England as a whole.  One in 
five people continue to smoke in Lewisham (around 45,000 smokers), with almost one in 
three smokers in routine and manual occupations.  70% of people with mental health 

46 Smoking, drinking and drug use among young people in England in 2014, Health and Social Care Information 
Centre
47 Local Tobacco Control Profile, Public Health England 2015
48 School-based interventions to prevent smoking. NICE public health guidance 23  
49 Preventing the uptake of smoking by children and young people. NICE public health guidance 14  
50 ASH Factsheet: Use of electronic cigarettes in Great Britain (July 2014)  
51 ASH Survey (September 2014)  



50

problems smoke.  Although the percentage of Lewisham residents over the age of 18 has 
decreased the percentage of routine and manual workers smoking has increased from 25% 
to 30%.

The key elements of the Lewisham Smokefree Delivery Plan are to:
• Prevent the uptake of smoking by young people
• Protect people from second-hand smoke:  
• Help smokers to stop, especially the most vulnerable

Despite the fact that smoking prevalence among young people has decreased, preventing 
the uptake of smoking among young people in Lewisham continues to be a major public 
health concern.  Most smokers start before they are 18 and 50% of all smokers die 
prematurely. Living with an adult smoker is the major influence on the uptake of smoking in 
young people.  The strategy to address this includes reducing the number of adults who 
smoke, through reducing the supply of cheap tobacco, motivating and assisting heavily 
addicted smokers to quit and promoting smokefree environments.  There is also a focus on 
peer education among pupils aged 12/13.  Young smokers have access to the Stop Smoking 
service which motivates and assists small numbers of young smokers to quit, however 
success rates among this age group are low. 

Our ambition is to reduce smoking prevalence among 15 year olds from 8% to 5% by 2025.

Table 1: Smoking Prevalence - Adults aged 18+

Lewisham London England
Smoking Prevalence (2013) 20.6% 17.6% 18.4%
Smoking prevalence among routine 
& manual (2013) 30.7% 24.9% 28.6%

Smoking Quit Rate per 100,000 
(2014/15) 680 531 522

Smoking status at time of delivery 
(2014/15) 5.0% - -



51

Figure 1: Smoking prevalence among 15 year olds who are regular smokers. Lewisham 
compared to its statistical neighbours and England, 2014-15 (WAY Survey)

             Figure 2: Smoking prevalence among adults aged 15 who are occasional smokers. 
Lewisham compared to its statistical neighbours and England 2014-15 (WAY Survey)



52

Figure 3: Number of persons under 18 in Lewisham setting a quit date with the Stop 
Smoking Service and number of quitters at 4 weeks follow-up

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Non
quits/lost to
follow-up

Quits

No. setting a
quit date

Age 0-4 and 5-11
The issue of smoking in pregnancy is dealt with in the Chapter on ensuring the best 
outcomes of pregnancy.

Promote Smokefree Homes:
Children exposed to tobacco smoke are at much greater risk of cot death, meningitis, lung 
infections and ear disease52.  Each year it results in over 300,000 GP visits, 9,500 hospital 
visits in the UK and costs the NHS more than £23.6 million53.

A survey undertaken of 1,000 young people aged 8-13, on behalf of the Department of 
Health in October 2011, demonstrated that children want smokefree lives. This found: 
• 98% of children wish their parents would stop smoking 
• 82% of children wish their parents wouldn’t smoke in front of them at home 
• 78% of the children wished their parents wouldn’t smoke in front of them in the car 
• 41% of children said cigarette smoke made them feel ill 
• 42% of children said cigarette smoke made them cough 

Exposure to second-hand smoke in confined spaces such as a car is particularly hazardous, 
as there is no safe level of exposure to tobacco smoke. 

52 Royal College of Physicians (2010) Passive Smoking in Children - 
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/documents/passive-smoking-and-children.pdf.  
53 NICE (2008) Smoking Cessation Services. NICE public health guidance 10. London: National 
Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, http://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/PH10



53

Whilst many health visitors have been trained to promote smoke free homes, more smoke 
free homes could will be achieved in the future through an increased focus and collaboration 
by a range of agencies including children’s’ centres, health visitors and housing providers.  A 
local campaign is planned in October 2015, linked to the national campaign to promote 
smoke free environments, including cars.

Age 12-18
Young people’s health behaviour is driven by the world they grow up in.  A recent survey of 
young people established that regular smoking was associated with other risky behaviours: 
drinking alcohol, taking drugs and truancy. The influence of family and friends was also 
important.The biggest influence on children smoking is adult smoking54.  

Eighty one percent of pupils reported having either a family member or a friend who smoked. 
This was more likely for smokers (97% of regular smokers, 94% of occasional smokers) than 
non-smokers (46%).

Pupils who smoked were most likely to obtain cigarettes by being given them by other 
people. Just under half (46%) said that they bought cigarettes in shops, despite the law 
which prohibits the sale of cigarettes to young people aged under 18.  The proportion of all 
pupils who have tried to buy cigarettes in a shop has fallen from 10% in 2008 to 4% in 2014. 
Two-fifths (42%) of pupils who had tried in the last year always succeeded in buying 
cigarettes. The majority of pupils who smoked had asked someone to buy them cigarettes 
from a shop in the last year (87% of regular smokers, 49% of occasional smokers). 

Among regular smokers, 46% had been smoking for at least a year. 56% had made an 
attempt to give up smoking but had not succeeded.

Pupils who lived with other people who smoked were more likely to smoke themselves.  In 
the last year, 64% of pupils reported being exposed to second hand smoke either in 
someone’s home (including their own) or in a car. 

Pupils are less likely to condone smoking by someone of their age than in 2003. In 2014, 
26% thought that it was OK to try smoking to see what it was like, compared with 48% in 
2003. There has been a similar decline in the proportions who thought it was OK to smoke 
once a week.

Pupils were most likely to believe that their peers smoked to look cool in front of their friends 
(85%). Smokers were more likely to believe that people of their age smoked because of its 
effects, for example, to cope with stress or because it gave them a good feeling. Non-
smokers were more likely to believe people of their age smoked in response to social 
pressures.

Parents were the most often named source of helpful information about smoking cigarettes 
(75%).

54 Smoking, drinking and drug use among young people in England in 2014, Health and Social Care Information 
Centre



54

In 2010, 43% of school aged children in Lewisham said an adult smoked in their home55.  

The most effective way to reduce smoking amongst this age group is to prevent young 
people from starting smoking.  Sustained efforts to reduce smoking prevalence among 
adults, restrict availability and de-normalise tobacco use all contribute to lower smoking rates 
among young people. 

In the last ten years, smoking has been addressed through legislation and regulation aimed 
at reducing exposure to second hand smoke and restricting the display and sale of tobacco 
products, particularly to young people.

The Health Act 2006 limits exposure to second hand tobacco smoke. This initially consisted 
of a ban on smoking in enclosed public spaces, including public transport, restaurants and 
pubs. The 2006 Act also increased the legal minimum age of sale for tobacco products to 18 
with effect from October 2007.

The Health Act 2009 included provision for a phased prohibition of the display of tobacco 
products in shops, as well as banning the sale of cigarettes in vending machines. The 
restrictions on the display of tobacco products at the point of sale came into force in large 
shops in April 2012 and in small shops and all other premises selling tobacco from April 
2015.

The Children and Families Act 2014 made it an offence for adults to buy tobacco products 
on behalf of young people under the age of 18, and also enforced a ban on young people 
under the age of 18 buying e-cigarettes, both to come into force from 1st October 2015. It 
extended the smoke-free provisions to cover private vehicles carrying children; this will come 
into force at the same time. This legislation also provided for the introduction of standardised 
packaging of tobacco from 20th May 2016.

A dedicated enforcement post and increased collaboration on intelligence with other 
boroughs and HMRC has enabled an increased focus on illegal and underage sales and 
large quantities of illegal tobacco have been seized during the past year.  This focus will be 
retained through the four newly established enforcement teams.  A Kick it Out campaign, 
aimed at illegal tobacco, has recently been launched with other SE London boroughs.
  
Small numbers of young smokers have accessed the Lewisham Stop Smoking Service over 
the past few years (ranging from 39 to 127 per year), however success rates in quitting for 
young people are low, both nationally and locally.  The mean quit rate for the past six years 
was 26% compared with 50% for adults.  For this reason young people are not specifically 
targeted by the Stop Smoking Service. 

The Stop Smoking Service is very successful at reaching heavily addicted smokers such as 
pregnant women and people with mental health problems, with a strong correlation between 
IMD scores and smoking quitters and an increasing number of smokers quitting from more 
deprived wards.  

55 School Health Education Unit survey 2010



55

An effective Peer Education Tobacco Control Programme has been developed and delivered 
to Year 8 pupils in many secondary schools in Lewisham over the past four years.  This 
programme is now offered to schools as part of a Public Health package at a low cost.

Drinking Alcohol and Drugs Misuse

Introduction 
While the majority of young people do not use drugs, and most of those that do are not 
dependent, drug and alcohol misuse can have a major impact on young people’s education, 
their health, their families and their long-term chances in life56. 

Problematic parental substance misuse is known to affect the emotional, physical, 
psychological and behavioural wellbeing of children, as it can adversely affect parenting 
capacity. It can also be associated with a host of other environmental problems. Children 
often suffer in silence being unknown to services and not knowing who to turn to, feeling 
scared of revealing the situation at home57.  Children who live with a parent/carer who uses 
alcohol or drugs to a degree where their parenting capacity is compromised are affected by 
Hidden Harm - a broad term that describes the detrimental effect that parental substance 
misuse can have on children. 

The 2010 national drug strategy58 called for an evidence-based, life-course approach to 
reducing the demand for alcohol and drugs. Along with tobacco control, preventing harmful 
substance misuse is central to the public health agenda, which places emphasis on tackling 
the root causes of problems and on reducing the number of people whose alcohol and drug 
use has a long-term negative effect on their health, wellbeing and quality of life59.

The Alcohol Strategy for England 201260 set out a clear ambition to change the approach to 
drinking alcohol and aimed for a sustained reduction in both the numbers of 11-15 year olds 
drinking alcohol and the amounts consumed.  It focused on reducing the availability of cheap 
alcohol, ensuring alcohol was promoted in a responsible way and the role of local 
communities and agencies on the implementation of the Licensing Act.

Despite recent declines, the proportion of children in the UK drinking alcohol remains well 
above the European average. We continue to rank among the countries with the highest 
levels of consumption among those who do drink, and British children are more likely to 
binge drink or get drunk compared to children in most other European countries61.

56 Young People’s Substance Misuse JSNA Support pack: key data for planning young people’s substance 
misuse interventions 2015-16, Public Health England 2014
57  Lewisham Hidden Harm 5 Years on, London Borough of Lewisham 2014
58 The 2010 drug strategy, ‘Reducing demand, restricting supply, building recovery: supporting people to live a 
drug-free life'. Home Office 2010  
59 Young People’s Substance Misuse JSNA Support pack: good practice prompts for planning comprehensive 
interventions in 2015-16, Public Health England 2014
60 The Government’s Alcohol Strategy, HMSO, March 2012
61 Hibell B, Guttormson U, Ahlstrom S, et al (2012) The 2011 ESPAD report: substance use among students in 
36 European countries  



56

A quarter of all deaths among 16-24 year old men are attributable to alcohol. 62

Key Indicators
The number of young people using specialist services has not varied much over the past 
four years, ranging from 206 to 220.  The number of young people accessing the services 
from secure estate has steadily increased.

Young people come to specialist services from various routes but are typically referred by 
youth justice, education, self, family and friends, and children and family services. 

Age 0- 4
It has been known for many years that alcohol can damage a developing baby and that high 
levels of alcohol consumption in pregnancy can cause Fetal Alcohol Syndrome which leads 
to damage to the baby’s brain and subsequent development. There has however been no 
conclusive evidence about exactly what, if any constitutes safe levels of drinking and 
therefore NICE guidance states that pregnant women and women planning a pregnancy 
should abstain from alcohol completely in the first 3 months of pregnancy and thereafter if 
they cannot abstain, they should be advised to drink no more than 1-2 UK units once or 
twice a week.

Public Health Lewisham have supported the introduction of an alcohol assessment tool to be 
used when women book for maternity care which enables a discussion with the pregnant 
women, advice and onward referral if appropriate. This assessment tool has now been 
incorporated into the new hand-held maternity notes and specific training on risk assessment 
has been provided for key staff members.

Liaison Antenatal Drug Service (LANDS): works with pregnant women and partners 
concerned about drug or alcohol use. It offers advice and information, ante natal care, 
support, counselling, assessment and detoxification/ stabilisation along with GP liaison and 
referral to inpatient detoxification/rehabilitation.

CRI-New Direction provide a lead nurse to work with the Liaison Antenatal Drug Service 
(LANDS) midwife, a consultant addictions psychiatrist in the women’s health clinic, Midwifery 
department at University Hospital Lewisham.  Social workers and health visitors also work 
with patients to address some of their wider support needs, i.e. child protection issues, 
parenting issues and financial support and advice.  

Full ante-natal care is offered for patients who use alcohol or other illicit substances.  A full 
medical, social and obstetric history is taken and relevant onward referrals are made for 
specialist health services.  Urine testing is also provided to ensure that all substance misuse 
is addressed, even when a patient is not willing to disclose.  

All pregnant women are offered a scan before 21 weeks for foetal alcohol syndrome. 
Referrals to LANDS come from CRI–New Direction or from GPs.  Midwives can also refer 
into LANDS from the mainstream midwifery services.  All newly-booked clients will receive 
screening on their alcohol consumption.  If an alcohol or drug detoxification is required for a 

62 Public Health England 2014



57

pregnant woman then there is referral to specialist provision. Post-natal support is offered to 
patients through CRI-New Direction and social work teams as appropriate

Age 5-11
In Lewisham it is estimated that we have 385 children under the age of 11 who have ever 
consumed alcohol, with 32 reporting use in the last week.  

The Hidden Harm Service63 was created in 2010 in response to the rising issue of parental 
substance misuse. In Lewisham this service effectively links adult services with children and 
family services ensuring that the family receives a holistic, co-coordinated and 
comprehensive approach with easy access to appropriate services to address their needs. 

Hidden Harm continues to work with some of the most vulnerable families in Lewisham 
ensuring early entry into treatment for parents and a holistic understanding of what needs to 
change to make a difference to children. It helps to identify those that can change but need 
help from those that can’t  change and won’t seek help,  ensuring evidence-based decisions 
are made that keep children safe. 

Referrals are accepted to Hidden Harm from universal children’s services where there are 
issues around parental substance misuse (known or suspected). The parent can be visited 
at home and a holistic support plan formulated considering the identified concerns with the 
parent and shared with the professionals from children’s services, direction is offered to 
other agencies in how to best support the needs of the family and support change64.

The Hidden Harm workers (a Hidden Harm Co-ordinator and a Hidden Harm support 
practitioner), are based within the London Borough of Lewisham Prevention & Inclusion 
Team.  They work closely with CRI, the specialist substance misuse agency, and refer 
whenever necessary. This service has worked with 230 families since 2010 and supports 
approximately 70 parents a year to access drug or alcohol treatment within the borough. In 
42.3% of all referrals to Hidden Harm, alcohol was the primary substance; it played a part in 
57.6% of the total referrals.

In Lewisham in 2013/14, 58 of the 234 alcohol dependent drinkers in treatment reported 
living with children and 234 of the 1214 who accessed treatment for drug use reported living 
with children.  

In Lewisham of the 1219 people who accessed treatment in 2013/14 for drug use 234 
reported living with children, this would indicate that 19.2% of the drug using community live 
with children. There were 508 children living with a parent who used drugs and accessed 
treatment65.

Prevalence data66 estimates that approximately 802 children in Lewisham live with an adult 
who uses Heroin or Crack. The figure using all drugs is likely to be much higher. The figure 
for children who live with a parent who use all drugs is likely to be higher.

63 The service works with all children and young people from ages 0-18
64 Lewisham Hidden Harm: Five Years On, London Borough of Lewisham 2014
65 ibid



58

Age 12-18
NICE reports that making it less easy to buy alcohol, by reducing the number of outlets 
selling it in a given area and the day and hours when it can be sold, is an effective way of 
reducing alcohol-related harm.  NICE provides recommendations for licensing practice67.  
Suggested actions include: local crime and related trauma data to be used to map the extent 
of alcohol-related problems before developing or reviewing a licensing policy; efficient 
resources to prevent under-age sales, non compliance with alcohol laws and any other 
alcohol license condition and illegal imports of alcohol; working in partnership with the 
appropriate authorities to identify and take action against premises who consistently sell 
alcohol to people who are under-age, intoxicated or making illegal sales for others, who may 
be under age; test purchases known as ‘mystery shopping’ to ensure premises are 
complying with the law; sanctions fully applied to businesses that break the law, this may 
include fixed penalty and closure notices.

In addition to the focus on alcohol supply in the Alcohol Strategy68,  there is an emphasis 
within the young people’s strand of the drug strategy (2010) on protecting young people by 
preventing or delaying the onset of substance use. The strategy advocates for the provision 
of good quality education and advice to young people and their parents, and for targeted 
support to prevent drug or alcohol misuse and early interventions to avoid any escalation of 
risk and harm when such problems first arise. 

The main prevalence data for trends in alcohol, drug and tobacco use amongst young 
people is the annual schools survey ‘Smoking, drinking and drug use among young people 
in England’69.  In 2014, 38 per cent of 11 to 15 year olds had tried alcohol at least once, the 
lowest proportion since the survey began.  Although the latest report shows declining trends 
in substance use overall, it highlights the increased risk of drug use among pupils who truant 
or who have been excluded from school and whose circumstances or behaviour already 
make them a focus of concern. The same survey also indicates that young people at risk of 
misusing drugs and alcohol are also likely to be smoking and that one of the factors linked to 
increased initiation of smoking is experimentation with drugs and alcohol70.In Lewisham it is 
estimated that we have 2367 children under the age of 15 who have ever drunk alcohol, with 
780 reporting drinking in the last week71. 

There is a concerning picture of alcohol harm among young women, identified in a recent 
needs assessment72.  The difference in the admission rate for males and females in the 
under-18 age band was noted.  Lewisham young women had twice the alcohol specific 

66 Estimating the national and local prevalence of problem drug use in Scotland 2013/14, An Official 
Statistics paper for Scotland, NHS National Services Scotland, 2014
67 www.nice.org.uk/guidance/PH24
68 The Government’s Alcohol Strategy, HMSO, March 2012
69 Smoking, drinking and drug use among young people in England in 2014, Health and Social Care 
Information Centre
70 Public Health England 2014
71  Lewisham Young People’s Substance Misuse Needs Assessment, London Borough of Lewisham, 
March 2014 
72 Lewisham Alcohol Needs Assessment, Public Health, London Borough of Lewisham, 2012

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/PH24


59

admission rate compared with young men, whereas in over 18s it is three times as high for 
men compared with women.  

Patterns of young people’s drug and alcohol use often change, so services need to be 
flexible and respond effectively to changing needs. Cannabis and alcohol are the most 
common substances that young people say they have a problem with when they present to 
specialist substance misuse services. However, organisations working with young people 
should be prepared to deal with all substances, including tobacco and novel psychoactive 
substances. A small minority will present with class A drug problems (such as heroin and 
cocaine)73. 

Whilst not all Young People’s substance misuse is problematic, and not all of those who do 
have problematic use go on to become entrenched addicts, there is clearly a need to provide 
exceptional interventions providing both prevention and specialist treatment to reduce harm 
and to ensure young people who have problematic substance misuse overcome this. 

There are a number of specific issues facing girls; including increased citation of alcohol as a 
problematic substance, involvement in self-harm, being affected by domestic violence, and 
involvement in sexual exploitation.  Services available need to be tailored to the specific 
needs of girls and boys within these services and ensure that young people with multiple 
vulnerabilities or a high risk of substance misuse-related harm get extra support with clear 
referral pathways and joint working protocols74.

Evidence suggests that specialist substance misuse interventions contribute to improved 
health and wellbeing, better educational attendance and achievement, reductions in the 
numbers of young people not in education, employment or training and reduced risk taking 
behaviour, such as offending, smoking and unprotected sex. 

Many young people receiving specialist interventions for substance misuse have a range of 
vulnerabilities. They are more likely to be not in education, employment or training, have 
contracted a sexually transmitted infection, experiencing domestic violence, experiencing 
sexual exploitation, be in contact with the youth justice system, be receiving benefits by the 
time they are 18, and half as likely to be in full-time employment  .Universal and targeted 
services have a role to play in providing substance misuse advice and support at the earliest 
opportunity. Specialist services should be provided to those whose use has escalated and is 
causing them harm. There should be effective pathways between specialist services and 
children’s social care for those young people who are vulnerable and age-appropriate care 
should be available for all young people in specialist services75.

These figures reflect the number of young people in specialist substance misuse services in 
Lewisham during 2011-12, 2012-13 and 2013-14; the number of young adults in young 
people only specialist services; and the number of young people who have received 
specialist treatment within a secure setting. Reporting into National Drug Treatment 
Monitoring System (NDTMS) by the providers of specialist substance misuse interventions in 

73 ibid
74 Public Health England 2014
75 Public Health England 2014



60

the secure estate began in young offender institutions in 2012-13 and was then rolled out to 
secure training centres and secure children’s homes from April 2013. This is therefore the 
first time that data demonstrating demand for specialist treatment across the entire young 
people's secure estate has been made available. 

Table 1: Number of young people in specialist services

2013/14 2012/13 2011/12
Number of young people (aged under 18) in 
specialist services in the community

211 206 220

Number of young adults (aged 18-24) in 'young 
people only' specialist services in the community

63 71 68

Number of young people (aged under 18) in 
specialist services within the secure estate

24 7 0

Table 2: Referral Source to specialist service

Local 
(Count)

Local 
(%)

England 
(%)

Youth justice (incl the Secure Estate) 61 27% 31
Education services 102 46 25
Self, family and friends 6 3 11
Children and family services 34 15 11
Other substance misuse services 4 2 10
Health and Mental Health Services (excl A&E) 9 4 7
A & E 2 1 1
Other 4 2 4
(Source: NDTMS)

Specialist interventions for young people’s substance misuse are effective and provide value 
for money. A Department for Education cost-benefit analysis found that every £1 invested 
saved £1.93 within two years and up to £8.38 in the long term. Specialist services engage 
young people quickly, the majority of whom leave in a planned way and do not return to 
treatment services76. 

Lifeline Project: Children and Young People’s Hub has been commissioned since April 2015.  
It provides the specialist service for young people. The service works towards an early 
intervention model. The Hub runs activities, group work and structured individual support 
within the community and has strong links with the children’s centres.  Parents and pregnant 
woman are soon to have access to services within these settings.

The service aims:
 To maximise the number of young people accessing treatment interventions.
 To increase referrals into substance misuse services from mental health services
 To increase referrals into substance misuse services from Criminal Justice Referral 

routes

76 Public Health England 2014



61

 To increase referrals into substance misuse services from LAC and Leaving Care 
Teams. 

 To ensure that all Looked After Children and Leaving Care Young People are 
screened and referred into treatment as necessary

 To increase referrals into substance misuse services at a point that issues are 
emerging and provide early intervention to address these issues

 To increase referrals from A&E
 To ensure effective joint working and safe clinical practice where YP receive a 

pharmacological intervention/
 To ensure that Young People have access to Education, Training and Employment 

opportunities and are supported to access and gained the maximum benefit from 
them

 To ensure that Young People have access appropriate housing and housing related 
support

 To deliver services which are innovative and engaged Young People. 
 To capture Young People’s imagination, develop enthusiasm and develop skills and 

resilience.
 To engage and involve Young People at all levels of service delivery:
 To engage family members in Young People treatment, to work with whole families 

and to offer support to family members in their own right.

Transition 18-25
The needs of 18-24s are different to those of under-18s, as is the legislative framework. A 
good public health approach should however consider the needs of developing young adults 
up to the age of 24, a period which includes heightened stages of exposure to health and 
wellbeing risks. Clear transitions and joint care plans with adult services will help under 18s 
who require on-going support beyond their 18th birthday77. 

Lifeline young people’s drug and alcohol service supports drug and alcohol users up to the 
age of 25. There is a specialist transition worker and there is an agreement to use a 
common triage assessment with adult services for 18-25 year olds.

Recommendations - Smoking, Drinking and Drugs

 Continue to protect children and young people by reducing the supply of cheap 
tobacco and preventing the illegal sale of cigarettes and alcohol through a sustained 
focus on the enforcement of statutory regulations 

 Continue to use evidence based interventions, such as peer education, in 
schools and other settings to reduce the uptake of smoking  

 Optimise the use of social media, working in partnership with young people, to get 
key messages across to young people about smoking, drinking alcohol and using 
drugs

 Motivate and assist adult smokers to quit through brief interventions by front line staff 
and a specialist service for heavily addicted smokers

77 Public Health England 2014



62

 Continue to promote smoke free homes, cars and other environments to reduce the 
number of adult smokers.  

 Continue to motivate and assist young smokers to quit, although their success rate is 
comparatively low

 Ensure that there is an increase in referrals into the specialist substance misuse 
services for young people when issues are emerging to ensure early intervention

 Engage family members in young people's treatment and to offer support to family 
members and friends

 Continue a focus on addressing binge drinking and high alcohol consumption 
rates in young people, especially young women. 

 Ensure a focus on the data/trends in the emergence of New Psychoactive 
Substance and adapting services to meet need

The Health of Looked After Children

A child or young person is said to be looked after either as a result of becoming subject to a 
Court Order by the court which makes the Local Authority the legal guardian or  if s(he) has 
been accommodated by the Local Authority at the request of parents in which case the 
parents retain parental responsibility.  There are many reasons for a child to become a 



63

Looked After Child.  The most frequent reasons are neglect, abuse or family dysfunction.  A 
much smaller group of children are looked after because they are unaccompanied minors-
coming to the United Kingdom without a legal guardian; commonly this is a minor seeking 
asylum without family.  The third group is children who have been remanded into the care of 
the state by the criminal justice system.  With the criminal age of responsibility set at 10 
years, this group is generally older.

Many Looked After Children are accommodated for a relatively short period but some remain 
looked after until they reach the age of majority.  These care leavers may still remain in 
touch with children’s social services and frequently receive a range of supportive intervention 
to enable them to move to independent living.  LAC are cared for in a range of 
environments.  More than 70% of LAC are cared for in foster placements.  Other 
environments include settings such as residential homes or boarding schools, but also 
supported living environments.  However, other placements including young offenders’ 
institutions also form part of the network.  Some Looked After Children may also be placed 
with their parents, despite being under the legal guardianship of the state as part of the plan 
to restore them to their family.

It is estimated that 80% of children come into care because of abuse, neglect or family
dysfunction. On this background of trauma, the process of transferring into the care system
can add further emotional stress. Children and young people within the system then face a
range of challenges. Geographical relocation poses challenges to continuity of clinical and
social care. Alongside this, the potential to transfer between care settings and foster
placements can create a turbulent and unstable environment. The cornerstones of stability 
for most children extend beyond the family, but for looked after children these pillars can be 
less robust. Geographical relocation can result in changing schools, losing peer groups and 
social networks. The status of being a ‘looked after’ child can also be stigmatising.

Looked after children form a small but highly vulnerable group at risk of physical health
problems. There is evidence that they experience a higher burden of physical disease and 
other problems, but in addition to this, through lifestyle factors, they are also exposed to a 
greater number of risk factors that predispose to poor physical health. However, the precise 
nature of these vulnerabilities is difficult to specify or indeed quantify. Rates of sexually 
transmitted infections and teenage pregnancy are greater in this group of young people, but 
there is also evidence that looked after children have greater rates of admission due to 
asthma and are more likely to have dental caries or a variety of skin diseases.  There is also 
likely to be substantial variation in the physical health of looked after children in different 
parts of the country.

Although small, there is a group of looked after children with severe physical illness, 
including those with profound disabilities including multi-system syndromes. Perhaps due to 
the additional and intensive care needs for these children, families are unable to cope, which 
precipitates the child being taken into care. These profound needs necessitate high 
frequency review and management

It is the mental health of looked after children that poses the greatest challenge.  In 2002, the 
Department of Health ordered a survey of the mental health of looked after children. They 



64

invited 2,500 looked after children (approximately 5.6% of the national population) to 
participate in a survey, with a particular focus on conduct disorder, hyperactivity and 
emotional disorders. The response rate was 78%, and covered 90% of the local authorities 
in England. Among those aged 5-17 years looked after by local authorities, 45% screened 
positive for a mental disorder. 37% had conduct disorder, 12% anxiety or depression, and 
7% had been diagnosed as hyperactive.  Depending on the problem examined, looked after 
children had between twice and seven times the risk of children in the general population of 
experiencing a mental health, conduct or emotional disorder.  

The report found that only 44% of those identified by this survey as having mental health
problems were in contact with child and adolescent mental health services, with a third
accessing special educational needs services. In the same survey, carers were asked about 
the general physical health of the children. Approximately half of children without mental 
health problems were reported to have at least one physical complaint, which increased to 
three quarters in those with reported mental health problems.

In the survey,  a third of looked after children aged between 11 and 17 years  reported that 
they were current smokers. Of those, a tobacco smoking prevalence of 69% was reported by 
those in residential care. A third of those smoking at the time of questionnaire reported 
having started aged 10 years or earlier. Among the participants, 5% of children with a mental 
disorder reported drinking alcohol almost every day compared with none of those without 
mental disorders. This prevalence rose to 6% among those with conduct disorder.
In respect of illicit substance misuse, 20% of 11-17 year olds admitted to having used
cannabis, with half of these reporting use in the previous month. Ecstasy, glue, gas and
solvents were also reported frequently. Again the highest prevalence was among those 
looked after children in residential care, those most recently taken into care, and those with 
mental disorders.

Key Indicators

In recent years, the number of looked after children in Lewisham has remained stable.  At 
any one time, there are about 500 children in this group.  In July 2015, there were 504.  This 
is against a background of increasing numbers of children in Lewisham being the subject of 
child protection plans.  Since 2009 there has been a doubling of the numbers of children in 
this group in Lewisham.  In July 2015, there were 401 Lewisham children who had a child 
protection plan; the majority of these children were the subject of a plan because of neglect 
or emotional abuse, but a small but significant minority had a plan because of physical or 
sexual abuse.

The proportion of those under 18 in Lewisham who are looked after is about 77 in every 
10,000, a rate higher than the national average and our statistical neighbours – London 
boroughs that are comparable to us in other ways.

As has already been discussed, although moves can be positive in the life of a looked after 
child, stability of placements is important to the wellbeing of looked after children and moves 
can often have a negative impact and looked after children themselves see placement 
stability (or lack of it) as one of the most important factors in their lives.  The percentage of 
looked after children in Lewisham who have experienced three or more changes in the 
previous year has decreased significantly in recent years, In July 2015, 9.5% of children in 



65

care locally were in this bracket and though this has risen in recent months, it does compare 
favourably with statistical neighbours (12.5% in April 2015) and the country as a whole (11.0 
% in March 2014).

A detailed assessment of the healthcare needs of Lewisham’s looked after children was 
conducted in 2013.  A copy of this review is available separately, but the following is a 
summary of its findings:

 The health of the parents of looked after children is very poor. High rates of mental 
illness and substance misuse, and high prevalence of co-morbidities among these 
conditions, mean that risk emanating from antenatal exposure to toxins and 
otherwise is high. This ill health in parents is likely to have consequences for the 
health and life prospects of looked after children.

 The burden of physical ill health in looked after children in Lewisham was not large, 
but was greater than would be expected in a cohort of children in Lewisham.  
However, this finding does need to be treated with some caution as numbers were 
small and comparisons difficult.

 The burden of mental health problems appeared as bad, but not worse than in looked 
after children in neighbouring boroughs, and in London and the country as a whole.

 The needs assessment revealed a substantial burden of potential and/or actual 
emotional and behavioural morbidity.

 Lewisham  reported numbers of looked after children who had substance misuse 
problems that were double that of Southwark and Lambeth, but fewer than the 
London average. Small numbers complicate this picture, but given the issues around 
detection of substance misuse, high levels are not necessarily indicative of poor 
processes, instead they may reflect better detection. A clear area for improvement in 
this area at that time was the need to ensure that more of those misusing substances 
needed to receive interventions

 Uptake of immunisation and the dental health of Lewisham’s looked after children 
can be favourably compared to regional and national averages. Performance is, 
however, below target, and there is room for improvement.

Health Services for Looked After Children
Looked after children in Lewisham benefit from a robust set of services informed by joint 
commissioning, thorough high quality healthcare and responsive social care. It is a 
testament to the commitment of all stakeholders involved that high targets appear to be 
catalysing improvement in historically challenging areas of performance. In general, 
Lewisham now demonstrates performance broadly in-line or better-than regional
and national comparators. But there is still room for improvement.  Three of the core 
elements of the service’s performance monitored on a monthly basis are the proportion of 
new LAC receiving an initial health assessment within 28 days of entering care, the 
proportion of children who in the last 12 months have undergone health
review and dental check up.  The designated doctor for looked after children, together with 
colleague paediatricians, registrars and GP trainees undertakes the initial health 
assessments as well as reviewing health assessments in under five-year-olds. The
designated nurse for this group, also with other colleagues including the school nurses and 
health visitors, are able to undertake health reviews.

Lewisham provides a dedicated Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) for



66

looked after children called the Symbol Team. This team accepts referrals from both health
and social care teams.  The mental health of individual looked after children is often 
assessed by health and social care workers over a period of observation after which a 
decision to refer to CAMHS or not is made by the social service team member responsible 
for the child.

Lewisham offers a comprehensive range of services for those leaving care including
preparation prior to leaving, and continuing support via a free-phone telephone number, and 
a weekly drop-in service. Preparation is covered in a collaborative pathway plan prior to
leaving care, which covers a range of important topics including skills, housing, financial
management as well as health and wellbeing.

Over recent years in Lewisham, there has been an increasing focus on the performance of
health assessments of Looked After Children– both initial health assessments and annual 
assessments.  A specific recommendation of the report of an Ofsted inspection in 2012 was 
to improve the processes around the initial health assessment.  Arising from these 
discussions, a number of stakeholders have asked what value the health assessments add, 
and whether the focus is justified. Therefore, the value and effectiveness of health 
assessments were the subject of an  evaluation conducted in 2013.  The conclusion of this 
evaluation was that the current configuration of statutory health assessment in Lewisham is 
robust and valuable for the looked after child who is assessed. The process of assessment 
and review conforms to standards laid down by the British Association for Adoption and 
Fostering (BAAF) and effectively assesses a range of health domains.  A number of actions 
were identified to further improve the robustness of these reviews requiring action from both 
NHS and social care teams.

The Borough has witnessed substantial improvements in meeting targets for statutory health
assessment, but performance is still variable.

Recommendations - Looked After Children

 Lewisham’s Children and Young People’s Strategic Partnership will continue its focus 
on meeting the healthcare needs of this vulnerable group of children and young 
people.

 Statutory Health Assessments are valuable in ensuring the health of individual 
children and the focus on improving coverage and timeliness of these assessments 
is justified and will continue.

 Progress on the 2014 Health Care Needs Assessment, which examined related 
needs of looked after children and young people will now be reviewed.

Mortality and Serious Injury

Lewisham’s children experience greater levels of mortality, at all ages, than children in 
England as a whole.  Local rates are, however, comparable to rates in London as a whole, 
and are lower than some of our statistical neighbours.  Nevertheless, mortality in children is 
seen as a key indicator and a focus for improvement locally.



67

Since April 2008, all Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) have been required to 
review the deaths of all children under 18 who normally reside in their area.  This function is 
discharged by a local Child Death Overview Panel or CDOP.  The CDOP must collect and 
analyse information about each death to identify:

 Any case giving rise to the need for a Serious Case Review (SCR)
 Any matters of concern affecting the safety and welfare of children in the area
 Any wider public health or safety concerns arising from a particular death or from a 

pattern of deaths in that area.

Recently, data on all deaths that occurred between the 1st of April 2008 and the end of 
March 2015 have been reviewed. During that period, the deaths of 222 children were 
reviewed.   All of these children died during this time period, but not all deaths that occurred 
during this period were examined by the end of March 2015 because not all data would have 
been complete.  The numbers of deaths in males (134) greatly exceeded the numbers in 
females (88).  Females have lower mortality than males at all ages.  Despite the fact that 
more boys are born than girls, the number of living males decreases rapidly in childhood.  
Infant and childhood mortality is higher for boys than for girls.  This difference is at its 
greatest at the beginning and end of life.  The majority of children who die in Lewisham die 
around the time of birth, or in the first year of life; this partly explains the locally observed 
excess of deaths in boys. Nevertheless, the difference is large, and cannot be explained fully 
in this way.  Examination of available information so far has not revealed any other 
explanation, but this difference is being investigated further. As already discussed, most 
deaths are in the first month of life, or the first year of life (Fig 1)

Figure 1: Deaths of Children in Lewisham (Apr 2008 to March 2014) by Age and Sex

0

50

100

150

200

250

0-28
days

1-12
months

1-4
years

5-9
years

10-14
years

15-17
years

Totals

Male 

Female

Totals

 
Source: Lewisham CDOP

During the period 2008 - 2015, a total of 65 children of Black\Black British: African ethnicity 
died in Lewisham.  Children of this minority ethnic group experience a significantly greater 
mortality rate than Lewisham’s children in general do.  Mortality in this group too seems to 
be centred on the time around birth and early life, but an even greater proportion of Black 
African children who die in Lewisham die because of prematurity and this seems to explain 
the excess mortality in this group.  Of other causes of death, traumatic deaths (either 
because of a deliberate act or an accident) seemed to figure a little more prominently than in 



68

other groups of children, but the numbers of such deaths were too small to draw any real 
conclusions.  

The leading cause of death in children in Lewisham is events that occur in the period 
immediately after birth (Table 1).  The vast majority of children who die because of such 
events die because they were born prematurely, often very prematurely.  Prematurity also 
underlies some of the deaths that occur in other categories - some of the deaths due to 
infection, and some due to acute medical or surgical events, for example, are also due to 
prematurity - by far the leading cause of death of children in Lewisham.  This has prompted 
a programme of work to prevent prematurity, described in the chapter on outcomes of 
pregnancy.  

Table 1: Causes of Death in Lewisham (reviews completed by March 2015)

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 Totals
1 Deliberately inflicted abuse 
or neglect * 0 * * * 0 0 6

2 Suicide or deliberate self 
harm 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3 Trauma and other external 
factors * * * * * * * 9

4 Malignancy * * * * * * 0 11
5 Acute medical or surgical 
condition * * * 0 0 * * 12

6 Chronic Medical Condition * * * 0 0 0 * 6
7 Chromosomal, genetic or 
congenital anomalies * 8 * * * * 0 28

8 Perinatal/neonatal event 12 22 10 16 19 13 * 96
9 Infection * 0 * 7 * * * 14
10 Sudden Unexpected, 
Unexplained death * * * * * * * 13

Not for Review 1 2
Totals 33 39 25 34 34 27 36 195

Source: Lewisham CDOP

*Numbers between one and five have been removed from this table to avoid deductive disclosure

Chromosomal, genetic or congenital anomalies are the second largest cause of death.  Most 
of these deaths were not preventable, but the parents of children who die for these reasons 
require careful counselling about any future pregnancy, and careful planning of any such 
pregnancy. This work is undertaken by obstetricians, paediatricians and midwives who care 
for the mother and her baby and often requires specialist genetic counselling too. The CDOP 
ensures that such counselling occurs.  

Infection has proved to be an important focus of the work of CDOP.  It is important as a 
cause of death in children, but is also important when it occurs in pregnancy as it may trigger 
premature delivery. CDOP has, therefore, worked together with Lewisham Hospital to 
ensure the best possible management of infection in pregnancy and in childhood.

There is at least one death every year because of Sudden Unexplained Death in Infancy 
(SUDI). In reviewing these deaths CDOP has identified that guidance on the avoidance of 
SUDI is consistently given by midwives and health visitors locally, but problems do persist 
despite this.  Issues which seem important locally are 



69

 Over-heating of babies, where the child is overheated because of too much clothing 
and bedding or sleeping in a room that is too hot.

 Co-sleeping, where one or both parents sleep in the same bed as the infant. 

The risk associated with co-sleeping increases significantly if either parent is a smoker or 
has consumed alcohol or other psychoactive substances before falling asleep with the child. 
National guidance is very clear on co-sleeping - the safest place for a baby to sleep is in a 
cot in the same room as its parents. However, many women find it easier to feed their child 
at night by bringing the child into bed - this practice should not be discouraged as it 
encourages breastfeeding (which is protective against SUDI) and falling asleep with a child 
in bed is, in fact, a lesser risk factor for SUDI, than falling asleep with a child in a chair or 
sofa. Mothers do, however, need to be advised about the need to avoid co-sleeping with 
their child. This is a difficult and subtle task, and as a result, safe sleeping guidance has 
recently been reviewed and is being issued to all health visitors, midwives and children’s 
centres staff in Lewisham.

Sadly, a number of children have died because of deliberate abuse or neglect.  All of these 
deaths have been examined in detail, and discussed with the Serious Case Review Panel, 
who have (where necessary) undertaken a Serious Case Review.  Traumatic deaths have, 
on occasion, been because of the deliberate act of another; these have all been the subject 
of criminal investigation and prosecution. Accidental deaths have occurred, some of which 
have been due to a criminal act (all investigated by the Police and resulting in a 
prosecution), but most have not.  

Drowning has been important in a number of deaths, all but one of which were because of a 
young child being left unattended in water. One death was associated with the use of a 
child’s bath seat, but there have also been reports to the Panel of an incident where a child 
almost died when in a bath seat, and of a death that occurred before the Panel was 
established and that was associated with the use of a bath seat. The manufacturers of these 
seats are quite clear that children should not be left unattended in a bath, but parents have 
not always been conscious of these warnings. Health visitors, midwives, children’s centre 
workers and children’s social care workers in Lewisham have now all been alerted to this 
issue and have been encouraged to give even greater emphasis to advice to parents on the 
dangers of leaving children unattended in or near water. National authorities have also been 
alerted to the problem with the use of bath seats.

Deaths of children with special needs seem to account for a greater proportion of deaths, 
and a small number of themes have recurred in the review of these deaths:

 It would appear that these are more vulnerable in the transition period from 
paediatric to adult services.

 Parents and possibly practitioners may have difficulty in being able to recognise 
serious acute illness in children with very complex needs.  

This last point has also been a feature in the deaths of a small number of  very young babies 
where parents may have been worried about certain signs but did not, perhaps, seek 
medical help as early as they might have done.



70

There were no deaths because of suicide, or deliberate self harm during this period. Sadly, 
however, a Lewisham child has recently died because of suicide; this death is currently 
under review.

A number of other issues have emerged as important through the work of CDOP – the most 
important of these is the need for greater support of bereaved parents.  CDOP has prepared 
and disseminated advice for GPs and Coroner’s officers on how to better support bereaved 
parents.  It is also very encouraging, given the high numbers of deaths that occur because of 
prematurity, that there is now a dedicated midwife at Lewisham Hospital to help provide 
support to parents of children who die shortly after birth.  The voluntary sector too provides 
support to considerable numbers of bereaved parents.  There is still, however, a gap in 
relation to what is available to parents immediately after the death of a child.

The Panel has uncovered some important, positive aspects of local services for children as a 
result of its work. As has already been mentioned, several voluntary organisations provide 
irreplaceable support to children and their parents.  The excellence of local healthcare 
services and end of life services for children are also notable. CDOP has examined mortality 
by hospital and has found no significant differences between local providers or between our 
local rates and the rates for England as a whole. More than this, the Panel is assured, 
through its detailed examination of each death, of the excellence of children’s hospital 
services and community children’s nursing services provided locally. Where areas for 
improvement have been identified by the Panel, local hospitals have been quick to respond 
positively.  Demelza Hospice Care stands out as an excellent service for children who are 
dying, providing care and support to their parents too after their child has died. Many GPs 
and the Mortuary staff at Lewisham Hospital have provided a great deal of support for many 
families.  The mortuary staff, in particular, do everything within their power to make the most 
dreadful experience that a parent can imagine more bearable. Two firms of undertakers 
provide their services free to the parents of children who have died.

Serious Injury
In general rates of accidents and injuries in children in Lewisham are lower than is the case 
for the country as a whole.  Hospital admissions caused by injuries in children up to the age 
of 15 and in young people aged between 15 and 24 are lower than average.

The most recent rates of admission of children because of injury, however, have shown an 
increase, and the nature of injuries causing admission, or attendance at the Accident and 
Emergency Department (A&E) are not well understood (Table 2).  It is also of note that the 
rate of attendance of children under 5 at A&E is significantly higher than the national 
average.  It would appear that many of these children, at least during the winter months, 
attend A&E because of respiratory disease, particularly because of asthma. Nevertheless, 
accidents in Lewisham children should be investigated further.

Table 2: Rate of Hospital Admissions for Injuries in Children by Age Group

Hospital admissions cause by 
unintentional and deliberate injuries in 

children (aged 0-14 years)

Hospital admissions cause by 
unintentional and deliberate injuries in 

children (aged 15-24 years)
2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14



71

Greenwich 71.2 83.7 90.3 97.1 112.6 100.6 85.6 84.6
Lambeth 96.3 107.1 100.3 108.1 132.9 130.9 110.4 118.7
Lewisham 73.1 85.8 101.6 105.2 125.2 123.5 107.8 118.8
Southwark 98.9 113.9 108.6 100.5 123.3 127.4 104.4 106.1
London 89.0 93.3 84.6 86.8 119.4 111.1 100.7 101.5
England 115.2 118.2 103.8 112.2 154.2 144.7 130.7 136.7

Road traffic accidents have been the focus of particular attention in Lewisham.  The 
numbers of children killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents is significantly lower 
than the national average as a result.  This has been achieved by the targeted work of the 
Road Safety and Sustainable Transport team, within Lewisham Council. In recent years, 
children killed or serious injured in road traffic accidents have been the subject of an annual 
report to the LSCB.

 A total of 1,039 casualties in all age groups were recorded on Lewisham’s roads in 2014. 
There were seven fatalities, 56 serious and 976 slight injuries recorded.  Certain road users 
still remain vulnerable locally, and are over-represented in casualty figures.  The most 
vulnerable road users are still cyclists, pedestrians and motorcyclists.  Children aged fifteen 
years and under were found to be highly represented in the pedestrian figures, with those 
aged between 12-15 years deemed most at risk. This is similar to patterns noted throughout 
London, and described nationally.

In 2014 there was a death of a child on Lewisham’s roads.  The child who died was a child 
from abroad, who was in this country for purposes of study.  This highlighted the issue of the 
preparedness of children from other countries in dealing with the challenges of road traffic in 
London.  As there are several organisations in Lewisham that provide services to children 
from abroad, who are often here to study, there is a challenge to ensure that all are providing 
effective road safety awareness to the children receiving their services.

The numbers of injuries in children has been stable, reducing slightly in recent years (Fig. 2).  
This is against a marked fall in the preceding years.  Vulnerable road users are most at risk, 
mainly pedestrians who account for 53 of the total number of casualties under the age of 16. 
All seven of the children who were killed or seriously injured on Lewisham’s roads in 2014 
were pedestrian casualties, five of whom were injured during the morning run to school. Of 
the children who were most seriously injured, one was aged five years, three were aged 
seven years, and the remaining three were aged 13, 14 and 15 years old. All of the police 
reports cite the pedestrian as ‘failing to stop’ or as being ‘careless’, ‘reckless’  or ‘in a hurry’ 
or that they ‘failed to look properly’. This has highlighted a message that needs to be sent to 
parents regarding protecting their children near the road and ensuring that their children are 
aware of road safety issues. It also highlights society’s responsibility to ensure that this 
happens in other ways too.



72

Figure 2. Children (under 16 yrs.) Killed or Seriously Injured on Lewisham's Roads

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
fat
al 0 0 0 0 1

seri
ous 13 9 7 6 6

slig
ht 72 82 63 85 73

Child Road Casualties 2010 - 2014

In its most recent report on this issue, Safe Streets for London, The Road Safety Action Plan 
for London 2012, Transport for London (TfL) promotes an increase in walking and cycling.  
In London, the new target is to achieve a 40% reduction in the numbers killed or seriously 
injured by 2020 from a baseline of the 2005-2009 average. A further report - Safer Streets 
for London - Our six road safety commitments was published in February 2014 by TFL and 
builds on the road safety action plan to ensure we continue to reduce the numbers injured on 
London’s roads. TfL is working with London Boroughs and a number of other stakeholders, 
and providing funding to help achieve this goal.

In November 2010, NICE published Preventing unintentional injuries among children and 
young people aged under 15: road design and modification. Due to a lack of evidence on 
other measures meeting the NICE  inclusion criteria, the guidance only covered 20 mph 
limits, 20 mph zones and engineering measures to reduce speed or makes routes safer. A 
key recommendation from the guidance was that local highway authorities and strategic 
partnerships should take action to introduce measures to reduce speed in streets that are 
primarily residential, or where pedestrian and cyclist movements are high. These measures 
could include speed reduction features (for example, traffic calming measures on single 
streets, or extended 20 mph zones). This is consistent with previous evidence that higher 
speeds reduce the time available for people to react and increase the severity of collisions. 
Studies have shown that pedestrians have a 90% chance of surviving a car crash at speeds 
below 30 kph but a less than 50% chance at speeds of 45 kph. 

An evidence review, Reducing unintentional injuries in childhood, conducted by the National 
Children’s Bureau in 2010 investigated the evidence for effective strategies to prevent 
unintentional injuries in childhood, and found that seatbelts and child safety restraints and 
relevant legislation mandating their use were effective in reducing child injuries. Bicycle 
helmets were also cited as an important measure in reducing injury, with studies from 
outside the UK reporting that legislation mandating the use of helmets led to increases in 
their use (ranging from 43 to 84%) and reduced injuries in children. 



73

A review of evidence for the prevention of Road Traffic Collisions was published by the 
Centre of Public Health (CPH) at the Liverpool John Moores University in September 2010. 
They found that environmental changes such as implementing area-wide traffic calming (e.g. 
speed humps, 20mph zones and speed cameras), marked pathways for cyclists, and school 
crossing patrols were effective in reducing road traffic accidents and associated injuries. 

The introduction of 20mph zones in residential areas or areas frequently used by 
pedestrians and cyclists was recommended in the Department of Transport’s A Safer Way 
consultation document in April 2009. 

One of the objectives of Lewisham’s Local Implementation Plan (LIP) 2011-2031 is to 
‘reduce the number of road traffic collisions and improve safety on the public transport 
network’.  Four of the seven collisions that led to death or serious injury of a child in 
Lewisham took place on the A20, the A2, the A209 (South Circular), or in Lewisham and 
Catford town centres which are on the Transport for London Road Network.

The use of traffic engineering measures as targeted local safety schemes remain an 
important method of reducing collisions. Between 2010 and 2014 the following measures 
have all been used with good effect in Lewisham:

 Installing mini-roundabouts
 Providing traffic refuges
 Providing anti-skid surfaces
 Traffic calming features
 Junction realignment.

Finally, adequate street lighting and regular maintenance of Lewisham’s roads are essential 
for road safety.

Introduction of a borough-wide 20mph limit on all borough roads, as has been proposed by 
the Mayor, should address the road safety inequalities that currently exist, where some 
areas have such a zone and others do not. It will also give drivers a consistent and uniform 
message about the importance of reducing speed in order to reduce serious injury and death 
on the borough’s roads. Introduction of the 20mph borough wide speed limit will be complete 
in 2016, with a period of monitoring post implementation to ensure speeds are being 
adhered to. 

Many specific projects have been undertaken in Lewisham to educate children in road safety 
or to improve the safety of children on the roads. These include:

 Schools Programme
This covers all road safety topics including pedestrian, cycle and in-car safety.  

 Bikeablity
Cycle Training is offered by an in-house team to children currently in Year 5 or 6. To 
improve the numbers of parents taking part in cycling as a leisure activity with their 
children the Lewisham (£10 for 1 month) Cycle Loan scheme has been funded for a 
further year. 



74

 Scooter Training
40 schools benefited from practical scooter training for their year 2 pupils.  

 RATED 
RATED (the Road Safety young driver education programme) is aimed at increasing 
an awareness of road safety and considerate driving in young drivers. A similar 
scheme is available for older drivers.  

 Pilot Bikesafe and Scootersafe Programmes 
Lewisham was chosen to offer Bikesafe and Scootersafe riding skills sessions 
through additional TFL funding.  The riding skills session is run by Metropolitan 
Police Officers specialising in offering advice and support for all riders but in 
particular young moped riders.

 School Travel Plans (STPs)
The aim of STPs is to reduce the number of car journeys to and from schools and to 
increase the number of people choosing healthier, safer and more sustainable active 
travel options such as walking and cycling. This year schools with accredited travel 
plans have increased from 56% in 2011 to 78.5%, a slight decrease on last year’s 
figures.  

 School Crossing Patrols
School Crossing Patrols provide a vital service by escorting children across the road 
at points on their journey where they are often most vulnerable. In Lewisham there 
are currently 29 school crossing patrol sites, of which 28 are staffed. 

 Junior Travel Ambassador (previously known as Junior Road Safety Officer) 
The Junior Travel Ambassador (JTA) scheme aims to encourage peer-to-peer 
engagement and gives schools resources and guidance to promote safer, active and 
independent travel within the school community. The majority of primary schools in 
Lewisham are involved in the Junior Travel Ambassador scheme.  

 Car Seat Checking and Antenatal Advice
For all parents of very young babies and children there is also a road safety car seat 
fitting service  aimed at ensuring children are travelling safely in vehicles, seats are 
checked free of charge on the first Tuesday of every month. The road safety team 
also attend the early pregnancy presentations at Lewisham Hospital once a month to 
promote car seat safety from the very first journey made in a car.

Recommendations - Mortality and Serious Injury

Recommendations on mortality relate to the assessment of the impact of a major new 
programme and the conduct of a review and several investigations.  It is recommended that 
any action required as a result of any of these actions should be taken into account in future 
reviews of the Children and Young People’s Plan.

 Premature delivery is the single most important cause of mortality of children in 
Lewisham. The impact of the recently initiated programme to tackle this issue will be 
closely monitored.

 Excess mortality in boys and in children of Black African origin will be investigated 
further.



75

 Action necessary for the support of parents and families immediately after the death 
of a child so as to ensure the continued wellbeing of children whose siblings die will 
be reviewed.

 The reasons for high levels of attendance of children under 5 at A&E will be 
investigated further.

 The reasons for the recent increase in admissions of children to hospital because of 
injury will be investigated further.

It is evident that much work has been done in Lewisham in the last decade to improve road 
safety and to reduce the number and severity of road traffic injuries. However, it is important 
to maintain and continue to improve the programme of casualty reduction. Continuing action 
on the following are, therefore priorities:

 In order to maintain the observed decrease in numbers of child road casualties, a 
regular review or audit of the use road safety measures in Lewisham in order to 
ensure the needs of children and young people are being met on the roads of 
Lewisham.

 The implementation of the borough wide 20mph speed limit  to further enhance the 
vulnerable road user’s casualty reduction programme.

 Targeted education programmes for children and young people including guidance 
on how to cope with complex situations on the road.

 Education programmes for road users, in particular the drivers who may be at greater 
risk of causing injury to vulnerable road users.



76

Children with Special Educational Needs & Disabilities

A child or young person has special educational needs (SEN) if they have a learning 
difficulty or a disability which calls for special educational provision to be made for them.

Special educational needs can be broadly categorised as:
 learning difficulties (specific, general, severe or profound)
 communication or language difficulties (speech and language, autism)
 behavioural difficulties (emotional, behavioural or social)
 physical and sensory difficulties (hearing, vision, physical, multi-sensory).

A child of compulsory school age or a young person has a learning difficulty or disability if he 
or she:

 has a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority of others of the same 
age, or

 has a disability which prevents or hinders him or her from making use of facilities of a 
kind generally provided for others of the same age in mainstream schools or 
mainstream post-16 institutions.

A child under compulsory school age has SEN if he or she is likely to fall within the definition 
above when they reach compulsory school age, or would do so if special educational 
provision was not made for them78.

Many children and young people who have SEN may have a disability under the 
Equality Act 2010 – that is ‘…a physical or mental impairment which has a long-term and 
substantial adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities’. This 
definition provides a relatively low threshold and includes more children than many 
realise: ‘long-term’ is defined as ‘a year or more’ and ‘substantial’ is defined as ‘more 
than minor or trivial’. This definition includes sensory impairments such as those 
affecting sight or hearing, and long-term health conditions such as asthma, diabetes, 
epilepsy, and cancer. Children and young people with such conditions do not 
necessarily have SEN, but there is a significant overlap between disabled children and 
young people and those with SEN. Where a disabled child or young person requires 
special educational provision they will also be covered by the SEN definition. 

Key Indicators
Children and young people with an identified SEN who have been issued with an Education, 
Health and Care plan, or Statement of Special Educational Needs, currently account for 
2.7% of the school age population in Lewisham (Fig 1). This is comparable to Lewisham’s 
neighbours, and to London and England as a whole.  Of these children, 75% are male and 
around 50% have a diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), which is significantly 
higher than the national average. Of children with special education needs in Lewisham, 
83% have their needs met within Local Authority maintained provision (39% Maintained 
Special school; 35% Maintained Mainstream school; 9% Maintained Resource Base/SEN 
unit).

78 SEN Code of Practice (2015)

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/398815/SEND_Code_of_Practice_January_2015.pdf


77

Figure 1: % of pupils with Statements/Education Health Care Plans

Source: Department of Education 2014

The Children and Families Act 2014 states that, from 1st September 2014, the age range for 
Education, Health and Care plans will be between birth (0) and 25 years of age. This is an 
extension on Statements of Special Educational Needs which were only for children and 
young people of compulsory school age. As a result, there has been a significant increase in 
the SEN cohort of children aged between 0 and 5 years (Fig 1).  Almost 50% of the new 
Education, Health and Care needs assessments undertaken by the SEN team currently 
relate to children in this age group. 

Overall SEN projection calculations suggest Lewisham will see a minimum increase of 7.7% 
in Education, Health and Care plans over the next ten years. The SEN projections also 
suggest that between 60 and 70 children and young people will attend an out of borough 
special school each year based on current trends. On the assumption that special schools 
within Lewisham are, and will continue to be, at full capacity, by 2024 there will be a shortfall 
of approximately 120 places in suitable special schools within London Borough of Lewisham.

Children and young people with an identified SEN who have not been issued with an 
Education, Health and Care plan, or Statement of Special Educational Needs, currently 
account for 16.2% of the school age population. These children and young people have their 
needs met through school SEN support, which is available in all schools to meet SEN need 
under the threshold of Statements and Education, Health and Care plans. Of the 16.2%, 
57% of this cohort are in Primary School and 27% are in Secondary School.



78

Figure 2: Number of Lewisham Pupils with Statements/Education, Health & Care Plans79

Multi-Agency Planning Pathway (MAPP):
MAPP is a care co-ordination service for children with complex health, learning, therapy or 
transition needs. It is a special feature of the services for children with complex needs in 
Lewisham.  MAPP creates a Team Around the Family, through bringing together the family, 
including the child or young person, and relevant professionals at co-ordinated meetings to 
agree a multi-agency action plan of support to meet the needs of the child and family. MAPP 
also provides a care co-ordination service for the Joint Initial Assessment Clinic (JIAC). The 
JIAC provides professionals such as doctors, therapists and nurses, the family and the child 
or young person the opportunity to attend a single appointment to clarify the nature of the 
child or young person’s problems and (if appropriate) agree a diagnosis and a plan of 
support. MAPP also undertakes Education, Health and Care plans for children under five 
years of age.

Table 1: MAPP Service Caseload - January 2015

Total 180
Male/Female % 59:41
% aged 0-5 79
% of caseload with a Statement/EHCP 28
% of caseload known to at least 2 other services 78

79 Lewisham’s Children with Complex Needs Service



79

Short Breaks
The Short Breaks service:

• enables eligible parents/carers with disabled children and young people to have 
a short break from their caring responsibilities;

• ensures that while the parents/carers are receiving a break from their caring 
responsibilities that their disabled child or young person additional needs are 
being met and that they benefiting as much as their parents/ carers from this 
short break.

The Short Breaks service provides two types of short break services; a Targeted Short 
Breaks service and a Specialist Short Breaks service. These services are aimed at families 
with different levels of need.

 Targeted Short Breaks service - are for families with disabled children who  have 
additional needs that prevent them from accessing activities that would enable their 
parents/ carers to take short breaks from their caring responsibilities. 

 Specialist Short Breaks service - are for families with disabled children who need 
more breaks from caring because their child’s additional needs mean that they have 
to spend much more time caring for them than they would if their child was not 
disabled. This service is for families with the highest levels of need and can only be 
assessed through the Disabilities Social Work Service. If assessed through the 
Disabilities Social Work Service, the support packages will then be administered 
through the Short Breaks Service.

Table 2: Short Breaks Usage

Targeted Short Breaks Specialist Short Breaks
All Ages 245 328
0-4 74 12
5-8 82 81
9-12 59 93
13-17 30 142

Portage
Portage is an educational home visiting service for pre-school children with developmental 
needs. The aim of Portage is to support the development of young children’s play, 
communication, relationships and full participation in day to day life at home and within the 
wider community.  Support offered through Portage is based on the principle that parents are 
the key figures in the development of their child and Portage aims to help parents to be 
confident in this role, regardless of their child’s needs. Portage can also support transition for 
a child who is going in to a nursery and support the process for children who need an 
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) to access education. There are approximately 120 
new referrals to the Portage service each year, of which, over 50% are referred because of 
Social Communication issues identified between the age of 2-3 years.

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/children/children-with-disabilities/short-breaks/types-of-short-breaks/pages/targeted-short-breaks.aspx
http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/children/children-with-disabilities/short-breaks/types-of-short-breaks/specialist-short-breaks/pages/default.aspx


80

Disability Register
The Children Act 1989 requires all Social Services Departments keep a register of children 
and young people with disabilities to assist with planning and monitoring of local services.  
The disability register is a voluntary database held on children and young people aged 0- 18 
years who live in the borough of Lewisham. The register helps us build up a picture of the 
number of children and young people with a disability living in Lewisham and their needs 
which in turn helps us to shape and plan together appropriate services and support.
Signing up to the register enables us to target and direct information which is more specific 
and relevant to children and family’s needs and interests.

The register provides an opportunity to directly consult with children, young people and their 
parents and carers about how to improve and develop services, highlight gaps in services 
and work together to develop and improve services and profile relevant national and local 
organisations. Lewisham Council’s Disability Register is currently undergoing 
redevelopment, and will be available by September 2015.  This register will support the 
service to target appropriate information and advice to families with disabled children. 

Recommendations - Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities

The key aim of the service is to improve life outcomes for children with special educational 
needs and disabilities through the implementation of a new Partnership SEND strategy. The 
strategy will build on the work that has been achieved already following the introduction of 
the most significant changes to the Special Educational Needs system in 30 years, which 
came into effect from the 1st September 2014 through the Children and Families Act 2014. 
The strategy will provide direction for the partnership and will set out the aims and  priorities 
for all agencies working with children and young people with SEND across Lewisham. The 
strategy also establishes how partner agencies will continue to work together to improve 
those outcomes that will make significant improvements to the lives and life-chances of our 
children and young people with SEND. 
 
The key objectives of the strategy are:

 Developing inclusive communities and schools that are accepting and welcoming of 
all and will enable children and young people with SEND to play, learn and work. 

 Delivering a significant cultural change through working with children, young people, 
parents and carers by ensuring the views, wishes and feelings of the family, child and 
young person are central to the statutory process 

 The replacement of Statements of Special Educational Needs (SSEN) and Learning 
Difficulty Assessments with Education, Health and Care plans (EHC plans) for 
children and young people 0-25 year 

 Greater multi agency working bringing together education, health and social care 
through a single assessment process for children and young people 0-25 years and 
securing the right support at the right time for children and young people with SEND 
and their families. 

 Giving the option of a personal budget for Children and young people assessed as 
needing an EHC plan or with an EHC plan 

 Empowering families to become independent through the development of the local 
offer that will provides comprehensive, accessible and up to date information in one 



81

single place from education, health and social care for children and young people 
who have SEN or a disability. 

 Ensuring that education, health and social care services support children and young 
people with SEND to prepare for adult life and help them go on to achieve the best 
outcomes in employment, independent living, health and community participation



82

Universal and Targeted Public Health Services for Children and 
Young People

There is a large range of health and social care services for children in Lewisham.  All the 
evidence suggests that these services provide a robust and effective support to children in 
times of ill health or other crisis.  There is always room for improvement, but the partnership 
is confident that each of its members aims to provide the best possible service and is striving 
to make those services even more effective.

It would be impossible to describe and discuss all healthcare services that are relevant, but 
this chapter focuses in particular on public health services for children.  These are services 
that aim to reach all children, or at least be available to all children, in a particular age group, 
and are services where public health objectives – the improvement or protection of health, or 
the prevention of illness or other problems dominate.

Children’s Centres
There is a network of Children’s Centres across Lewisham, all of which are commissioned 
from external providers from the voluntary sector or Lewisham schools. There are three 
overarching outcomes for children and young people that Children’s Centres are expected to 
secure improvements against:

• Improved parenting and attachment
• Improved school readiness
• Prevention of escalation

Children’s Centres aim to deliver support to those families who, with their help, can reduce 
their needs and reliance on targeted and specialist services. Children’s Centres work closely 
with a range of partner agencies, especially from health. The quality of provision is 
supported and monitored by the council and every Centre inspected by Ofsted under the 
new framework has been awarded a ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ judgement.

All Children’s Centres offer a mixture of one-to-one and group support for families. Many of 
the families accessing Children’s Centres face a range of difficulties including poverty, 
worklessness, isolation, domestic violence, mental health and other health issues. Improving 
health outcomes is a key area for Children’s Centres and includes:

 Support for families to access appointments for children’s immunisations 
 Healthy eating and lifestyles
 Access to breastfeeding support
 Distribution of vitamin D
 Parenting skills and promoting attachment 
 Support with accessing mental health services
 Advice on smoke free homes
 Help with visiting a dentist
 Support for those in domestic violence situations
 Improving children’s readiness for school
 Advice on benefits and employment and training 



83

Children’s Centres are aligned with Health Visiting teams and GPs and work closely with 
health visitors and midwives, some of whom are co-located in Children’s Centres. Health 
Visitors register families with Children’s Centres at their new birth visits and are a key 
referring agency to Children’s Centres. Joint-working with health partners is continually being 
strengthened, particularly through increasing the number of activities in the Centres run by 
health colleagues including health visitors’ child health clinics and developmental reviews. 
Children’s Centres have also been part of a pilot with the School-Aged Nursing Service to 
support take-up of MMR2 and Pre-School Booster immunisations which is to be further 
developed in future. Relationships with GPs are also to be increased, particularly as 
Children’s Centres can offer support to families with accessing appointments including those 
for immunisations at their local GP surgery.

Health Visiting
The Health Visiting Service leads on the delivery of the early years elements of the national 
Healthy Child Programme, working across a range of services and organisational 
boundaries, including children’s centres, maternity services and GPs, to improve public 
health outcomes for children aged 0-5. Through home visits and health assessments for 
families from pregnancy under the child is five years old, the service delivers targeted 
interventions to ensure the continued development of the child physically and emotionally. 
Additional support is offered to more vulnerable families, though provision is based on 
overall need to ensure that all children are given the opportunity to be at the utmost level of 
school readiness by age five. 

The Health Visiting programme defines the universal offer as including the following areas: 
 Health & Development reviews (including mental health assessments, 

immunisation, screening and physical examinations)
 Promotion of health and wellbeing (including stop smoking, improved diet, 

increased physical activity, breastfeeding, keeping safe, prevention of sudden 
infant death, maintaining infant health, improved dental health)

 Promotion of sensitive parenting and child development
 Involvement of fathers
 Preparation and support with transition to parenthood and family relationships
 Signposting to information and services

As part of the Government’s vision for ‘improving the health outcomes of our children and 
young people so that they become amongst the best in the world’, responsibility for 
commissioning 0-5 children’s public health services is transferring from NHS England to 
local government on 1 October 2015. For Lewisham, this will mean commissioning the 
Health Visiting Service and FNP. This final transfer joins up the commissioning for children 
under 5 with the commissioning for 5-19 year olds and other public health functions which 
also now sit within the local authority. This move also supports our existing strategy of 
aligning Health Visiting, FNP, Children’s Centres and Maternity Services. This will help to 
ensure that families accessing these services receive seamless support along an integrated 
care pathway.  

Because of local arrangements, and an agreement with NHS England, Lewisham Council 
has already been commissioning these services on behalf of, or with the NHS. This means 



84

that in practice the current transfer of Lead Commissioner responsibility to the local authority 
will not change the day-to-day commissioning or provision of these services in Lewisham, 
although it will mean that the Council has direct control of the funding for the services. 

The Partnership is, therefore, in a strong position for the transfer of the commissioning public 
health services for children under five. This transfer and the development of the Health 
Visiting Service is an invaluable opportunity for Lewisham and should help us in our 
objectives to give children the very best start in life.  Current efforts to achieve full 
recruitment to this service, the full implementation of the agree common outcomes 
framework for children under five, and the achievement of better outcomes for children 
should continue to be major priorities for the Lewisham Children and Young People’s 
Partnership.

Health Visiting Model in Lewisham 
The Lewisham Health Visiting Service works with local children’s centres and midwifery 
services to achieve the best possible outcomes for families in Lewisham, with a focus on 
those identified as having targeted needs. Links between these services are being 
developed further to ensure a fuller Early Years offer. The Health Visiting Service is area-
based geographically, structured in line with local children’s centres and GP practices, 
working together to deliver integrated, evidence-based services for children and families, 
with a focus on prevention, promotion and early intervention. Health Visitors signpost 
families towards children’s centres at the New Birth Review and the services share data with 
one another on children and families to improve their reach and to target their support more 
effectively at those most in need. As leaders of the Healthy Child Programme, Health 
Visitors are vital in identifying needs and working with others to ensure prompt preventative 
care is provided.

Alongside the transfer of the Health Visiting Service from NHS England to the local authority, 
the Government also put in place the ‘Health Visitor Implementation Plan 2011 – 2015: A 
Call to Action’. This requires Health Visiting Services across England to expand, and in 
Lewisham, the target was to reach 72 WTE Health Visitors at ‘Agenda for Change’ pay Band 
6 or Band 7 by April 2015. However, recruitment and retention of Health Visitors has proved 
a challenge across London. As of July 2015, there were 51 WTE Health Visitors within the 
Lewisham service. There is a robust recruitment plan in place to ensure that the service 
reaches the required number of Health Visitors as quickly as possible. 11 new Health 
Visitors are starting in September and October 2015 which will take the total number to 62 
WTE. Further interviews will take place in September 2015 for staff qualifying in January 
2016. It is therefore expected that the service will have reached the target of 72 WTE Health 
Visitors by February 2016.

In addition Lewisham has a well-established, high performing Family Nurse Partnership 
Service (FNP). FNP works with vulnerable first-time teenage mothers from pregnancy until 
their child turns two years old. Located at the intensive care end of the Healthy Child 
Programme, FNP is part of a preventive pathway for the most disadvantaged and vulnerable 
infants and therefore targets key areas of health inequalities such as immunisations, breast 
feeding and teenage pregnancies. The primary purpose is to reduce the impact of multiple 
deprivation and improve short and long term health and well-being outcomes for vulnerable 
young mothers and their babies. Upon graduation, FNP clients are automatically transferred 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-visitor-implementation-plan-2011-to-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-visitor-implementation-plan-2011-to-2015
http://www.nhscareers.nhs.uk/working-in-the-nhs/pay-and-benefits/agenda-for-change-pay-rates/


85

to the Health Visiting Service’s targeted caseload. Lewisham has a well-established FNP 
programme which has run successfully for five years. The service currently has a caseload 
of 67 clients, and has a staffing contingent of 6.4 WTE Family Nurses, 1 WTE Supervisor 
and 1 WTE Administrator. Each WTE Family Nurse has a maximum of 25 families per 
caseload. Upon graduation from the service, clients are automatically transferred to the 
Targeted Health Visiting caseload.

Maternal Early Sustained Childhood Home-visiting Programme (MESCH)
MESCH is a structured programme of sustained nurse home visiting for families at risk of 
poorer maternal and child health and development outcomes. It was developed as an 
effective intervention for vulnerable and at‐risk mothers living in areas of socio‐economic 
disadvantage. Lewisham is the first area in London to be under taking the MESCH 
programme.

School Nursing
In March 2012, the Department of Health launched a major new national strategy for the 
development of school aged nursing services in England and Wales1. 
The national school nursing development programme is a contribution to the government’s 
intention to focus on public health and to improve the life chances of children and young 
people through effective preventative services and the provision of early help. The 
Department of Health has developed the programme in partnership with the Department for 
Education, professional organisations, school nurses and most importantly young people 
themselves.   The vision of this national programme is that delivering public health services 
to children and young people should be led by specialist community public health nurses, 
working in schools and other environments, and  supported by a team with an appropriate 
skill mix to reflect local need. The new service will improve children and young people’s 
health and wellbeing by: 

• Leading, delivering and evaluating universal Public Health programmes for school-aged 
children and young people, both within school and community settings. 

• Taking an evidence based approach to delivering cost effective programmes or 
interventions which contribute to children and young people’s health and wellbeing e.g. 
reductions in childhood obesity and under 18 year old conception rates. 

• Referring and delegating within the team to maximise resources and utilise expertise of 
other skilled professionals. 

• Supporting seamless transition into school, from primary to secondary school and transition 
into adulthood. 

• Leading support for children and young people with complex and/or additional health needs 
including education, training and support for families, carers and school staff.
 
• Identifying children and young people in need of early help and where appropriate 
providing support to improve their life chances and prevent abuse and neglect. This includes 



86

working with children and young people at risk of becoming involved in gangs or youth 
violence.

• Contributing as part of a multi-agency team, to support children, young people and families, 
particularly those with multiple needs.

• Supporting vulnerable children including children in care and support for their carers 
(including young people in contact with Youth Justice system). 

Though the vision is ambitious, unlike the national Health Visitor Expansion Programme, no 
additional funding has been provided nationally for this programme.  The onus is, therefore, 
on local commissioners to ensure funding is available for appropriate development of this 
service at local level.

School Aged Nursing Services in Lewisham
The existing School Aged Nursing Service (SANS) in Lewisham is well-established, fully 
recruited and has a high level of advanced skills; many of the nurses are qualified Public 
Health Practitioners and hold additional qualifications in sexual and reproductive health. 
Since April 2013, funding for SANS, in common with the rest of the country, has been from 
the local Public Health Budget.  In response to the launch of the national programme, 
Lewisham’s Public Health,  Children and Young People’s Commissioning  and School Aged 
Nursing Service  (SANS) worked together to review SANS locally,  looking in particular at 
gaps in provision and how these should be prioritised in terms of which were the most 
important to address first.  The following were the agreed priorities:

1. Developing school based Healthy Child teams
–  A virtual team of all who are supporting the health and well-being of children 

and young people in a school, informed by school health profiles with the 
school nurse co-ordinating their actions in a single plan

2. Developing early intervention support for emotional health and well-being
– Ensuring that all Band 6/7 School Nurses are trained and equipped to identify 

and respond to children and young people’s emotional needs.
3. Support for children and young people with increased vulnerability

– Following up on CYP with short and long term vulnerabilities offering support 
around healthy lifestyle and ensuring access to health checks immunisations 
etc.  This will include children who, for whatever reason, are not in a 
mainstream school.  This group has been identified as being extremely 
vulnerable, and there is little or no provision for some of these groups of 
children.  The need for a service for home schooled children has been 
identified as a major gap by a recent serious case review.

4.  Increasing access to support (in school)
– Increasing the availability of open access drop in within the school day

5. Increasing access to support (out of school)
– Providing “one stop” open access drop–ins based in youth centres and other 

appropriate venues, offer to include Sexual Health service access, Smoking 
Drugs and Alcohol support and Tier 1 mental health support.



87

The development of public health nursing for school aged children is also a major priority 
for the Lewisham Children and Young People’s Partnership.  Our local strategy is in line 
with an important national strategy.  Additional investment in the service has allowed us to 
address the greatest and most pressing needs already identified.  .

Recommendations - Public Health Services for Children and Young People

 Current efforts to achieve full recruitment to the Health Visiting service, the full 
implementation of the agree common outcomes framework for children under five, 
and the achievement of better outcomes for children should continue to be major 
priorities for the Lewisham Children and Young People’s Partnership.

 New ways of addressing all the priorities identified in the review of School Aged 
Nursing in Lewisham now have to be considered as part of the CYPP.

 The even closer integration of Health Visiting, School Nursing and Children’s Centre 
services, and their integration with services such as midwifery, primary health care 
and social care  is now necessary to ensure the maximum impact of all these 
services on the health of children and young people.



88

Culture, Sport, Leisure and Play Activities

Lewisham Music Hub and Service
The Hub is led by Lewisham Music Service, and funded by Arts Council England to enhance 
and support access to music for young people aged 5 to 18 in Lewisham. The Hub has four 
core roles: access for all children to learn a musical instrument, provision of opportunities for 
children to play in ensembles, promotion of progression routes, and developing a singing 
strategy. In addition the Hub provides and supports CPD for staff, delivers live events and 
projects, and provides an instrument loan service. 

The Music Hub has a range of partners, including Goldsmiths, Horniman Museum & 
Gardens, Midi Music Company, London Philharmonic Orchestra (LPO), London Symphony 
Orchestra, Montage Theatre Arts, Squeaky Gate, Street Vibes and Trinity Laban 
Conservatoire of Music & Dance. Collaborative projects, such as Animate Orchestra, offer 
Lewisham young people the chance to perform alongside world class musicians in settings 
such as the Barbican and the South Bank Centre as well as local venues.

The Lewisham Music Service delivers over 400 hours of music tuition every week to children 
and young people in over 70 schools, as well as running a wide range of ensembles and 
choirs across the borough both after school and at its Saturday Music Centre at Prendergast 
Vale School.

Sport and Leisure
Alfred Banya completing

Libraries
Antonio Rizzo from Libraries Services completing



Children and Young People Select Committee

Title Select Committee work programme

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 8

Class Part 1 (Open)  20 October 2015

1. Purpose

To advise Committee members of the work programme for the 2015/16 municipal 
year, and to decide on the agenda items for the next meeting. 

2. Summary

2.1 At the beginning of the new administration, each select committee drew up a draft 
work programme for submission to the Business Panel for consideration.

2.2 The Business Panel considered the proposed work programmes of each of the 
select committees on 28 April 2015 and agreed a co-ordinated overview and 
scrutiny work programme. However, the work programme can be reviewed at each 
Select Committee meeting so that Members are able to include urgent, high priority 
items and remove items that are no longer a priority.

3. Recommendations

3.1 The Committee is asked to:

 note the work plan attached at Appendix B and discuss any issues arising from 
the programme; 

 specify the information and analysis required in the report for each item on the 
agenda for the next meeting, based on desired outcomes, so that officers are 
clear on what they need to provide;

 review all forthcoming key decisions, attached at Appendix C, and consider any 
items for further scrutiny.

4. The work programme

4.1 The work programme for 2015/16 was agreed at the Committee’s meeting on 22 
April 2015.

4.2 The Committee is asked to consider if any urgent issues have arisen that require 
scrutiny and if any existing items are no longer a priority and can be removed from 
the work programme. Before adding additional items, each item should be 
considered against agreed criteria. The flow chart attached at Appendix A may 
help Members decide if proposed additional items should be added to the work 
programme. The Committee’s work programme needs to be achievable in terms of 
the amount of meeting time available. If the committee agrees to add additional 
item(s) because they are urgent and high priority, Members will need to consider 



which medium/low priority item(s) should be removed in order to create sufficient 
capacity for the new item(s). 

5. The next meeting

5.1 The following reports are scheduled for the meeting on 18 November 2015:

Agenda item Review type Link to Corporate Priority Priority

Independent Advice 
and Guidance in 
Schools

In-depth Review Young people’s achievement 
and involvement 

Medium

Employee-led mutual 
for the Youth Service

Performance 
Monitoring

Young people’s achievement 
and involvement and 
Protection of Children

High

Report on diversity of 
Governing Boards

Standard item Young people’s achievement 
and involvement and 
Protection of Children

Medium

Schools admission 
policy and banding

Standard Item Young people’s achievement Medium

Update on secondary 
school improvement 
strategy

Standard item Young people’s achievement 
and involvement and 
Protection of Children

Medium

5.2 The Committee is asked to specify the information and analysis it would like to see 
in the reports for these item, based on the outcomes the committee would like to 
achieve, so that officers are clear on what they need to provide for the next 
meeting.

6. Financial Implications

There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

7. Legal Implications

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year.

8. Equalities Implications

8.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 
Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing 
the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came 
into force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

8.2 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:



 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.

8.3 There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and 
all activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration 
to this.

9. Date of next meeting

9.1 The date of the next meeting is Wednesday 18 November 2015.

Background Documents

Lewisham Council’s Constitution

Centre for Public Scrutiny: the Good Scrutiny Guide



Appendix A



Children and Young People Select Committee 2015/16 Programme of Work

Work Item Type of review Priority
Strategic
Priority

Delivery
deadline 22-Apr 13-May 23-Jun 08-Sep 20-Oct 18-Nov 12-Jan 01-Mar

Lewisham Future Programme Standard item High CP2 & CP7 Savings

Election of the Chair and Vice-Chair Constitutional requirement High Apr-15

Select Committee work programme 2015/16 Constitutional requirement High Apr-15

Children and Young People's Plan Standard item High CP2&CP7 Apr-15

Post 16 education and the progress to employment/university Standard item Medium CP2 May-15

Transition of Children with complex needs/preparing for adulthood Standard item Medium CP2 Oct-15

Leathersellers' Consultation Standard item High CP2 May-15

Update on Young Carers Standard item Medium CP2 & CP7 Jun-15

Sedgehill - Mayoral response Standard item Medium CP2 Jun-15 Response

Introduction to the Young Mayor Advisors Standard item Medium CP2 Jun-15

Employee Led mutual for the Youth Service Policy development High CP2 Nov-15

Service level agreements with schools Performance monitoring High CP2 Oct-15

Lewisham Safeguarding Children's Board Standard item Medium CP7 Sep-15

Key Issues Update Standard item Medium CP2&CP7 Sep-15

Independent Advice & Guidance in School in-depth review Medium CP2&CP7 Mar-15 SCOPE Evidence 1 Evidence 2 Draft Report

Presentation from Steve Besley 14-19 Strategy medium CP2&CP7 Oct-15

Public Health Annual Report - Children Standard item Medium CP2&CP7 Oct-15

Report on the diversity of Governing Boards Performance monitoring High CP2 Nov-15

Young people's mental health review -implementation of any
agreed recs

Standard item Medium CP7 Jan-16 Response Update

School admissions policy and banding Standard item Medium CP2 Nov-15

Update on secondary school improvement strategy Standard item medium CP2&CP7 Nov-15

School's Capacity Planning Standard item High CP2 Jan-16

Child sexual exploitation report Standard item High CP7 Mar-16

Corporate Parenting and LAC update Standard item Medium CP7 Mar-16

Annual Schools Standards Report inc KS4 & KS5 results Standard item High CP2 Mar-16

All Schools results Standard item High CP2 Sep-15

Safeguarding update Standard item High CP7 Mar-16

Childrens Centres savings proposal - implementation monitoring Standard item High CP2 Jan-16

Item completed Meetings
Item on-going 1) Wed 22 April 5) Tue 20 October
Item outstanding 2) Wed 13 May 6) Wed 18 November
Proposed timeframe 3) Tue 23 June 7) Tue 12 January
Item added 4) Tue 8 September 8) Tue 1 March



Shaping Our Future: Lewisham's Sustainable
Community Strategy 2008-2020 Corporate Priorities

Priority  Priority

1 Ambitious and achieving SCS 1 1 Community Leadership CP 1

2 Safer SCS 2 2
Young people's achievement and
involvement CP 2

3 Empowered and responsible SCS 3 3 Clean, green and liveable CP 3

4 Clean, green and liveable SCS 4 4
Safety, security and a visible presence

CP 4

5 Healthy, active and enjoyable SCS 5 5 Strengthening the local economy CP 5

6 Dynamic and prosperous SCS 6 6 Decent homes for all CP 6

7 Protection of children CP 7

8 Caring for adults and older people CP 8

9 Active, healthy citizens CP 9

10
Inspiring efficiency, effectiveness and
equity CP 10



FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS

Forward Plan October 2015 - January 2016

This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months. 

Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent to Kevin Flaherty, the Local Democracy Officer, at the Council 
Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting.

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to:

(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 
decision relates;

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards.



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

August 2015 Audited Statement of accounts 
2014/15

23/09/15
Council

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

June 2015 Blackheath Bye-laws 23/09/15
Council

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm

 

June 2015 Parks Bye-laws 23/09/15
Council

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm

 

August 2015 New Lewisham Local Plan: 
Consultation on Main Issues

23/09/15
Council

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2015 Lewisham Homes Business 
Plan

30/09/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

August 2015 Local Implementation Plan 
Annual Spending Submission

30/09/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources &  



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

June 2015 Revenue Budget Savings 30/09/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2015 Agreement for the allocation of 
the small and faith grants fund 
via a crowd-funding platform

30/09/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community

 

August 2015 Church Grove Self Build 
Housing

30/09/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

June 2015 Dacre South Construction 
Contract Award

30/09/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

June 2015 Longfield Crescent 
Construction Contract Award

30/09/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

June 2015 Woodvale Contract award 30/09/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

June 2015 House on the Hill Contract 
Extension  for action for 
children.

30/09/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

August 2015 House on the Hill - 
establishment of the post 19 
college

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

May 2015 Proposals by Archdiocese of 
Southwark St Winifred Infant 
School, St Winifred Junior 
School and Our Lady & St 
Philip Neri and inclusion in 
Capital Programme

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Frankie Sulke, Executive 
Director for Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

June 2014 Surrey Canal Triangle (New 
Bermondsey) - Compulsory 
Purchase Order Resolution

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

August 2015 Copperas Street Depot  - 
Disposal

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

September 2015 Disposal of Land at corner of 
Deptford Church Street and 
Creekside

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2015 Community Budget: 
Establishment of a joint 
committee between Lambeth, 
Lewisham and Southwark

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2015 Heathside & Lethbridge 
Housing Regeneration Scheme 
update

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

September 2015 Making of instrument of 
Government The Governing 
Body of te Leathersellers 
Federation of Schools

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

August 2015 New Homes Better Places 
Programme Update

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

Cabinet Member Housing

February 2015 Review of Licensing Policy 21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm

 

September 2015 Sheltered Housing Investment 
and Improvement Update

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

August 2015 Lewisham River Corridor 
Improvement Plan 
Supplementary Planning 
Document

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

September 2015 Pilot to run a digital high street 
scheme in collaboration with 
Better Cities

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm

 

June 2015 Award of Homecare Contracts 21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

September 2015 Beckenham Place Park Golf 
Course Contract Extension

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm

 

August 2015 Re-procurement of Sexual 
Health Services (GUM

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People

 

November 2014 Award of Highways Public 
Realm Contract Coulgate 
Street

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

September 2015 House on the Hill Design & 
Build Contract Award for 
action for children.

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

September 2015 Interim arrangements for 
Project Management Support 
to the School Places 
programme

21/10/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

August 2015 Annual Complaints Report 
2014/15

11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Joe Dromey, 
Cabinet Member Policy & 
Performance

 

August 2015 Annual Parking Report 11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm

 

June 2015 Capital and Revenue Budget 
Monitorig

11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2015 Children and Young People 
Plan

11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

August 2015 Discharge into the Private 
Rented Sector

11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

August 2015 Homelessness out of Borough 11/11/15 Kevin Sheehan, 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

allocations process Mayor and Cabinet Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

August 2015 Housing-Led Regeneration 
Opportunities

11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing

 

September 2015 National Non Domestic Rates - 
Discretionary Discount 
Scheme for Businesses 
Accredited to Living Wage

11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

September 2015 Voluntary Sector 
Accomodation Implementation 
Plan Consultation

11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community

 

August 2015 ICT Shared Service Update 11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

September 2015 FM Contract Structure and 
Procurement approach

11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

Cabinet Member 
Resources

September 2015 Compliance Contracts 
Structure and Procurement 
approach

11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

September 2015 Extension of Security (CIS 
Security Limited) & PPM 
(Interserve Facilities 
Management) Contracts

11/11/15
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts)

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2015 Children and Young People 
Plan

25/11/15
Council

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

August 2015 Lewisham River Corridor 
Improvement Plan 
Supplementary Planning 
Document

25/11/15
Council

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

February 2015 Review of Licensing Policy 25/11/15
Council

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

Public Realm

June 2015 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2016-17

09/12/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2015 Parks Events Policy 2016- 2020 09/12/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm

 

June 2015 Revenue Budget Savings 09/12/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2015 Section 75 arrangements for 
Children and Young People

09/12/15
Mayor and Cabinet

Kath Nicholson, Head of 
Law and Councillor Paul 
Maslin, Cabinet Member 
for Children and Young 
People

 

August 2015 Determination of the 
applications to establish a 
neighbourhood forum and to 
designate a neighbourhood 
area for Lee Green

13/01/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

August 2015 Determination of the 
applications to establish a 

13/01/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources &  



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

neighbourhood forum and to 
designate a neighbourhood 
area for Deptford

Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

May 2015 Formal Designation of Crystal 
Palace & Upper Norwood 
Neighbourhood Forum and 
Area

13/01/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor

 

September 2015 Determined School 
Admissions Arrangements for 
2017/18

13/01/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

 

June 2015 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2016-17

20/01/16
Council

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

June 2015 Capital and Revenue Budget 
Monitoring

10/02/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources

 

August 2015 Housing Allocations Policy 17/02/16
Mayor and Cabinet

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 

 



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS

Date included in 
forward plan

Description of matter under 
consideration

Date of Decision
Decision maker

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials

Cabinet Member Housing




	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2015
	2 Declarations of interest
	4 Independent Advice and Guidance (IAG) in schools - scoping paper for in-depth review
	04IAGinschoolsreviewscopingpaperAppendixB201015

	5 SEND Reforms/ Preparing for adulthood
	6 Schools Traded Services (Service Level Agreements)
	7 Public Health Annual Report
	07LewishamAnnualPublicHealthReport20102015

	8 Select Committee work programme
	08WorkProgramme201015appendixB
	08Workporgramme201015AppendixC


